# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

## 17 CFR Parts 275 and 279

[Release No. IA-5950; File No. S7-01-22]

RIN 3235-AM75

Amendments to Form PF To Require Current Reporting and Amend Reporting Requirements for Large Private Equity Advisers and Large Liquidity Fund Advisers

**AGENCY:** Securities and Exchange

Commission.

**ACTION:** Proposed rules.

**SUMMARY:** The Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC" or "Commission") is proposing to amend Form PF, the confidential reporting form for certain SEC-registered investment advisers to private funds to require current reporting upon the occurrence of key events. The proposed amendments also would decrease the reporting threshold for large private equity advisers and require these advisers to provide additional information to the SEC about the private equity funds they advise. Finally, we are proposing to amend requirements concerning how large liquidity advisers report information about the liquidity funds they advise. The proposed amendments are designed to enhance the Financial Stability Oversight Council's ("FSOC") ability to monitor systemic risk as well as bolster

the SEC's regulatory oversight of private fund advisers and investor protection efforts.

**DATES:** Comments should be received on or before March 21, 2022.

**ADDRESSES:** Comments may be submitted by any of the following methods.

#### Electronic Comments

- Use the Commission's internet comment forms (https://www.sec.gov/rules/submitcomments.htm); or
- Send an email to *rule-comments@* sec.gov. Please include File Number S7–01–22 on the subject line.

## Paper Comments

• Send paper comments in triplicate to Secretary, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F Street NE, Washington, DC 20549-1090. All submissions should refer to File Number S7-01-22. This file number should be included on the subject line if email is used. To help us process and review your comments more efficiently, please use only one method. The Commission will post all comments on the Commission's website (https:// www.sec.gov/rules/proposed.shtml). Comments also are available for website viewing and printing in the Commission's Public Reference Room, 100 F Street NE, Washington, DC 20549, on official business days between the hours of 10 a.m. and 3 p.m. Operating conditions may limit access to the

Commission's Public Reference Room. All comments received will be posted without change. Persons submitting comments are cautioned that we do not redact or edit personal identifying information from comment submissions. You should submit only information that you wish to make available publicly.

Studies, memoranda, or other substantive items may be added by the Commission or staff to the comment file during this rulemaking. A notification of the inclusion in the comment file of any such materials will be made available on the Commission's website. To ensure direct electronic receipt of such notifications, sign up through the "Stay Connected" option at www.sec.gov to receive notifications by email.

## FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT:

Alexis Palascak, Lawrence Pace, Samuel K. Thomas, Senior Counsels; Michael C. Neus, Senior Special Counsel; or Melissa Gainor, Assistant Director at (202) 551–6787 or *IArules@sec.gov*, Investment Adviser Regulation Office, Division of Investment Management, Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F Street NE, Washington, DC 20549–8549.

**SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:** The SEC is requesting public comment on the following under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 [15 U.S.C. 80b] ("Advisers Act").1

Commission reference	CFR citation		
Form PF	17 CFR 279.9. 17 CFR 275.204(b)–1.		

## **Table of Contents**

- I. Introduction
- II. Discussion
  - A. Current Reporting for Large Hedge Fund Advisers and Advisers to Private Equity Funds
  - 1. Large Hedge Fund Adviser Current Reporting on Qualifying Hedge Funds
  - 2. Private Fund Adviser Current Reporting on Private Equity Funds
  - 3. Filing Fees and Format for Reporting
  - B. Large Private Equity Adviser Reporting
  - 1. Reduction in Large Private Equity Adviser Reporting Threshold
- <sup>1</sup>15 U.S.C. 80b. Unless otherwise noted, when we refer to the Advisers Act, or any section of the Advisers Act, we are referring to 15 U.S.C. 80b, at which the Advisers Act is codified, and when we refer to rules under the Advisers Act, or any section of these rules, we are referring to title 17, part 275 of the Code of Federal Regulations [17 CFR 275], in which these rules are published.
- <sup>2</sup>Form PF was adopted in 2011 as required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010. Pub. L. 111–203, 124 Stat.

- 2. Large Private Equity Adviser Reporting
- C. Large Liquidity Fund Adviser Reporting
  III. Economic Analysis
  - A. Introduction
  - B. Economic Baseline and Affected Parties
  - 1. Economic Baseline
  - 2. Affected Parties
  - C. Benefits and Costs
  - 1. Benefits
  - 2. Costs
  - D. Effects on Efficiency, Competition, and Capital Formation
  - E. Reasonable Alternatives
  - F. Request for Comment
- 1376 (2010). See Reporting by Investment Advisers to Private Funds and Certain Commodity Pool Operators and Commodity Trading Advisors on Form PF, Advisers Act Release No. 3308 (Oct. 31, 2011), [76 FR 71128 (Nov. 16, 2011)] ("2011 Form PF Adopting Release") at section I. In 2014, the Commission amended Form PF section 3 in connection with certain money market fund reforms. See Money Market Fund Reform; Amendments to Form PF, Advisers Act Release No. 3879 (July 23, 2014), [79 FR 47736] (Aug. 14, 2014)

- IV. Paperwork Reduction Act
  - A. Purpose and Use of the Information Collection
  - B. Confidentiality
  - C. Burden Estimates
  - 1. Proposed Form PF Requirements by Respondent
- 2. Annual Hour Burden Estimates
- 3. Annual Monetized Time Burden Estimates
- 4. Annual External Cost Burden Estimates
- 5. Summary of Estimates and Change in Burden
- D. Request for Comments

("2014 Form PF Amending Release"). Form PF is a joint form between the Commission and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") only with respect to sections 1 and 2 of the Form; sections 3 and 4, which we propose to amend, were adopted only by the Commission. Current Form PF section 5, request for temporary hardship exemption, would become new section 7 and new sections 5 and 6 are proposed only by the Commission.

V. Regulatory Flexibility Act Certification VI. Consideration of Impact on the Economy VII. Statutory Authority

#### I. Introduction

The Commission is proposing to amend Form PF, the form that certain investment advisers registered with the Commission use to report confidential information about the private funds that they advise.2 The proposed amendments are designed to enhance FSOC's monitoring and assessment of systemic risk and to provide additional information for FSOC's use in determining whether and how to deploy its regulatory tools. The proposed amendments also are designed to collect additional data for the Commission's use in its regulatory programs, including examinations, investigations and investor protection efforts relating to private fund advisers.

Form PF provides the Commission and FSOC with important information about the basic operations and strategies of private funds and has helped establish a baseline picture of the private fund industry for use in assessing systemic risk.<sup>3</sup> We now have almost a decade of experience analyzing the information collected on Form PF. In that time, the private fund industry has grown in size and evolved in terms

of business practices, complexity of fund structures, and investment strategies and exposures.<sup>4</sup> Based on this experience and in light of these changes, the Commission and FSOC have identified significant information gaps and situations where more granular and timely information would improve our understanding of the private fund industry and the potential systemic risk within it, and improve our ability to protect investors.<sup>5</sup>

First, we are proposing new current reporting by large hedge fund advisers 6 regarding their qualifying hedge funds 7 and by private equity advisers upon the occurrence of certain key events. Most private fund advisers report general information on Form PF, such as the types of private funds advised (e.g., hedge funds, private equity funds, or liquidity funds), fund size, use of borrowings and derivatives, strategy, and types of investors. Certain larger private fund advisers report more detailed information on the qualifying hedge funds, the liquidity funds and the private equity funds that they advise.8

<sup>4</sup> The value of private fund net assets reported on Form PF has more than doubled, growing from \$5 trillion in 2013 to \$11 trillion by the end of 2020, while the number of private funds reported on the form has increased by nearly 70 percent in that time period. Unless otherwise noted, the private funds statistics used in this Release are from the Private Funds Statistics Fourth Quarter 2020. Any comparisons to earlier periods are from the private funds statistics from that period, all of which are available at https://www.sec.gov/divisions/ investment/private-funds-statistics.shtml. SEC staff began publishing the private fund statistics in 2015, including data from 2013. Therefore, many comparisons in this Release discuss the eight year span from the beginning of 2013 through the end of 2020. Some discussion in this Release compares data from a six year span, from the beginning of 2015 through the end of 2020, because the SEC staff began publishing that particular data in 2016.

<sup>5</sup>We are proposing these amendments, in part, pursuant to our authority under section 204(b) of the Advisers Act, which gives the Commission the authority to establish certain reporting and recordkeeping requirements for advisers to private funds and provides that the records and reports of any private fund to which an investment adviser registered with the Commission provides investment advice are deemed to be the records and reports of the investment adviser.

<sup>6</sup> See infra footnote 8.

<sup>7</sup> A qualifying hedge fund is defined in Form PF as "any hedge fund that has a net asset value (individually or in combination with fund any feeder funds, parallel funds and/or dependent parallel managed accounts) of at least \$500 million as of the last day of any month in the fiscal quarter immediately preceding your most recently completed fiscal quarter."

<sup>8</sup> In particular, three types of "Large Private Fund Advisers" must complete certain additional sections of the current Form PF: (1) Any adviser having at least \$1.5 billion in regulatory assets under management attributable to hedge funds as of the end of any month in the prior fiscal quarter ("large hedge fund advisers"); (2) any adviser managing a liquidity fund and having at least \$1 billion in combined regulatory assets under management attributable to liquidity funds and

In its current form, however, Form PF does not require current reporting of information from advisers whose funds are facing stress that could result in investor harm or potentially create systemic risk. Advisers file Form PF months after their quarter and year ends, depending on their size and the type of funds they advise. This means that during fast moving market events, Form PF data is often stale.<sup>9</sup>

The SEC's experiences with recent market events like the March 2020 COVID-19 turmoil and the January 2021 market volatility in certain stocks, have highlighted the importance of receiving current information from market participants during fast moving market events. 10 We believe current reporting upon the occurrence of certain key events on Form PF would facilitate a regulatory response if appropriate and potentially mitigate the impact on investors and systemic risk. Current reports also would allow the Commission and FSOC to identify patterns among similarly situated funds that could indicate broader systemic implications or investor protection concerns. Therefore, we are proposing to require large hedge fund advisers and private equity advisers to report information within one day upon the occurrence of events that indicate significant stress or otherwise serve as signals of potential systemic risk implications, as well as potential areas for inquiry designed to prevent investor harm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Advisers Act section 202(a)(29) defines the term "private fund" as an issuer that would be an investment company, as defined in section 3 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 ("Investment Company Act"), but for sections 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of that Act. Section 3(c)(1) of the Investment Company Act provides an exclusion from the definition of "investment company" for any issuer whose outstanding securities (other than short-term paper) are beneficially owned by not more than one hundred persons (or, in the case of a qualifying venture capital fund, 250 persons) and which is not making and does not presently propose to make a public offering of its securities. Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act provides an exclusion from the definition of "investment company" for any issuer, the outstanding securities of which are owned exclusively by persons who, at the time of acquisition of such securities, are qualified purchasers, and which is not making and does not at that time propose to make a public offering of such securities. The term "qualified purchaser" is defined in section 2(a)(51) of the Investment Company Act. Since Form PF's adoption Commission staff have used Form PF statistics to inform our regulatory programs and establish census type information regarding the private fund industry. See SEC 2020 Annual Staff Report Relating to the Use of Form PF Data (Nov. 2020), available at https://www.sec.gov/files/2020-pfreport-to-congress.pdf. Staff reports, statistics, and other staff documents (including those cited herein) represent the views of Commission staff and are not a rule, regulation, or statement of the Commission. The Commission has neither approved nor disapproved the content of these documents and, like all staff statements, they have no legal force or effect, do not alter or amend applicable law, and create no new or additional obligations for any person. The Commission has expressed no view regarding the analysis, findings, or conclusions contained therein.

registered money market funds as of the end of any month in the prior fiscal quarter ("large liquidity fund advisers"); and (3) any adviser having at least \$2 billion in regulatory assets under management attributable to private equity funds as of the last day of the adviser's most recently completed fiscal year ("large private equity adviser"). Under the proposal, we would lower the threshold for large private equity advisers to \$1.5 billion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Instruction 9 to Form PF directs large hedge fund advisers file within 60 calendar days of their first, second and third fiscal quarters. Large liquidity fund advisers file within 15 calendar days of their first, second and third fiscal quarters. All other advisers file their annual updates within 120 calendar days after their fiscal year ends.

 $<sup>^{10}\,</sup>See$  SEC Staff Report on U.S. Credit Markets: Interconnectedness and the Effects of the COVID-19 Economic Shock (Oct. 4, 2020) (report of the SEC Division of Economic and Risk Analysis regarding market stress during the COVID-19 shock of March 2020), available at https://www.sec.gov/files/US-Credit-Markets\_COVID-19\_Report.pdf (noting that in March 2020 hedge funds were one of the principal sellers of U.S. Treasury futures with potential implications for the varying stresses in, the cash, futures, and repo markets). See also Staff Report on Equity and Options Market Structure Conditions in Early 2021 (Oct. 14, 2021), available at https://www.sec.gov/files/staff-report-equityoptions-market-struction-conditions-early-2021.pdf (noting significant participation of institutional investors, including hedge funds, in the market for Gamestop Corp shares).

Second, we are proposing to decrease the threshold for reporting as a large private equity adviser 11 and to require additional information from these advisers. The private equity space has grown substantially since Form PF was initially adopted. There were 6,910 funds with \$1.60 trillion in gross assets in first quarter of 2013 and 15,584 funds with \$4.71 trillion in gross assets in the fourth quarter of 2020.12 In addition, given the increased demand for exposure to private equity among institutional investors, private equity advisers have expanded the breadth of their investment strategies and the types of offerings, including a significant increase in private credit strategies, which raises questions regarding lending practices that could raise systemic risk concerns.13

Given the growth in the private equity industry over the past 11 years, coupled with an increase in the number of advisers with aggregate private equity assets under management below \$2 billion, we are proposing to reduce the threshold for reporting as a large private equity adviser from \$2 billion to \$1.5 billion in private equity fund assets under management. 14 Lowering this threshold would enable the Commission and FSOC to receive reporting from a similar proportion of the U.S. private equity industry based on committed capital as we did when Form PF was initially adopted. We believe reducing the threshold in this manner would provide a robust data set to help identify potential investor protection issues and monitor for systemic risk, while also minimizing burdens for smaller advisers.

Additionally, we are proposing to amend section 4 of Form PF to gather more detailed information from large private equity advisers. The information regarding the activities of private equity funds, certain of their portfolio companies and the creditors involved in financing private equity transactions is important to the assessment of systemic risk. We are proposing tailored amendments to section 4 to gather more information from large private equity

advisers regarding fund strategies, use of leverage and portfolio company financings, controlled portfolio companies ("CPCs") and CPC borrowings, fund investments in different levels of a single portfolio company's capital structure, and portfolio company restructurings or recapitalizations. We believe this reporting would provide useful empirical data to FSOC with which it may analyze the extent to which the activities of private equity funds or their advisers pose systemic risk and provide the Commission with targeted information for use in its regulatory program for the protection of investors.

Finally, we are proposing to require large liquidity fund advisers to report substantially the same information that money market funds would report on Form N-MFP, as we propose to amend it.<sup>15</sup> As discussed more fully in our release to amend Form N-MFP, we are proposing amendments to improve money market funds' resiliency and transparency. Together, Form N-MFP and Form PF are designed to provide a complete picture of the short-term financing markets in which money market funds and liquidity funds both invest.<sup>16</sup> The proposed amendments to Form PF are designed to enhance the Commission and FSOC's ability to assess short-term financing markets and facilitate our oversight of those markets and their participants. This, in turn, is designed to enhance investor protection efforts and systemic risk assessment.

We consulted with FSOC to gain input on this proposal, and to help ensure that Form PF continues to provide FSOC with information it can use to assess systemic risk in light of changes in the private fund industry over the past decade, while also serving to enhance the Commission's investor protection efforts going forward.

# II. Discussion

A. Current Reporting for Large Hedge Fund Advisers and Advisers to Private Equity Funds

In order to receive more timely information about certain events that may signal distress at qualifying hedge funds and private equity funds or market instability we are proposing new current reporting section 5 for large hedge fund advisers and new current reporting section 6 for private equity

advisers.<sup>17</sup> Currently, large hedge fund advisers file Form PF quarterly while private equity advisers file annually. This means that during fast moving events that could have systemic risk implications or negatively impact investors, Form PF data is often stale. The proposed current reporting requirements would provide important, current information to the Commission and FSOC to facilitate timely assessment of the causes of the reporting event, the potential impact on investors and the financial system, and any potential regulatory responses. 18 The current reports would also enhance our analysis of other information the Commission already collects across funds and other market participants allowing the Commission and FSOC to identify patterns that may present systemic risk or that could result in investor harm.<sup>19</sup> For example, information regarding a margin default at a large qualifying hedge fund would inform our understanding of data on market trading conditions and other information shared with other market participants, including securities exchanges.

Advisers would file current reports for reporting events within one business day of the occurrence of a reporting event.20 We believe this emphasizes the Commission's and FSOC's need for timely information while allowing advisers one business day to evaluate and obtain the necessary data to confirm the existence of a filing event, and file the current report. For example, if an adviser determined that a reporting event occurred on Monday, they would have to file a current report by the close of business on Tuesday. Advisers should consider filing a current report as soon as possible following such an event. Advisers also would be able to file an amendment to a previously filed current report to correct information

 $<sup>^{11}\,</sup>See\,supra$  footnote 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Division of Investment Management, Private Fund Statistics (Aug. 21, 2021), available at https:// www.sec.gov/divisions/investment/private-fundsstatistics shtml

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See Jessica Hamlin, Private Equity Funds Fuel Growth in Private Credit, Institutional Investor (Nov. 10, 2020), available at https:// www.institutionalinvestor.com/article/ b1vdhdbryr7dkp/Private-Equity-Funds-Fuel-Growth-in-Private-Credit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Calculated based on the amount of private equity fund assets under management as of the last day of the adviser's most recently completed fiscal year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See Money Market Fund Reforms, Investment Company Act Release No. 34441 (Dec. 15, 2021) ("Money Market Fund Proposing Release").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See 2014 Form PF Amending Release, supra footnote 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> We are also proposing, in connection with the proposed addition of new section 5 and section 6 for current reporting, to make conforming changes to rule 204(b)–1 under the Advisers Act to redesignate current section 5, which includes instructions for requesting a temporary hardship exemption, as section 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>We propose to define "reporting event" in the Form PF Glossary to include any event that triggers the requirement to complete and file a current report pursuant to the items in sections 5 and 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> We propose to define "current report" in the Form PF Glossary to include a report provided pursuant to the items in sections 5 and 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>We propose to amend Instructions 1, 3, 9, and 12 of the general instructions to reflect this new obligation for large hedge fund advisers and private equity advisers. Specifically, we propose to amend Instruction 3 to identify the new sections 5 and 6 and Instruction 9 to address the timing of filing the proposed current reports.

that was not accurate at the time of filing.<sup>21</sup>

We request comments on the addition of current reporting to Form PF:

1. Should we amend Form PF to include current reporting in sections 5 and 6 as proposed? If not, what alternatives would provide the Commission with timely information regarding events that could signal distress or financial stability risks or potential investor harm?

2. We have proposed Sections 5 and 6 as separate reporting sections on Form PF. Should we instead require current

reporting as its own form?

- 3. Is the proposed one business day reporting window appropriate for current reports? Should the notification be on the same day as the event? Are there challenges associated with providing these current reports within one business day? Is one business day sufficient time to eliminate or significantly reduce false positive reports? Would advisers need more than one business day to gather and confirm the required information for certain current reports? If so, should we require advisers to file a current report within two business days, three business days or some longer period? Would different time limits for different current reports, tailored to the potential seriousness of the event or the level of burden in collecting the information be more appropriate? Would different time limits for different current reports potentially cause confusion?
- 4. Should we require advisers to file a current report based on a number of calendar days instead of business days?
- 5. Should we define "business day" for sections 5 and 6? If so, how? For example, should we define the term to include any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal or market holiday for purposes of sections 5 and 6?

6. In addition to filing the current report, are there some events for which advisers should be required to notify the Commission via email or a phone call on a more immediate basis on the same day the event occurred?

7. Would proposed section 6 disproportionally impact or create an undue burden for smaller private equity advisers, *i.e.*, those with private equity fund assets under management of between \$150 million and \$1.5 billion?

If so, how should we modify this

reporting requirement?

1. Large Hedge Fund Adviser Current Reporting on Qualifying Hedge Funds

We propose to add a new section 5 to Form PF, which would require large hedge fund advisers to file a current report within one business day of the occurrence of one of several reporting events at a qualifying hedge fund that they advise. As discussed below, the reporting events include extraordinary investment losses, certain margin events, counterparty defaults, material changes in prime broker relationships, changes in unencumbered cash, operations events, and certain events associated with redemptions. We have designed the reporting events to indicate significant stress at a fund that could harm investors or signal risk in the broader financial system. For example, large investment losses or a margin default involving one large highly levered hedge fund may have systemic risk implications. Counterparties could react by increasing margin requirements or limiting borrowing, or investors may withdraw, and these responses could amplify the fund's stress by forcing additional asset sales. Similarly, reports of large investment losses at multiple qualifying hedge funds (even if not the largest or most levered) may indicate market stress that could have systemic effects. Current reports would be especially useful during periods of market volatility and stress, when the Commission and FSOC are actively ascertaining the affected funds, gathering information to assess systemic risk, and determining whether and how to respond in a timely manner.

The proposed reporting events incorporate objective tests to allow advisers to determine whether a report must be filed. We designed and tailored the reporting events to decrease reporting burden and to allow advisers to use frameworks that we understand many large hedge fund advisers already maintain to assess and manage risk actively. A number of the items include quantifiable threshold percentage tests calibrated to trigger reporting for events that we believe are likely indicative of severe stress at a fund or may have broader implications for systemic risk. We considered varying levels of thresholds and believe that the proposed thresholds would trigger reporting for relevant stress events for which we seek timely information while minimizing the potential for false positives and multiple unnecessary current reports. In addition, we considered a number of temporal periods over which to measure certain stress events before arriving at

measurement windows that we believe are appropriate to trigger reporting for precipitous, but sustained stress events. In our experience these time frames, in some instances applied over rolling periods, are calibrated to capture serious stress events and mitigate the potential for reporting for short-lived fund stresses or events caused by relatively routine market volatility.

To supplement the objective triggers, several of the items include check boxes that would provide additional context and obviate the need for advisers to provide narrative responses during periods of stress under time pressure. We designed the checkboxes to incorporate descriptions of circumstances that we believe provide important context to events that would allow the Commission and FSOC to review and analyze the current reports and screen false positives (i.e., incidents that trigger the proposed current reporting requirement but do not actually raise significant risks) during periods in which they may be actively evaluating fast-moving market events.

Proposed section 5 would contain Items A through K. Section 5, Item A would require advisers to identify themselves and the reporting fund, including providing the reporting fund's name, private fund identification number, NFA identification number (if any), and LEI (if any).22 Section 5, Items B through J would set forth the reporting events and the applicable reporting requirements for each event. Section 5, Item K would serve as an optional repository for explanatory notes that the large hedge fund adviser could provide to improve understanding of any information reported in response to the other section 5 items. The following sections discuss each reporting event.

# a. Extraordinary Investment Losses

Proposed current reporting Item B would require large hedge fund advisers, whose advised qualifying hedge funds experience extraordinary losses within a short period of time, to provide a current report describing the losses. Reporting for proposed Item B would be triggered by a loss equal to or greater than 20 percent of a fund's most recent net asset value over a rolling 10 business day period. This reporting event would capture, for example, a situation where the fund's most recent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Current Instruction 16 explains that an adviser is not required to update information that it believes in good faith properly responded to Form PF on the date of filing even if that information is subsequently revised for purposes of the adviser's recordkeeping, risk management or investor reporting (such as estimates that are refined after completion of a subsequent audit).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Section 5, Item A would also require identifying information on the reporting fund's adviser, including the adviser's full legal name, SEC 801-Number, NFA ID Number (if any), large trader ID (if any), and large trader ID suffix (if any), as well as the name and contact information of the authorized representative of the adviser and any related person who is signing the current report.

net asset value is \$1 billion and the fund loses \$20 million per business day for consecutive 10 business days. It would also capture a loss of \$200 million in one business day as the rolling 10 day period is backward looking. We designed the proposed threshold to capture a significant loss at the reporting fund over a relatively short rolling period as well as a precipitous loss without capturing immaterial losses that may not be indicative of stress at the fund.

In our experience, losses of 20 percent or more of a fund's most recent net asset value during this period could indicate significant stress at the fund or the markets in which the fund participates that could raise investor protection and systemic risk concerns warranting prompt reporting. For example, these losses could signal a precipitous liquidation or broader market instability that could lead to secondary effects, including greater margin and collateral requirements, financing costs for the fund, and the potential for large investor redemptions. Notice of large losses could provide notice to the Commission and FSOC of potential fund or market issues in advance of the occurrence of more downstream consequences, such as sharp margin increases, defaults, or fund liquidation. Also, funds in serious stress may be in the process of deleveraging, exiting certain strategies, or liquidating securities in a declining market with implications for both fund investors and systemic risk. Moreover, large, sharp, and sustained losses suffered by one fund within this short period may signal concern for similarly situated funds, allowing the Commission and FSOC to analyze the scale and scope of the event and whether additional funds that may have similar investments, market positions, or financing profiles are at risk.

Under this reporting event, the fund's losses would be compared to its "most recent net asset value," which we propose to define as "as of the data reporting date at the end of the reporting fund's most recent reporting period," which typically would be the most recent update to the fund's routine quarterly or annual Form PF filing.<sup>23</sup> We understand that some funds calculate a daily mark to market value for certain assets in their portfolios and that using a current daily mark to market value for this reporting event may be feasible and provide a more current and accurate picture of a fund's losses. However, given that some funds do not calculate a daily net asset value, we believe that requiring that the losses be based on the

most recent net asset value reported on Form PF would ease burdens for some advisers while still providing the Commission and FSOC with timely information about investment losses that may indicate significant stress at a fund. We acknowledge that this approach could result in a lag between the net asset value date and a calculation date for purposes of this reporting event, during which market movements could significantly affect values. This could potentially result in over-reporting in instances where the fund assets have appreciated substantially in the intervening period since the last reporting date and underreporting when the fund assets have significantly depreciated in value since the last reporting date. However, we propose this approach because we believe the proposed limited reporting requirements discussed below, combined with the option to add explanatory notes to its current report to explain the circumstances of the loss, mitigate these concerns.

Under proposed Item B, an adviser must file the following information: (1) the dates of the 10 business day period over which the loss occurred and (2) the dollar amount of the loss. If the loss were to continue past the initial 10 day period, advisers would not file another current report until the next 10 business day loss period beginning on or after the end date stated in the adviser's initial Item B current report.<sup>24</sup> This proposed information would allow the Commission and FSOC to understand the scale of the loss and its potential effects both to investors in the reporting fund as well as the broader financial markets, particularly if current reports are filed by multiple advisers.

We request comment on the proposed current reporting item for extraordinary investment losses:

8. Would extraordinary losses raise investor protection or systemic risk concerns such that the Commission and FSOC should be notified within one business day? Should the notification be on the same day as the event? Should it be longer? For example, should we require advisers to file a current report within two business days, three business days or some longer period?

9. As currently formulated, is the trigger for reporting extraordinary losses likely to provide us with an early warning of hedge fund or industry stress

and potential systemic risk implications? Would proposed Item B capture extraordinary losses that are not indicative of fund or market stress? Would reporting on Item B be burdensome to operationalize, particularly its use of a measure of the reporting fund's extraordinary losses over a rolling 10 business day period? Are large hedge fund advisers able to apply the extraordinary loss trigger using their existing metrics?

10. Should the scale of losses be compared to the reporting fund's most recent net asset value as proposed? Is this approach a reasonable measure of whether investment losses are "extraordinary" for purposes of the current reporting requirement? Would this approach ease burdens on reporting advisers or do large hedge fund advisers calculate the fund's net asset value on each business day? Do large hedge fund advisers calculate a different fund value that might be used instead of net asset value for measuring extraordinary losses? If so, what other measures would be practicable for reporting these advisers, while also achieving our goal to identify extraordinary investment losses that may have systemic risk implications or result in investor harm? For example, should we require large hedge fund advisers to measure extraordinary losses based on a daily mark to market calculation (estimated or actual) for the portion of a qualifying hedge fund's portfolio invested in marketable securities (a "daily mark to market calculation")? If losses are measured using a daily mark to market calculation for a portfolio of marketable securities, should we limit the application of this reporting event to qualifying hedge funds that hold at least a threshold value of their portfolios in marketable securities, e.g., the lesser of \$150 million or 50 percent of net asset value or another threshold? How would large hedge fund advisers calculate losses for purposes of this reporting event? Does the ability to add explanatory notes in Item K help mitigate concerns of using the most recent net asset value reported on Form

against the fund's most recently reported net asset value an amount that could raise investor protection or systemic risk concerns such that the Commission and FSOC should be notified within one business day? Should the threshold amount be higher (e.g., 50 percent threshold) or lower (e.g., 10 percent threshold)? If this reporting event were to measure losses using a daily mark to market calculation for a portfolio of marketable securities,

<sup>23</sup> See proposed Form PF Glossary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> If the fund experiences a 20 percent loss the adviser would not report a second time until the fund had experienced a second loss of an additional 20 percent of the fund's most recent net asset value over a second rolling 10-day period to begin on or after the end date stated in the adviser's initial Item B current report.

should extraordinary losses instead be measured against a percent of the value of the portfolio's marketable securities?

12. Would the use of rolling periods increase the likelihood that we capture the types of extraordinary losses that could cause investor harm or systemic risk? Is a ten-business day period appropriate? Should it be longer or shorter? Should we use trading days or calendar days instead of business days? If so, how should we define "trading days" and should our definition allow large hedge fund advisers to determine what is a trading day by reference to the exchanges and markets on which the fund's portfolio holdings are trading? Would monitoring losses over the rolling periods be overly burdensome?

13. Should we require funds to file multiple Item B current reports if they suffer 20 percent losses over multiple 10 business day periods during a quarterly update period? Is it likely that funds would report losses of this type multiple times a quarter? Would additional reports be duplicative? Alternatively, should we require advisers to file only one Item B current report per quarterly period?

14. Should we require a reporting event that measures investment losses over a period (e.g., a 10-day or 20-day rolling period) against the volatility of the fund's returns? We understand that losses that are large compared to a hedge fund's historic volatility of returns may signal significant stress. Could this type of reporting event be a useful signal of extraordinary losses that may have systemic risk implications? If so, how should we require hedge funds to measure volatility of returns? Should we require funds to calculate the monthly volatility of a daily mark to market calculation for this purpose? Would doing so be burdensome to operationalize? Should we limit the application of a reporting event that measures investment losses against volatility of returns to qualifying hedge funds that hold at least a threshold value of their portfolios in marketable securities, e.g., the lesser of \$150 million or 50 percent of net asset value, or another threshold?

15. Are there other reporting events that would be indicative of the types of extraordinary losses that could cause investor harm or systemic risk that we should include in addition to or instead of the proposed Item B current report?

16. Should we require additional or different information in response to this item? In other current reporting items outlined below, we provide checkboxes for advisers to provide additional context to the reporting event. Should we provide checkboxes for advisers to

describe the circumstances of the loss, or are the reasons for an extraordinary loss so variable as to avoid easy categorization? If we were to provide checkboxes what should they be?

b. Significant Margin and Default Events

Proposed Section 5 Items C through E would require current reporting of significant margin and default events that occur at qualifying hedge funds advised by large hedge fund advisers or at their counterparties. In our experience, significant increases in margin, inability to meet a margin call, margin default, and default of a counterparty are strong indicators of fund and potential market stress. Each of the triggers and underlying thresholds is calibrated to identify stress at a fund that may signal the potential for precipitous liquidations or broader market instability that may affect similarly situated funds, or markets in which the fund invests.

Proposed current reporting Item C would require advisers to report significant increases in the reporting fund's requirements for margin, collateral, or an equivalent (collectively referred to as "margin").25 If the reporting fund has experienced a cumulative increase in margin of more than 20 percent of the reporting fund's most recent net asset value over a rolling 10 business day period, Item C would require the adviser to file certain information within one business day.26 We believe that a 20 percent increase to a fund's margin requirements over a 10 business day period is large enough and precipitous enough to signal potential significant stress at the fund, at its counterparties, or in the broader market while limiting the potential for reporting in the case of routine margin increases. Sudden and significant margin increases can have critical effects on funds that may be operating with large amounts of leverage and could serve as precursors to defaults at fund counterparties and eventual liquidation. Large, sustained margin increases also may effectively signal that counterparties are concerned about a

fund's portfolio positions and may signal the potential for future margin increases from the fund's other counterparties. A large margin increase of this type may also serve as a potential early indicator for broader market stress for similarly situated funds that may help inform the Commission or FSOC of potential implications for investor harm or systemic risk and allow them to respond quickly to developing market events.

The adviser would report (a) the dates of the 10 business day period over which the increase occurred; (b) the cumulative dollar amount of the increase; and (c) the identity of the counterparty or counterparties requiring the increase(s). If the increases in margin were to continue past the initial 10 day period, advisers would not file another current report until on or after the next 10 business day period beginning on or after the end date stated in the adviser's initial Item C current report.<sup>27</sup> In circumstances where multiple counterparties are involved, advisers would list the all the counterparties who increased margin requirements. In addition, the adviser would use check boxes to describe the circumstances of the margin increase.28 These include: (1) Exchange requirements or known regulatory action affecting one or more counterparties; (2) one or more counterparties independently increasing the reporting fund's margin requirements; (3) the reporting fund establishing a new relationship or new business with one or more counterparties; (4) new investment positions, investment approach or strategy and/or portfolio turnover of the reporting fund; (5) a deteriorating position or positions in the reporting fund's portfolio or other credit trigger under applicable counterparty agreements; and/or (6) a reason "other" than those outlined. We believe that this proposed information would provide useful context regarding the margin increase and allow for an assessment of the scale of the potential issue and related risks. We believe this information would both better enable the Commission and FSOC to screen false positives for margin increases (i.e., incidents that trigger the proposed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> An equivalent is any other type of payment or value understood to serve the same purposes as margin or collateral.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>As noted above, measures derived from "most recent net asset value" are backward-looking to the most recently filed routine quarterly or annual filing and could result in a lag between the net asset value date and a calculation date for purposes of this reporting event, during which market movements could significantly affect values. This could result in over-reporting and under-reporting, but we believe that this approach would simplify monitoring and reporting by advisers. In addition, the option for an adviser to add explanatory notes to its current report to explain the circumstances of the loss mitigate these concerns.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> If the fund experiences a 20 percent increase to a fund's margin requirements that continues past the initial 10 day period, the adviser would not report a second time until the fund had experienced a second margin increase of an additional 20 percent of the fund's most recent net asset value over a second rolling 10 day period beginning at or after the end date stated in the adviser's initial Item C current report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Proposed Form PF section 5, Item C, Question

current reporting requirement but do not actually raise significant risks) and assess significant margin events.

Proposed current reporting Item D would require advisers to report a fund's margin default or inability to meet a call for margin, collateral, or an equivalent (taking into account any contractually agreed cure period).<sup>29</sup> We believe a current report is necessary to capture these events because funds that are in margin default or that are unable to meet a call for margin are at risk of potentially triggering the liquidation of their positions at their counterparties. This presents serious risks to the fund's investors, its counterparties, and potentially the broader financial system. The proposed amendments would require advisers to file a current report in these circumstances, including in situations where there is a dispute with regard to the margin call to avoid delays in reporting. However, advisers would not be required to file a current report in situations where there is a dispute in the amount and appropriateness of a margin call, provided the reporting fund has sufficient assets to meet the greatest of the disputed amount. We believe that according this flexibility allows funds and advisers that are capable of meeting a margin call time to respond to and resolve a margin dispute with their counterparties.

Under the proposal, the adviser would report for each separate counterparty for which this occurred: (a) The date the adviser determines or is notified that a reporting fund is in margin default or will be unable to meet a margin call with respect to a counterparty; (b) the dollar amount of the margin, collateral or equivalent involved; and (c) the legal name and LEI (if any) of the counterparty. In addition, the adviser would check any applicable check boxes that would describe the adviser's current understanding of the circumstances of the adviser's default or its determination that the fund will be unable to meet a call for increased margin.30 These include: (1) An increase in margin requirements by the counterparty; (2) losses in the value of the reporting fund's portfolio or other credit trigger under the applicable counterparty agreement; (3) a default or settlement failure of a counterparty; or (4) a reason "other" than those outlined. We believe that these check boxes

would enable the Commission's staff and FSOC to identify and evaluate the circumstances underlying the inability to meet a call for margin and formulate any necessary response in a timely manner. If the fund was unable to meet margin or defaulted with multiple counterparties on the same day, the adviser would file one current report on Item D broken out with details for each counterparty.

Proposed current reporting Item E, "Counterparty Default," would require an adviser to report a margin default by a counterparty. Defaults by counterparties can have serious implications for the funds with which they transact, the fund's investors, and the broader market. A current report of a counterparty default would help the Commission and FSOC identify funds or market participants that may be affected by a counterparty's default and analyze whether there are broader implications for systemic risk. A current report would be triggered if a counterparty to the reporting fund (1) does not meet a call for margin or has failed to make any other payment, in the time and form contractually required (taking into account any contractually agreed cure period); and (2) the amount involved is greater than 5 percent of the most recent net asset value of the reporting fund.31 While we are not proposing a minimum threshold for reporting on a qualifying hedge fund's margin default given the potential implications of such a default, we believe it is appropriate to set a threshold for counterparty defaults that could affect a sizeable percentage of the fund's net asset value. We believe that 5 percent of the most recent net asset value of the reporting fund is an appropriate threshold in this regard because counterparty defaults of this size could have systemic waterfall effects, triggering forced-selling by the fund and raising potential risks for other hedge funds that may transact with the same counterparty.<sup>32</sup> Moreover, the 5

percent threshold is a figure we have used in Form PF to measure and collect information regarding sizable exposures to creditors or counterparties.<sup>33</sup> In addition, we believe setting the threshold for counterparty defaults at 5 percent of the most recent net asset value would limit the reports for *de minimis* or superficial defaults that may be the result of a short-lived operational error.

Item E would require the adviser to report: (a) The date of the default; (b) the dollar amount of the default; and (c) the legal name and LEI (if any) of the counterparty. In the event that multiple counterparties to the fund default on the same day, Item E would allow an adviser to file a single current report broken out with details for each counterparty default. In the event that counterparties to the fund default on different days, the adviser would file a separate Item E current report for each counterparty default that occurred. We did not provide checkboxes for Item E because we believe that advisers to the funds are unlikely to have complete information regarding their counterparty's default and the responses would likely be speculative.

We request comment on the proposed current reports for margin and default events:

17. As currently formulated, is the trigger for reporting margin increases likely to provide an indicator of hedge fund or industry stress and systemic risk? Would proposed Item C capture margin increases that are not indicative of fund or market stress? Would reporting on Item C be burdensome to operationalize, particularly its use of a measure of the reporting fund's increase in margin over a rolling 10 business day period? Should we ask advisers to report the dollar value of margin, collateral or an equivalent on the first and last day of the 10 day period in Item C? Would this information be more or less burdensome than reporting the amount of increase as currently proposed?

18. Should the margin increase be compared to the reporting fund's most recent net asset value as proposed? Or, as with extraordinary losses, are there other measurements, such as a daily mark to market value, we could use to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> In situations where there is a contractually agreed upon cure period an adviser would not be required to file an Item D current report until the expiration of the cure period, unless the fund would not expect to be able to meet the margin call during such cure period.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Proposed Form PF section 5, Item D, Question

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> As noted above, measures derived from "most recent net asset value" are backward-looking to the most recently filed routine quarterly, or annual filing and could result in a lag between the net asset value date and a calculation date for purposes of this reporting event, during which market movements could significantly affect values. This could result in over-reporting and under-reporting, but we believe that this approach would simplify monitoring and reporting by advisers. In addition, the option to add explanatory notes to its current report to explain the circumstances of the loss mitigate these concerns.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See Financial Stability Oversight Council, "Update on Review of Asset Management Products and Activities," p. 15–18, April 2016, available at https://www.treasury.gov/initiatives/fsoc/news/ Documents/FSOC%20Update%20on%20 Review%20of%20Asset%2 0Management%20Products%20and

<sup>%20</sup>Activities.pdf (noting that large highly interconnected counterparties play a role in whether hedge fund activities have financial stability implications).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See current question 47 of Form PF: Identify each creditor, if any, to which the reporting fund owed an amount in respect of borrowings equal to or greater than 5 percent of the reporting fund's net asset value as of the data reporting date. For each such creditor, provide the amount owed to that creditor.

identify the types of margin increases that could cause investor harm or systemic risk?

19. Should we tie reporting on margin increases to an amount reported on Form PF as of the end of the last reporting period (e.g., total margin, collateral or other equivalent reported in Q43(a) and (b))?

20. Is a 20 percent margin increase measured against the fund's most recently reported net asset value an amount that could raise investor protection or systemic risk concerns such that the Commission and FSOC should be notified within one business day? Should the threshold amount be higher (e.g., 50 percent threshold) or lower (e.g., 10 percent threshold)?

21. Do the proposed check boxes provide proper context to events captured by Item C? Should we remove any of the check boxes, or add additional check boxes to improve our understanding of potential responses to Item C? For example, should we also add a check box for an operational issue (including the potential failure of a service provider) that could lead to an inability to meet a margin call?

22. Should we ask advisers to identify the amount of margin increase for each counterparty in Item C? Would reporting of this dollar amount better inform our understanding of fund stress? Would determining and reporting this figure be burdensome to advisers? Would knowing the amount of margin increase provide appreciable insight into risks to the fund's

counterparties?

23. In circumstances where multiple counterparties are involved in the margin increase, should advisers list the top three (or different number of) counterparties, based on the dollar amount of the cumulative increase required by each counterparty instead of all the counterparties that increased margin as we propose? Would listing all the counterparties that may have raised margin in such an event be burdensome?

24. We understand that increases in margin may be subject to extensive negotiation and/or dispute among counterparties so it may be difficult for the adviser to determine the point at which the fund is unable to meet a margin call and required to file in accordance with Item D. Does Item D as currently written provide sufficiently objective criteria for when advisers must file a current report? Are there more objective criteria that we could provide that would be equally useful?

25. Item D would be triggered if the adviser determines that the reporting fund is in default or will be unable to

meet a call for increased margin, collateral, or an equivalent, including in situations where there is a dispute with regard to the margin call. Is that appropriate or should we include a carve-out or checkbox for situations where the margin call, collateral, or equivalent is in dispute? Should Item D be triggered without taking into account any contractually agreed cure period to provide more timely information regarding potential systemic risk or would this approach create too many false positives?

26. Is notice of default an easily ascertainable event for advisers to identify or are there nuances to default provisions or certain industry practices that may make this reporting event difficult to implement in practice?

27. Do the proposed check boxes provide proper context to events captured by Item D? Should we remove any of the check boxes, or add additional check boxes to improve our understanding of potential responses to Item D?

28. Items C and D involve events that could be triggered by a fund experiencing stress with the potential to be triggered at the same time or in rapid succession. Are there concerns about the timing of filing reports for these related items? We believe Item C could serve as indicator of the potential for events outlined in Item D. Are we correct in this belief? Should we ask these related questions in a different way so as to receive notice of a potential upcoming default? Would a default event be likely to trigger both of these current reports, and if so, would it be burdensome to file current reports for each of these items in such a situation?

29. Are the triggers for reporting on Item E, including the 5 percent net asset value threshold, indicative of potential systemic risk or investor protection concerns? Should that threshold be higher or lower? Would a threshold for reporting on an adviser's default in Item D be appropriate? If so, should that threshold also be 5 percent of the reporting fund's net asset value? Or should that threshold be higher or

30. We did not provide checkboxes for Item E because we believe that advisers to the funds are unlikely to have complete information regarding their counterparty's default and the responses would likely be speculative. Are we correct in this belief? If not, what checkboxes should we include to improve our understanding of potential responses to Item E?

31. For each of the current reports in Items in C, D, and E, should we request the principal place of business address

and the country where we request to identify the counterparty? Or, should the legal name and LEI be sufficient to identify counterparties?

c. Material Change in Relationship With Prime Broker

Proposed section 5, Item F would require the adviser to report a material change in the relationship between the reporting fund and a prime broker. We believe that material changes in a reporting fund's prime brokerage relationships may signal that the fund or the brokers with whom the fund transacts are experiencing stress and may be subject to an increased risk of default or in the case of the reporting fund, potential liquidation. Such events would include material changes to the fund's ability to trade or an outright termination of the prime brokerage relationship for default or breach of the prime brokerage agreement. A prime broker that is no longer willing to provide services to a fund client may be apprehensive of a fund's investment positions or trading practices and may consider the fund to be an unacceptable risk as a counterparty. Therefore, material changes to such relationships may indicate potential stress at the fund that may have implications for investor harm and broader systemic risk concerns.

Proposed Item F would require the adviser to provide the date of the material change and the legal name and LEI (if any) of the prime broker involved. An adviser also would check any applicable boxes that describe the circumstances relating to the material change, including whether the change involved: (1) Material trading limits or investment restrictions on the reporting fund, including requests to reduce positions, or unwind positions completely; and (2) whether the prime brokerage relationship was terminated and by which party.34 We request comment on the proposed current report in section 5, Item F:

32. Are material changes to a prime brokerage relationship indicative of fund stress or potential systemic risk? Are the circumstances described in the checkboxes sufficient to provide us with detail on the change in the relationship? Should we add an "other" check box? Should we add or delete check boxes? Should we request the principal place of business address of the prime broker? Or, should the legal name and LEI be sufficient to identify the prime broker?

33. We would require reporting of only material changes in a reporting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Proposed Form PF section 5, Item F, Question

fund's relationship with a prime broker. Will it be challenging to determine whether a change is material? Should we provide additional guidance? Should we require funds that add a new prime broker to report the new relationship, or is the addition of a new prime broker not useful from a risk evaluation perspective? Should we require that all changes in a reporting fund's relationship with a prime broker reported?

34. We understand that many large funds have prime brokerage agreements that include termination events that have net asset value triggers. Are we correct in this understanding? Should we tie current reporting in proposed Item F to the net asset value trigger provision in a fund's prime brokerage agreement? If so, how? Should we provide a checkbox asking whether a net asset value trigger has been breached?

35. Should we expand the proposed Item F reporting event to include broker-dealer counterparties and not just prime brokers? Would this provide us with a more complete picture of the fund's relationship with broker-dealer counterparties? Would such a current report be burdensome to track across multiple counterparties?

# d. Changes in Unencumbered Cash

Proposed section 5, Item G would require the adviser to report a significant decline in holdings of unencumbered cash. A current report for changes in unencumbered cash would be triggered if the value of the reporting fund's unencumbered cash declines by more than 20 percent of the reporting fund's most recent net asset value over a rolling 10 business day period.35 In order to report significant changes in unencumbered cash, advisers would need to calculate a daily unencumbered cash figure using the same methodology they use to calculate question 33 on the current Form PF.36 We believe that a precipitous decline in unencumbered cash within a short time window may indicate potential stress on the fund and its ability to access cash

affecting the fund's financing and its relationships with counterparties, which may raise concerns of investor harm and systemic risk. In our experience, funds and fund counterparties use unencumbered cash figures as an indicator of a fund's overall health as it has implications, among other things, for the fund's ability to allocate investments, satisfy redemptions, and meet margin calls.

If this trigger is met, the adviser would report the last day of the rolling 10 business day period during which the unencumbered cash declined and the dollar amount of the unencumbered cash on the last day of the period. If the decrease in unencumbered cash were to continue past the initial 10 day period, advisers would not file another current report until the next 10 business day period beginning on or after the end date stated in the adviser's initial Item G report.37 Item G would also include explanatory checkboxes for the adviser to provide additional information concerning its current understanding of the facts and circumstances around the change in unencumbered cash. These checkboxes include whether (1) the change is attributable to redemption activity for the fund; (2) the change is attributable to new investment positions, strategy and/or portfolio turnover; (3) the change is a related to losses in the value of the fund's portfolio; (4) the change is related to a margin call; or (5) the change was caused by a reason "other" than those outlined.38 These checkboxes would provide relevant information regarding the changes in the fund's unencumbered cash allowing Commission and FSOC to begin to evaluate the event.

We request comment on the proposed current report in section 5, Item G:

36. Is a current report for a decline in unencumbered cash likely to capture changes in unencumbered cash that are indicative of fund or market stress? Is the trigger, including the daily calculation of unencumbered cash, burdensome to operationalize? Is it common for advisers to track an unencumbered cash figure on a daily basis?

37. Should we require reporting when the value of the reporting fund's unencumbered cash declines by more than 20 percent of the fund's most recent net asset value over a rolling 10 day business period as proposed? Is 20 percent too high or too low? Is a rolling 10 business day period appropriate or should we change the length of the period? As with other reporting events that use the reporting fund's most recent net asset value, are there other metrics we should use for purposes of a reporting trigger for a decline in unencumbered cash?

38. Do the proposed check boxes provide proper context to events captured by Item G? Should we remove any of the check boxes, or add additional check boxes to improve our understanding of potential responses to Item G? Why or why not?

39. Are there other similar types of triggers that may signal stress that could be incorporated into Item G? For example, should we include a significant increase or decrease in borrowing by the reporting fund as a reporting event? For this purpose, would a 20 percent increase or decrease in borrowing measured against the most recently reported net asset value be an appropriate measure? What other approach could we use to identify a change in the amount of borrowing that might signal potential stress occurring at a fund?

# e. Operations Events

Proposed section 5, Item H would require the adviser to report when the adviser or reporting fund experiences a "significant disruption or degradation" of the reporting fund's "key operations," whether as a result of an event at the reporting fund, the adviser, or other service provider to the reporting fund. Key operations means, for this purpose, operations necessary for (1) the investment, trading, valuation, reporting, and risk management of the reporting fund; as well as (2) the operation of the reporting fund in accordance with the Federal securities laws and regulations.39 When evaluating a reporting fund's key operations that are reasonably measurable, a "significant disruption or degradation" means a 20 percent disruption or degradation of normal volume or capacity. For example, Item H would require reporting of cybersecurity event that disrupted the trading volume of a reporting fund by 20 percent of its normal capacity. It also would require reporting in cases where an adviser's ability to value the fund's assets is significantly disrupted or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> As noted above, measures derived from "most recent net asset value" are backward-looking to the most recently filed routine Form PF quarterly or annual filing and could result in a lag between the net asset value date and a calculation date for purposes of this reporting event, during which market movements could significantly affect values. This could result in over-reporting or underreporting, but we believe that this approach would simplify monitoring and reporting by advisers. In addition, the option for an adviser to add explanatory notes to its current report to explain the circumstances of the loss mitigate these concerns.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> See question 33 of current Form PF requiring the value of the reporting fund's unencumbered cash.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> If the fund experiences a 20 percent decline in unencumbered cash that continues past the initial 10-day period, the adviser would not report a second time until the fund had experienced a second decline in unencumbered cash of an additional 20 percent of the fund's most recent net asset value over a second rolling 10-day period beginning at or after the end date stated in the adviser's initial Item G current report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Proposed Form PF section 5, Item G, Question

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> See Form PF Glossary (proposed definitions of "significant disruption and degradation" and "key operations").

degraded, for example, in connection with operational issues at a service provider. As another example, events such as a severe weather event causing wide-spread power outages that significantly disrupt or degrade key operations also would require reporting. We understand that many large hedge fund advisers have sophisticated back office operations or already engage service providers that would be reasonably able to measure whether an event has impaired their key operation beyond a 20 percent threshold. We believe that an operations event involving a qualifying hedge fund could have systemic risk implications if the fund is not able to trade as a result of such an event.40 In addition, notice of operations events from multiple advisers could provide an early indicator of market-wide operations events to both the Commission and FSOC. Such events could include a service provider outage that may affect the ability of multiple funds to trade, leading to negative implications for those funds' investors and broader systemic risks.

Item H would require the date of the operations event (or an estimate of when it occurred), and the date the operations event was discovered. Proposed Item H would also require the adviser to provide additional information concerning its current understanding of the circumstances relating to the operations event and its impact on the normal operations of the reporting fund using checkboxes.41 These include whether: (1) The event occurred at a service provider,42 (2) the event occurred at a reporting fund or reporting fund adviser or a related person; (3) the event is related to a natural disaster or other force majeure event, or (4) an unlisted "other" event occurred. In addition, proposed Item H would require an adviser to indicate whether it has initiated a business continuity plan relating to the operations of the adviser or reporting fund as we believe this may

<sup>40</sup>We recognize that the SEC currently does not require registered investment advisers and registered investment companies to report operational events. We are also considering recommending that the Commission propose rules to enhance fund and investment adviser disclosures and governance relating to cybersecurity risks. See Securities and Exchange Commission, Agency Rule List (Fall 2021), available at Agency Rule List—Fall 2021 (reginfo.gov).

provide additional appropriate context to the operations event.

Proposed Item H also requires the adviser to check a box to describe its current understanding of the impact of the operations event on the normal operations of the reporting fund, including whether the event resulted in the disruption or degradation of: (1) Trading of portfolio assets; (2) the valuation of portfolio assets; (3) the management of the reporting fund's investment risk; (4) the ability to comply with applicable laws, rules, and regulations; or (5) any "other" type of operational impact than those outlined and may be further explained in Item K Explanatory Notes. We believe that these explanatory checkboxes would provide appropriate context to current reports filed for operations events allowing the Commission and FSOC to evaluate quickly the potential level of risk to funds, advisers, and their service providers.

We request comment on the proposed current report in section 5, Item H:

40. Will this proposed reporting requirement provide us with notice of operations events that may have serious implications for the fund, its investors, and financial stability?

41. Does the definition of "operations event" provide a clear, objective trigger for reporting? Would advisers be able to assess this during an operations event? We proposed a principles-based approach for reporting of an operations event that is a "significant" disruption or degradation of the adviser's operations and for operations that are reasonably measurable, we would view a 20 percent disruption of degradation of normal volume or capacity as "significant." Are we correct that certain disruptions may not be quantifiable? Do commenters agree that a 20 percent disruption or degradation of normal volume or capacity indicates that an event is "significant?" Should the reporting event include a time frame to measure a 20 percent disruption or degradation? If so, what time frame? Should it be over one business day or over one month? Do advisers compliance programs typically include benchmarks that could be used to measure a 20 percent disruption or degradation? Are there other potential approaches for an operational events trigger?

42. Are we correct in our understanding that many large hedge fund advisers maintain sophisticated back office operations or already engage service providers that would be reasonably able to measure whether an event has impaired their key operation beyond a 20 percent threshold? Are

there any other objective measures gathered by advisers or their service providers that could be utilized as a trigger for this reporting event?

43. Will the checkboxes provided to describe the circumstances of the "operations event" provide us with sufficient detail regarding the operational issue and its potential severity? Should we amend, add, or remove any of the check boxes? Is the check box for force majeure events appropriate, or does it have the potential to cause numerous notifications during certain widely applicable disaster events like a pandemic or large hurricane?

44. Should we require an adviser to indicate whether the operations event is caused by a service provider and require the adviser to provide information regarding the service provider, as proposed? Should we define the term 'service provider'' for these purposes? Should we require reporting only for those service providers listed in Form ADV, Schedule D for the private fund? Are there some operations events that could be caused by a third party that is not a service provider to the reporting fund or adviser? If so, should we require an adviser to provide information regarding such a third party?

45. Should we define "key operations" as proposed? Are there any activities that we should add or delete from the definition? For example, should key operations also include the operation of the reporting fund in accordance with major contractual commitments to the reporting fund's investors and/or counterparties? For example, should it be considered a significant disruption or degradation of key operations if an issue at a service provider degrades the fund's ability to measure its positions or communicate certain information to counterparties pursuant to contractual notice terms?

46. As an alternative to defining "operations event", should we require current reporting by advisers whenever they initiate a business continuity plan? Would the initiation of a business continuity plan be a simpler trigger to apply? Would the initiation of a business continuity plan as a reporting event result in too many current reports about events that could not lead to investor harm or systemic risk? Would it miss important operations events that could lead to investor harm or systemic risk? Should we be concerned that advisers might delay initiating a business continuity plan so as to avoid reporting?

47. Should we require an adviser to indicate whether it has initiated a business continuity plan relating to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Proposed Form PF section 5, Item H, Questions 26 through 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> If the event occurred at a service provider, an adviser also must report the legal name of the service provider; the service provider's LEI, if any; and the types of services provided by the service provider.

operations of the adviser or reporting fund, as proposed? Does the initiation of such a plan provide the Commission with indications of potential stress at the fund or its adviser?

## f. Withdrawals and Redemptions

We believe large redemption requests, suspensions of withdrawals/ redemptions, material restrictions on withdrawals/redemptions, and an inability to satisfy redemptions are significant signals of potential stress at a qualifying hedge fund. 43 Qualifying hedge funds under stress or in periods of volatility may have difficulty selling certain assets in an orderly manner to meet large redemption requests. In such a situation, hedge funds could fall back on more extraordinary liquidity management measures to mitigate redemption difficulties and the potential for forced asset sales.44 While advisers currently are required to provide certain reporting regarding redemptions for qualifying hedge funds on a quarterly basis, we are proposing current reporting Items I and J to provide more detailed and timely information to the Commission and FSOC indicating the potential for investor harm, forced selling in liquidations, or broader systemic risk.45

Proposed section 5, Item I would require an adviser to report if the adviser receives cumulative requests for redemption exceeding 50 percent of the most recent net asset value (after netting against subscriptions and other contributions from investors received and contractually committed).46 We believe that the obligation to redeem sizable redemption requests of 50 percent or more of a reporting fund's most recent net asset value, despite preexisting gates or limitations, may present significant risks to the fund and increases the risk that it may be forced to liquidate assets (potentially at lower

prices), disproportionately penalizing non-redeeming investors, and potentially impacting markets more broadly. In the staff's experience, funds that receive withdrawal requests for half or more of their assets in the period between routine quarterly reports on Form PF may be subject to increased selling and liquidity pressures that could be particularly harmful to investors with potential broader market implications, especially if the fund is invested in more illiquid assets. Timely notice of such events would allow the Commission and FSOC to analyze the potential implications for the fund's investors and systemic risk.

Under proposed Item I, an adviser would report: (a) The date on which the net redemption requests exceeded 50 percent of the most recent net asset value; (b) the net value of redemptions paid from the reporting fund between the last data reporting date (the end of the most recently reported fiscal quarter on Form PF) and the date of the current report; (c) the percentage of the fund's net asset value the redemption requests represent; and (d) whether the adviser has notified the investors that the reporting fund will liquidate.

Proposed section 5, Item J would require an adviser to report if a qualifying hedge fund is unable to satisfy redemptions or suspends redemptions for more than 5 consecutive business days. We believe that this report would help the Commission and FSOC to identify stress at a reporting fund and evaluate the effects of these circumstances on fund investors and the markets more broadly. We also believe that this reporting could provide a potential early warning of the fund's liquidation and potentially allow the Commission or FSOC to analyze or respond to any perceived harm to investors or systemic risks on an expedited basis before they worsen. The 5 consecutive day period is designed to limit reporting of temporary redemption suspensions that we believe have less of an impact on investors or the broader market. Under proposed Item J, the adviser would report: (a) The date the reporting fund was unable to pay redemption requests or suspended redemptions; (b) the percentage of redemptions requested and not yet paid; and (c) whether the adviser has notified the investors that the reporting fund will liquidate.

We request comment on the proposed current report in section 5, Items I and I.

48. For proposed Item I, our goal is to be notified when the adviser receives requests for substantial redemptions because they may result in significant transaction costs and forced selling by a fund, all of which can cause harm to investors and contribute to systemic risk. Does Item I, as currently formulated, capture such events?

49. Should we ask different, additional questions, or provide checkboxes to gather additional context and timely information on large redemptions? What should such checkboxes describe?

50. Is the 50 percent of most recent net asset value threshold trigger for substantial redemptions proposed in Item I appropriately tailored to capture large scale liquidations? Should it be higher or lower or over a different time period? We understand that some investors may submit a redemption request each quarter to preserve their flexibility as a matter of course. For example, a fund of funds may submit a redemption request to its underlying funds so that it can match any redemptions it receives from its investors. The fund of funds then may rescind the redemption requests that they do not need so that their initial redemption requests appear overstated. How should the reporting event take these types of redemption requests into account? Should we allow reporting funds to exclude certain redemption requests? If so, how should we cabin such an exclusion?

51. Would proposed Item J provide the information we seek regarding a reporting fund's inability to pay redemptions or its suspension of redemptions? The 5 consecutive day period is designed to limit reporting of temporary redemption suspensions that we believe have less of an impact on investors or the broader market. Is the 5 consecutive business day period for inability to satisfy or the suspension of redemptions appropriate for capturing significant constraints on investor liquidity or stress at the fund? Should the period be longer or shorter?

52. Should we ask different, additional questions, or provide checkboxes about why an adviser was unable to pay redemptions or why redemptions were suspended? If so, what should they be?

# g. Explanatory Notes

Proposed Item K would allow an adviser to provide a narrative response if it believes that additional information would be helpful in current report(s). We believe that current reports can sometimes benefit from additional context so that the Commission and FSOC can effectively evaluate them for both our investor protection mission and FSOC's monitoring of systemic risk. This approach is consistent with other

 $<sup>^{43}</sup>$  We understand that many funds place quarterly restrictions on the timing and size of investor's redemptions.

<sup>44</sup> See Financial Stability Oversight Council, Update on Review of Asset Management Products and Activities (Apr. 2016), available at https:// www.treasury.gov/initiatives/fsoc/news/Documents/ FSOC%20Update%20on%20Review %20of%20Asset%20Management %20Products%20and%20Activities.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> See Form PF question 61 regarding restrictions on withdrawals and redemptions by investors in the

reporting fund.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> As with the proposed use of "most recent net asset value" in other circumstances described above, this measure could result in over-reporting or under-reporting, but we believe that a simple to determine measure would ease the monitoring and reporting burden for advisers. In addition, the option for an adviser to add explanatory notes to its current report to explain the circumstances surrounding the redemptions mitigates these concerns.

current reports filed with the Commission, where registrants have requested the flexibility to provide additional narrative information relating to circumstances surrounding the current report.<sup>47</sup>

We request comment on the proposed current report in section 5, Item K:

53. Should we provide the option for a narrative response? Are advisers likely to use the space to provide additional context to a filed current event?

54. Should we require advisers to provide a narrative response in Item K when they check "other" in describing a key event?

55. Other current reporting forms require follow up reports for certain events.48 Should we require follow up reports for any of the current reporting events in section 5? For example, should we require an adviser to file a follow up report if it learns additional material information regarding the reported event that is responsive to a proposed question? Should we require advisers to periodically file follow-up reports (e.g., every 5 business days, every 30 business days) until the event has been resolved? Should we instead permit advisers to voluntarily file follow-up current reports? As another alternative, should we require advisers to report information regarding the resolution of the event as part of its next regular report on Form PF?

56. Should advisers to funds that are not qualifying hedge funds have to respond to any or all of the current reporting items? For example, should we require all advisers that file Form PF to file a current report in connection with an operations event? Should certain current reporting events only be required of the largest hedge funds? If so, what asset thresholds would be appropriate and for which items?

# Private Fund Adviser Current Reporting on Private Equity Funds

Similar to the current reporting in proposed section 5 for large hedge fund advisers, we are also proposing to require all advisers to private equity funds to file a current report within one business day of a reporting event. The reporting events include: (1) Execution of an adviser-led secondary transaction, (2) implementation of a general partner or limited partner clawback, and (3) removal of a fund's general partner, termination of a fund's investment period, or termination of a fund. As noted above, private equity fund advisers file their annual updates within

120 calendar days after their fiscal year ends, which leads to significant delays in reporting and staleness of certain information. We believe that more current reporting of the proposed information would improve the Commission's and FSOC's ability to monitor systemic risk by providing information on certain events (including potential trends affecting multiple private equity funds) that could significantly affect both investors and markets more broadly, and also enhance our investor protection efforts. Because reporting of these events is designed to enhance our timely oversight of these advisers, we propose to require current reporting on a limited number of events by all advisers to private equity funds that file Form PF. Furthermore, we believe that growth in the private equity industry since the adoption of Form PF further supports the proposed current reporting requirements, given that both the number of investors invested in private equity funds has increased and the industry's impact on markets generally has become more pronounced.49 We believe that both of these developments merit more timely risk-based monitoring and oversight by the Commission and FSOC given the potential consequences for an ever increasing pool of private equity investors as well as financial markets broadly.

Proposed section 6 would contain Items A through E. Item A would require advisers to identify themselves and the reporting fund, including providing the reporting fund's name, private fund identification number, NFA identification number (if any), and LEI (if any).<sup>50</sup> Items B through D would set forth the three reporting events and the applicable reporting requirements. Item E would serve as an optional item for advisers to provide any explanatory notes they believe would be helpful to the Commission's and FSOC's understanding of information reported in section 6. The following sections discuss each reporting event in turn.

a. Adviser-Led Secondary Transactions

Proposed section 6 Item B would require reporting upon the completion of an adviser-led secondary transaction. This proposed reporting would include the transaction completion date and a brief description of the transaction. We propose to define "adviser-led secondary transaction" as any transaction initiated by the adviser or any of its related persons 51 that offers private fund investors the choice to: (1) Sell all or a portion of their interests in the private fund; or (2) convert or exchange all or a portion of their interests in the private fund for interests in another vehicle advised by the adviser or any of its related persons.<sup>52</sup> Under the proposal, transactions would only be subject to reporting if they are initiated by a private equity fund's adviser or a related person of the adviser.53 We understand that these transactions have become increasingly common in the private equity space and may present conflicts of interest that merit timely reporting and monitoring given that these conflicts, particularly those that arise because the adviser (or its related person) is on both sides of the transaction in an adviser-led secondary transaction with potentially different economic incentives, have the potential to negatively impact investors. To the extent that an increase in adviser-led secondary transactions also indicates an inability to sell portfolio companies (or to sell those companies at existing valuations) through more traditional exit avenues, transactions of this nature could be a leading indicator of a declining market, a situation that also merits timely monitoring to identify potential consequences for both investors as well as markets more broadly from a systemic risk perspective. This proposed requirement would provide the Commission and FSOC with data regarding the frequency and circumstances surrounding these transactions allowing the Commission and FSOC to assess market trends better and assess both potential market impacts as well as potential conflicts of interest associated with these transactions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> See Part H of Form N–RN.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> 17 CFR 274.223 (Form N-Liquid or Form N-RN) and 17 CFR 274.222 (Form N-CR).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Since 2013, the number of private equity funds has more than doubled from under 7,000 to nearly 16,000, private equity fund gross assets have tripled from \$1.6 trillion to \$4.7 trillion, and private equity fund net assets have also nearly tripled, increasing from \$1.5 trillion to \$4.2 trillion. See Private Funds Statistics, supra footnote 4.

<sup>50</sup> Section 6, Item A would also require identifying information on the reporting fund's adviser, including the adviser's full legal name, SEC 801-Number, NFA ID Number (if any), large trader ID (if any), and large trader ID suffix (if any), as well as the name and contact information of the authorized representative of the adviser and any related person who is signing the current report. See Section 6, Item A.

 $<sup>^{51}\,</sup>See$  Form PF Glossary (definition of "related person").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> See Form PF Glossary (proposed definition of "adviser-led secondary transaction").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Whether a transaction is initiated by the adviser or its related persons requires a facts and circumstances analysis. However, we would generally not view a transaction to be initiated by the adviser or one of its related persons to the extent the adviser or one of its related persons, at the unsolicited request of an investor, participates in the secondary sale of such investor's fund interest.

We request comment on the proposed current report in section 6, Item B:

57. The purpose of this proposed reporting event is to identify an adviser-led secondary transaction that merits monitoring on a timelier basis than possible with an annual report on Form PF. Does the reporting event accomplish this purpose? Why or why not? If not, how should we modify the language? Should the rule use an alternative trigger? Alternatively, do these types of transactions not merit such monitoring?

58. Is the proposed definition of "adviser-led secondary transaction" appropriate and clear? If not, how could the definition be clarified? Should it be modified or eliminated? Is the proposed definition too broad or too narrow? Should we provide additional guidance?

59. Should we define or provide guidance on the term "transaction" in the definition of "adviser-led secondary transaction"? If so, how should "transaction" be defined? Should we reference the various types of adviser-led secondary transactions in the definition? Why or why not? The proposed definition of "adviser-led secondary transaction" includes transactions initiated by the adviser's related persons. Should we exclude transactions initiated by some or all of the adviser's related persons from the proposed definition?

## b. General Partner or Limited Partner Clawback

Proposed section 6 Item C would require reporting upon the implementation of a general partner clawback. This proposed reporting would include the effective date of the clawback and the reason for the clawback. The would define "general partner clawback" as any obligation of the general partner, its related persons, or their respective owners or interest holders to restore or otherwise return performance-based compensation to the fund pursuant to the fund's governing agreements. 55

For example, if the general partner of a fund is entitled to performance-based compensation equaling 20 percent of the fund's profits over the life of the fund and the fund distributes such compensation to the general partner periodically based on the profitability of the fund at the time of distribution, the general partner may have received distributions of performance-based compensation over the life of the fund in excess of 20 percent of the fund's aggregate profits. In this situation, under the fund's governing documents, the fund's general partner would be required to return the excess performance-based compensation it received to the fund. Specifically, reporting would be required when the general partner is required to return to the fund performance-based compensation in excess of the amount it was ultimately entitled to receive under the fund's governing documents.

The widespread implementation of general partner clawbacks may be a sign of a deteriorating market environment, which may have systemic risk implications. For example, given that the implementation of general partner clawbacks by private equity funds is typically rare, if many funds are implementing general partner clawbacks at the same time, this could be indicative of the early stages of a distressed credit environment or cycle, and timely reporting received could help the Commission and FSOC identify particular markets, sectors or funds on which such a declining market environment could have an outsized impact, and which may merit additional monitoring given the potential consequence for both investors and financial market stability.

In addition, we propose to require reporting when an adviser implements a limited partner clawback (or clawbacks) in excess of an aggregate amount equal to 10 percent of a fund's aggregate capital commitments. We would define "limited partner clawback," sometimes referred to as a limited partner "giveback," as an obligation of a fund's investors to return all or any portion of a distribution made by the fund to satisfy a liability, obligation, or expense of the fund pursuant to the fund's governing agreements.<sup>56</sup> We believe requiring the proposed minimum threshold is appropriate because we believe a clawback of this magnitude would be associated with an event that could have a significant negative impact on a fund's investors and, if a pattern emerges among multiple private equity

advisers, could indicate financial stability concerns.

Limited partner clawbacks of this magnitude also could signal that a fund is under stress or is anticipating being under stress. For example, a limited partner clawback (or clawbacks) in an aggregate amount of more than 10 percent of a private equity fund's aggregate capital commitments might suggest that the fund is planning for a material event (e.g., substantial litigation or legal judgment) that could negatively impact investors and we believe that such potential impact merits prompt reporting to allow for more timely risked-based monitoring.

We request comment on the proposed current report in section 6, Item C:

60. Do the proposed reporting events based on implementation of a general partner and/or limited partner clawback capture events that could signal that a fund or the market more generally is under stress or subject to an event that merits prompt reporting? Why or why not? If not, how should we modify this reporting event or what alternative reporting event would you suggest?

61. Are the proposed definitions of "general partner clawback," "performance-based compensation," and "limited partner clawback" appropriate and clear? If not, how should the definitions be clarified? Should they be modified or eliminated? Are the proposed definitions too broad or too narrow? Should we provide additional guidance?

62. With respect to the limited partner clawback reporting event, is the proposed minimum reporting threshold, i.e., a clawback (or clawbacks) in excess of an aggregate amount equal to 10 percent of a fund's aggregate capital commitments, appropriate? Why or why not? If not, should the threshold be higher or lower and why? Would the proposed limited partner clawback reporting event cause advisers to hold more investment proceeds as reserves and delay distributions to investors, rather than distributing proceeds to investors more quickly? Why or why not?

63. We recognize that certain fund agreements require the adviser to perform interim clawback calculations during the life of the fund. For example, the adviser may be required to determine whether the general partner would be subject to a clawback on the first anniversary of the termination of the investment period. Should such "interim" clawbacks be subject to the current reporting requirement, as proposed? Do they present the same monitoring needs as end-of-life clawbacks?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> As proposed section 6, Item C pertains to both general partner clawbacks and limited partner clawbacks, the item also requires filers to specify the type of clawback implemented (*i.e.*, whether it is a general partner clawback or limited partner clawback). See Section 6, Item C.

<sup>55</sup> See Form PF Glossary (proposed definition of "general partner clawback"). Under the proposal we would define "performance-based compensation" as any allocation, payment, or distribution of capital based on the fund's (or its portfolio investments') capital gains and/or capital appreciation. This definition would include cash or non-cash compensation, including in-kind allocations, payments, or distributions of performance-based compensation. See also Form PF Glossary (proposed definitions of "performance-based compensation" and "portfolio investments").

 $<sup>^{56}\,</sup>See$  Form PF Glossary (proposed definition of "limited partner clawback").

c. Removal of General Partner, Termination of the Investment Period or Termination of a Fund

Proposed section 6 Item D would require an adviser to report when a fund receives notification that fund investors have: (1) Removed the adviser or an affiliate as the general partner or similar control person of a fund, (2) elected to terminate the fund's investment period, or (3) elected to terminate the fund, in each case as contemplated by the fund documents. Proposed Item D would require reporting on the effective date of the applicable removal event and a description of such removal event.

We believe that events of this nature are rare, and accordingly, current reporting would also be rare. However, we believe these events could provide an indication of market deterioration and also raise investor protection issues, including potential conflicts of interest, and merit the Commission's and FSOC's timely monitoring. For example, each of these triggers could lead to the liquidation of the fund earlier than anticipated, which could present risks to investors and potentially certain markets in which the fund assets were invested. This proposed current reporting event would provide the Commission and FSOC with timely notification of this event (of which we might otherwise be unaware at the time it is initiated), and allow for evaluation given the potential consequences of the event.

We request comment on the proposed current report in section 6, Item D:

64. Does the proposed reporting event based on the removal of a fund's general partner, termination of a fund's investment period, or termination of a fund raise investor protection and systemic risk concerns that merit timely monitoring? Why or why not? If not, how should we modify this reporting event or what alternative reporting event would you suggest? Is the use of the term "termination" in the reporting event clear on its face or should it be defined? Why or why not?

65. Are there other reporting events, in addition to the ones that we have proposed in section 6, that you believe would provide the Commission and FSOC with information that would enhance our ability to protect private equity fund investors and monitor the private equity industry? If so, what are they? For example, should we have a reporting event in connection with the departure of a senior member (e.g., partner, executive officer, etc.) of a fund's general partner, e.g., a key person event?

66. Should we add a "for cause" requirement to this reporting event (*i.e.*, typically defined in a fund's governing documents as the general partner or its principals engaging in gross negligence, willful misconduct, fraud, or violations of applicable law)? Should we narrow the reporting event to only cover "for cause" events?

## d. Explanatory Notes

Similar to proposed section 5 Item K and for the same reasons, proposed section 6 Item E would allow an adviser to provide a narrative response if it believes that additional information would be helpful in explaining the circumstances of their current report(s).

We request comment on the proposed current report in section 6, Item E:

67. Should we provide the option for a narrative response? Are advisers likely to use the space to provide additional context to a filed current event?

68. As noted above, other current reporting forms require follow up reports for certain events. Should we require follow up reports for any of the reporting events in section 6? For example, should we require an adviser to file a follow up report if it learns additional material information regarding the reported event that is responsive to a proposed question?

## 3. Filing Fees and Format for Reporting

We propose to require advisers to file current reports through the same nonpublic filing system they use to file the rest of Form PF, the Private Fund Reporting Depository ("PFRD").57 Large hedge fund advisers and all private equity advisers would file current reports on section 5 and section 6 of Form PF, respectively, and would not file any other sections of Form PF at the time a current report is filed. This requirement is designed to facilitate reporting of clear and timely information in an efficient manner. Under the proposed rule, advisers filing current reports on either section 5 or 6 would be required to pay to the operator of the Form PF filing system fees that have been approved by the SEC. The SEC in a separate action would approve filing fees that reflect the reasonable costs associated with the filings and the establishment and maintenance of the filing system.<sup>58</sup> Advisers also would be able to amend their current report if they discover that information they filed was not accurate at the time of filing.<sup>59</sup>

69. Should advisers file current reports through PFRD as proposed? Alternatively, is there another filing system (e.g., IARD, EDGAR) that would be more appropriate? Should we instead allow advisers to file current reports via secure email? Would that be less burdensome for advisers experiencing an operations event?

70. Should there be filing fees associated with filing a current report on Form PF? Considering the expeditious reporting deadlines and the nature of the current reporting events, would filing fees prevent a timely filing of a current report?

71. Under the proposal, filers may request a temporary hardship exemption pursuant to rule 204(b)–1(f) for a current report. Should we instead require advisers to notify the Commission via email or phone call if they are experiencing a temporary hardship and as a result cannot file their current report? Alternatively, should we instead prohibit advisers from requesting a temporary hardship exemption pursuant to rule 204(b)–1(f) for a current report given the importance of timely reporting?

## B. Large Private Equity Adviser Reporting

We also propose to amend section 4 of Form PF, which requires reporting by large private equity advisers to: (1)
Lower the reporting threshold from \$2 billion to \$1.5 billion in private equity fund assets under management, and (2) add new questions designed to enhance our understanding of certain practices of private equity advisers and amend certain existing questions to improve data collection.<sup>60</sup>

# 1. Reduction in Large Private Equity Adviser Reporting Threshold

Currently, a private fund adviser must complete section 4 of Form PF if it had at least \$2 billion in private equity fund assets under management as of the end of its most recently completed fiscal year ("large private equity adviser").<sup>61</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> See proposed Instruction 12. See also rule 17 CFR 275.204(b)–1.

 $<sup>^{58}</sup>$  See section 204(c) of the Advisers Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Consistent with the current instructions for other types of Form PF filings, large hedge fund advisers and private equity advisers would not be

required to update information that they believe in good faith properly responded to Form PF on the date of filing even if that information is subsequently revised for purposes of recordkeeping, risk management or investor reporting (such as estimates that are refined after completion of a subsequent audit). This proposed requirement is designed to provide advisers with a way to correct current reports, just as all advisers can correct other types of Form PF filings. See Instruction 16.

<sup>60</sup> Under the proposal, Item B would also be split into three new items to be designated new Item B "Certain information regarding the reporting fund," new Item C "Reporting fund and controlled portfolio company financing," and new Item D "Portfolio company investment exposures."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> See Instruction 3 to Form PF.

Section 4 of the Form requires additional information regarding the private equity funds these advisers manage, which are tailored to focus on relevant areas of financial activity that have the potential to raise systemic concerns. When Form PF was originally adopted in 2011, the \$2 billion reporting threshold captured 75 percent of the U.S. private equity industry based on committed capital.62 Today, this threshold only captures about 67 percent of the U.S. private equity industry.63 We therefore propose to lower this threshold to \$1.5 billion in order to continue to capture about 75 percent of the U.S. private equity industry based on committed capital.64 We believe the proposed reduction is important so that Form PF continues to capture and provide robust data on a sizable portion of the private equity industry. The proposed threshold reduction is designed so that the group of advisers filing Form PF as large private equity advisers would continue to represent a substantial portion of private equity industry assets. Having a robust data set for analysis is important for both identifying potential investor protection issues as well as for monitoring systemic risk. We think that the proposed new threshold strikes an appropriate balance between obtaining information regarding a significant portion of the private equity industry for analysis while continuing to minimize the burden imposed on smaller advisers.

We request comment on the proposed change to the reporting threshold:

72. Should the Commission reduce the reporting threshold for large private equity advisers as proposed? Why or why not? If not, should the reporting threshold be kept constant, increased, or decreased further? If the threshold should be changed, what do you believe is the appropriate threshold and why?

73. Would the proposed reduction in the large private equity adviser reporting threshold create an undue burden on advisers that will newly be required to complete section 4 (*i.e.*, those with between \$1.5 billion and \$2 billion in private equity fund assets under management)? If so, why?

74. Does the change in reporting threshold for filing as a large private equity adviser accurately capture the

information needed to monitor for systemic risk? Why or why not?

2. Large Private Equity Adviser Reporting

Private Equity Fund Investment Strategies. We propose to add Question 68 to Section 4 to collect information about private equity fund investment strategies. 65 Form PF does not currently collect data on private equity fund strategies. Given the growth in the industry since adoption of Form PF and the current diversity of strategies employed by private equity funds, we believe that it is important that we begin collecting this information. Different strategies carry different types and levels of risk for the markets and financial stability. We believe that reporting on investment strategies would allow the Commission and FSOC to understand and monitor better the potential market and systemic risks presented by the different strategies to both markets and investors. For example, a shift in private equity assets towards riskier strategies could provide valuable information about emerging systemic risks. Similarly, as noted above, this information would also allow the Commission and FSOC to assess better private equity funds' increasing role in providing credit to companies.

The proposed question would be structured similar to Question 20, which collects information about hedge fund strategies, but tailored to private equity funds (i.e., the strategies would represent common strategies employed by private equity funds). The proposal would require advisers to choose from a mutually exclusive list of strategies by percent of deployed capital even if the categories do not precisely match the characterization of the reporting fund's strategies. If a reporting fund engages in multiple strategies, the adviser would provide a good faith estimate of the percentage the reporting fund's deployed capital represented by each strategy.

Proposed Question 68 also would include an "other" category for advisers to select in cases where a reporting fund's strategy is not listed, but an

adviser selecting "other" in response to this question must explain why. This proposed requirement is designed to improve data quality by providing context to an adviser's selection of the "other" category. It also is designed to help ensure that advisers are not selecting the "other" category when they should be reporting information in a different strategy category. Proposed Question 68 is designed to allow FSOC to filter data for targeted analysis, monitor trends in the private equity industry, analyze potential system risk, and to support the Commission's oversight of the private equity industry and investor protection efforts.

We request comment on proposed Question 68:

75. Should Form PF require large private equity advisers to report investment strategies for the private equity funds they advise as proposed?

76. Should we collect strategy information for all advisers to private equity funds and not just large private equity advisers? Why or why not? Would collecting this data be overly burdensome for smaller private equity advisers? If so, what should be the threshold cutoff for such reporting (e.g., \$500 million in private equity assets under management)?

77. Should Question 68, as proposed, provide that the strategy options are mutually exclusive and direct advisers to not report the same assets under multiple strategies? Why or why not? Alternatively, should Form PF allow advisers to report the same assets under multiple strategies? Would this approach better identify the reporting fund's strategies?

78. Should Form PF require more granular strategy information than proposed? Why or why not? If so, please provide examples of more granular categories or sub-categories that should be included.

79. Should Question 68 require more, fewer, or different categories? Are there other strategies that are important for tracking and assessing systemic risk or for the protection of investors? If so, please provide examples of desired changes in the strategy categories.

80. With respect to private credit strategies, should we consolidate some of the private credit categories? For example, are "Private Credit—Junior/ Subordinated Debt," "Private Credit—Mezzanine Financing," "Private Credit—Senior Debt," and Private Credit—Senior Subordinated Debt" each considered a subset of the category "Private Credit—Direct Lending/Mid Market Lending"? If so, should we only have a "Private Credit—Direct Lending/ Mid Market Lending" category and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> See 2011 Form PF Adopting Release, supra footnote 2. at 32.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 63}\,\rm Based$  on data reported on Form PF and Form ADV.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> As under the current instructions to Form PF, an adviser would determine whether it meets the threshold and qualifies as a large private equity adviser based solely on the assets under management attributable to private equity funds.

<sup>65</sup> For purposes of this proposed question, private equity fund investment strategies would include private credit (and associated sub-strategies such as distressed debt, senior debt, special situations, etc.), private equity (and associated sub-strategies such as early stage, buyout, growth, etc.), real estate, annuity and life insurance policies, litigation finance, digital assets, general partner stakes investing, and other. In connection with this proposed question, we also propose to add two new terms to the Form PF Glossary of Terms for "digital assets" and "general partner stakes investing." See Form PF Glossary of Terms.

remove the other four sub-categories? Why or why not? Furthermore, should "Private Credit—Direct Lending/Mid Market Lending' be changed to "Private Credit—Direct Lending" to capture direct lending to large corporations? Why or why not?

81. Should Question 68 include an "other" category, as proposed? If advisers select the "other" category, should Form PF require them to explain the selection, as proposed? Should Form PF require the adviser to include more, less, or different information in the explanation? Would this proposed change improve data quality by providing context to the adviser's selection of the "other" category? Would this proposed change help us ensure that advisers are not misreporting information in the "other" category when they should be reporting information in a different category? Is there a better way to meet these objectives? Should Form PF require advisers to provide explanations for any other categories besides the "other" category, as proposed?

82. Should we define "digital assets" and "general partner stakes investing" as proposed or are other alternative definitions more suitable?

Restructuring/recapitalization of a portfolio company. We propose to add Ouestion 70 to Section 4 to obtain additional information regarding restructurings or recapitalizations of the reporting fund's portfolio companies. Specifically, we propose to require an adviser to indicate whether a portfolio company was restructured or recapitalized following the reporting fund's investment period, and if so, to provide the name of the portfolio company and the effective date of the restructuring.66 For example, a fund that holds portfolio company equity that has become worthless might restructure its equity interest into a note or loan with a different valuation. While we understand that private equity funds routinely engage in these practices during the investment period, we believe that when these activities happen post-investment period, it would tell the Commission and FSOC more about the current market environment and would allow FSOC to monitor these activities for systemic risk analysis and assist us with our riskbased exam program.

We request comment on proposed Question 70:

83. Should Form PF require advisers to report on restructuring or recapitalizations of a portfolio company as proposed? Why or why not?

84. Would the proposed reporting tell us more about the current market environment or potential systemic risk?

85. Would it be overly burdensome for advisers to report this information? Why or why not? If so, are there alternative ways for us to collect this data that would be less burdensome? Please provide examples.

86. As drafted, is this question appropriate in scope? Should we carve out certain types of recapitalizations or restructurings? Should certain types of funds not be required to report this information based on their investment strategy or underlying holdings?

Investments in different levels of a single portfolio company's capital structure by related funds. We propose to add Question 71 to require reporting on investments in different levels of a single portfolio company's capital structure by funds advised by an adviser or a related person. Specifically, the adviser would indicate whether the reporting fund held an investment in one class, series or type of securities (e.g., debt, equity, etc.) of a portfolio company while another fund advised by the adviser or its related persons concurrently held an investment in a different class, series or type of securities (e.g., debt, equity, etc.) of the same portfolio company, and if so, to provide the name of the portfolio company and a description of the class, series or type of securities held.<sup>67</sup> This can create a conflict of interest for the adviser that could be important for the Commission to monitor. For example, if a portfolio company suffers financial distress, there may be a conflict between the funds' interests given that the company may not be able to satisfy the claims all of classes of creditors. In such a circumstance, the adviser's decisions may have the effect of benefiting one fund over another fund. The purpose of this question would be to identify circumstances where multiple reported funds advised by the same adviser have exposure to the same portfolio company, which would allow us to better understand and monitor market trends regarding this practice and enhance our investor protection efforts.68

We request comment on proposed Question 71:

87. Should Form PF require advisers to report on investments in a different class, series or type of securities (e.g.,

debt, equity, etc.) of a single portfolio company's capital structure? Why or why not? Do you believe that this information would be useful in monitoring exposures that present risks to investors, the markets, and financial stability? Why or why not? If not, how would you modify this question or what alternatives would you suggest to identify potential conflicts of this nature?

88. Should we expand the proposed question to capture all funds of the same adviser or related persons (including those not reported on Form PF) or separately managed accounts or other clients that hold investments in different levels of a single portfolio company's capital structure? Why or

why not?

89. Current Question 79 of Form PF 69 requires an adviser to report on whether it or any of its related persons (other than the reporting fund) invest in any companies that are portfolio companies of the reporting fund. Would proposed Question 71 provide additional insight into these investments? In connection with this change, should we add a threshold for responding to current Question 79 (e.g., greater than 10 percent of gross asset value) to reduce the burden on advisers in responding to this question? Alternatively, should we amend current Question 79 to require the adviser to report additional information regarding the related persons' investments?

Fund-level borrowings. The proposal would add Question 72 to require advisers to report whether a reporting private equity fund borrows or has the ability to borrow at the fund-level as an alternative or complement to the financing of portfolio companies. We understand that many funds use fundlevel financing for this alternative or complementary financing purpose. If a fund engages in fund-level borrowing, the proposal would require the adviser to provide (1) information on each borrowing or other cash financing available to the fund, (2) the total dollar amount available, and (3) the average amount borrowed over the reporting period.<sup>70</sup> This new question is designed

reporting fund's risk profile. Fund-level leverage generally causes a fund to make larger, less frequent capital calls. Such practice has the

to collect data that the Commission

into how private equity funds obtain

and FSOC a better understanding of a

believes would provide valuable insight

leverage, thereby giving the Commission

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Proposed Question 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Proposed Question 71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> For example, an adviser may have two advised funds invested in different classes of a portfolio company's capital structure, with one fund managing outside capital while the other manages primarily internal capital of the adviser's owners, employees.

 $<sup>^{69}</sup>$  We would redesignate Question 79 as Question

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Proposed Question 72.

potential to cause liquidity concerns for investors that may not have occurred had the adviser made smaller, more frequent capital calls. This concern is exacerbated for investors with commitments to multiple private equity funds because advisers may call capital simultaneously—particularly when liquidity is generally constrained across the market—resulting in investors receiving large, concurrent capital calls. This may increase the likelihood of potential defaults by investors. We believe that this information would enhance the Commission's and FSOC's ability to monitor systemic risk posed by such potential defaults.

We request comment on proposed Question 72:

90. Should Form PF require advisers to report on private equity fund borrowings as proposed? Why or why not? Do you believe that this question as proposed would be useful in identifying and monitoring potential systemic risk associated with private equity fund leverage? Why or why not? If not, how would you modify this question or what alternatives would you suggest?

91. Should we collect additional data beyond the type of borrowing or financing, dollar amount available, and average amount borrowed as proposed? If so, what additional data should we collect and why?

92. Are the categories for "type of financing" in proposed Question 72 appropriate or should there be more, fewer or different categories? If there should be more or different categories, what additional or different categories do you suggest?

Financing of portfolio companies. We propose to add Question 74 to require an adviser to report whether it or any of its related persons provide financing or otherwise extend credit to any portfolio company in which the reporting fund invests and to quantify the value of such financing or other extension of credit.71 This proposed question would provide additional information on these financing arrangements and identify possible conflicts of interest that may arise that would help us focus our riskbased exam program, and could also alert us to industry financing trends that could affect systemic risk concerns. For example, if a reporting fund's portfolio companies are unable to obtain credit from traditional sources, advisers (and their related persons) may be more likely to lend to these companies, especially if a portfolio company is in distress. We believe these types of

financing could be an early indicator of a market downturn.

We request comment on proposed Question 74:

93. Should Form PF require advisers to report on whether a reporting private equity fund or any of its related persons provide financing to a reporting fund's portfolio companies? Why or why not? Do you believe that this question as proposed would be useful for the purpose stated above? Why or why not? If not, how would you modify this question or what alternatives would you

suggest? Please be specific.

Floating rate borrowings of controlled portfolio companies (CPCs). The proposal would add Question 82 to require advisers to report what percentage of the aggregate borrowings of a reporting private equity fund's CPCs is at a floating rate rather than a fixed rate.72 This proposed requirement would provide additional information on the risk profiles of CPCs, and help the Commission and FSOC better monitor fund level and portfolio level risk profiles for systemic risk purposes, as elevated CPC leverage could signal default risk, particularly if financings are at a floating versus fixed rate. More specifically, we believe that floating rate borrowings carry different and potentially greater risks than fixed rate borrowings, given that companies that issue floating rate debt take on the added risk that rates will move higher, which would increase the amount they must pay to creditors, a situation that can put added stress on a company.

We request comment on proposed **Question 82:** 

94. Should Form PF require advisers to report on floating rate borrowings of CPCs as proposed? Why or why not? Do you believe limiting reporting to floating rate (versus fixed rate) borrowings is appropriate given the purpose of the proposed question? Why or why not? If not, how would you modify this question (e.g., should we also require reporting on fixed rate borrowings)?

CPCs owned by private equity funds. The proposal would add Question 67 to require an adviser to report how many CPCs a reporting private equity fund owns.<sup>73</sup> We believe collecting this information would help to provide insight into a fund's concentration risk and strategy, as it pertains to the interconnectedness of private equity funds and their portfolio companies, which is important for assessing systemic risk in the industry generally.

We request comment on proposed Question 67:

95. Would collecting the number of a fund's CPCs help to provide insight into a fund's concentration risk and strategy? Why or why not? If not, what alternatives or information would provide better insight?

Events of default, bridge financing to controlled portfolio companies, and geographic breakdown of investments. We propose to amend three existing questions in section 4. First, we propose to amend current Question 74 to require advisers to provide more granular information about the nature of reported events of default, such as whether it is a payment default of the private equity fund, a payment default of a CPC, or a default relating to a failure to uphold terms under the applicable borrowing agreement (other than a failure to make regularly scheduled payments).74 We believe this more detailed information would help the Commission and FSOC better assess the impact of default events to both investors and markets more generally and may indicate emerging potential systemic risks.

Second, we propose to amend current Question 75, which requires reporting on the identity of the institutions providing bridge financing to the adviser's CPCs and the amount of such financing, to add additional counterparty identifying information (i.e., LEI (if any) and if the counterparty is affiliated with a major financial institution, the name of the financial institution).75 We believe that the proposed changes would not be burdensome for advisers given that this information is readily available to advisers, and would provide globally standardized identification information about counterparty entities reported in this question that would enhance the Commission's and FSOC's ability to analyze exposure data for purposes of assessing systemic risk.

Third, we propose to amend current Question 78, which requires reporting on the geographical breakdown of investments by private equity funds, by moving away from reporting based on a static group of regions and countries and towards identifying a private equity fund's greatest country exposures based a percent of net asset value.76 The proposed changes to Question 78 would improve the usefulness of data collected, as reporting is currently limited to exposure by region with additional reporting on a limited number of countries of interest. For

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Proposed Question 74.

<sup>72</sup> Proposed Question 82.

<sup>73</sup> Proposed Question 67.

 $<sup>^{74}\,\</sup>mathrm{We}$  would redesignate Question 74 as Question

 $<sup>^{75}\,\</sup>mathrm{We}$  would redesignate Question 75 as Question

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup>We would redesignate Question 78 as Question

example, information obtained from Question 78 could provide insight into whether a critical mass of private equity funds have investments concentrated in a country that is experiencing significant political instability or a natural disaster, which could be important for systemic risk assessments. We have found the current reporting approach lacks precision because the regions are not uniformly defined and although countries of interest change over time, the form is not dynamic in this regard. The proposal would require advisers to report all countries (by ISO country code 77) to which a reporting fund has exposure of 10 percent or more of its net asset value. We believe the proposed exposure threshold represents significant county exposure, while balancing the burden that the question would create for advisers. Advisers would have to follow Instruction 15 for purposes of calculating the information in the proposal, including reporting the exposure in U.S. dollars which would improve data comparability across funds. Advisers also would categorize investments based on concentrations of risk and economic exposure. We would also remove regional level reporting because we would now be able to analyze regional exposure using the country level information.

We request comment on the proposed amendments to current Questions 74, 75 and 78.

96. Should current Questions 74, 75 and 78 be amended as proposed? Why or why not?

97. Are the more granular default questions that we are proposing to include in amended current Question 74 appropriate? Why or why not? Alternatively, should there be more, fewer or different questions? If there should be more or different questions, what additional or different questions do you suggest?

98. Do you agree that the additional information that we propose to require in amended current Question 75 would not be overly burdensome for advisers to report? Why or why not? Do you believe that requiring advisers to report a counterparty's LEI in this question would serve our purpose of better identifying counterparties for purposes of analysis? Why or why not? Are there alternative identifiers that you suggest we include? If so, what are they?

99. Do you agree with the proposed reporting threshold in amended current Question 78 (*i.e.*, country exposure of 10 percent or more of net asset value) for

reporting on the geographical breakdown of investments? Should the threshold be higher or lower?

C. Large Liquidity Fund Adviser Reporting

Section 3 requires large liquidity fund advisers to disclose information about the liquidity funds they advise. The proposal would revise how large liquidity fund advisers report operational information and assets, as well as portfolio, financing, and investor information. The proposal also would add a new item concerning the disposition of portfolio securities. The proposed changes are designed to help us see a more complete picture of the short-term financing markets in which liquidity funds invest, and in turn, enhance the Commission's and FSOC's ability to assess short-term financing markets and facilitate our oversight of those markets and their participants.78 The proposed changes also are designed to improve data quality and comparability and make certain categories in section 3 more consistent with the categories the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System ("Federal Reserve Board") uses in its reports and analysis. Together, the proposed amendments are designed to enhance investor protection efforts and systemic risk assessment.

Operational information. We propose to revise how advisers report operational information about their liquidity funds.<sup>79</sup> Liquidity funds that seek to maintain a stable price per share may be susceptible to runs, which could cause systemic risk. Currently, Questions 52 and 53 require advisers to report whether the liquidity fund uses certain methodologies to compute its net asset value. These questions were designed to help determine how the fund might try to maintain a stable net asset value.80 We propose to replace current Ouestions 52 and 53 with a requirement for advisers to report the information more directly, by requiring advisers to report whether the liquidity fund seeks to maintain a stable price per share and, if so, to provide the price it seeks to maintain.<sup>81</sup> This proposed approach is designed to help the Commission and FSOC identify liquidity funds that seek to maintain a stable price per share, and therefore, may be susceptible to runs, which could cause systemic risk.

We also propose to remove current Question 54, which requires advisers to report whether the liquidity fund has a policy of complying with certain provisions of rule 2a–7. We can use portfolio information we collect in section 3, Item E, to determine whether the liquidity fund is complying with rule 2a–7, regardless of whether it has a policy or not.

Assets and portfolio information. We propose to require advisers to report cash separately from other categories when reporting assets and portfolio information concerning repo collateral.82 Section 3 already requires advisers to report all liquidity fund assets and repo collateral, including cash. However, because there is no distinct category for cash, it is unclear what category advisers should use to report it. Therefore, this proposed change is designed to improve data quality and comparability, and help ensure data is reported in the correct category.

We are proposing to revise further how advisers report liquidity fund assets. We propose to require advisers to provide the total gross subscriptions (including dividend reinvestments) and total gross redemptions for each month of the reporting period.83 This proposed requirement is designed to help explain changes in net asset value during the reporting period, such as whether net asset value changes are due to subscriptions, redemptions, or changes in the value of the reporting fund's holdings. This level of detail is designed to help ensure accurate reporting and inform the Commission and FSOC of trends across large liquidity funds and short-term financing markets, generally. We also propose to clarify that the term "weekly liquid assets" includes "daily liquid assets." 84 This clarification is designed to improve data quality and comparability, based on our experience with Form PF.

We are proposing to revise further how advisers would report liquidity

<sup>77</sup> This is similar to reporting on Form N-PORT and will improve the comparability of data between Form PF and Form N-PORT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> We have proposed similar amendments to Form N-MFP. See Money Market Fund Proposing Release, supra footnote 15. The proposed amendments to Form N-MFP would provide new information about money market fund shareholders and the disposition of non-maturing portfolio investments, as well as enhance reporting accuracy and consistency, increase the frequency of certain data points, and improve identifying information.

 $<sup>^{79}\,\</sup>mathrm{Form}$  PF, section 3, Item A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> See Reporting by Investment Advisers to Private Funds and Certain Commodity Pool Operators and Commodity Trading Advisors on Form PF, Release No. 3145 (Jan. 26, 2011) [76 FR 8068 (Feb. 11, 2011)], at n.133 and accompanying text (discussing proposed Questions 43 and 44, which currently are Questions 52 and 53).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Proposed Question 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> See current Questions 55 and 63(g), which we would redesignate as Questions 53 and 63(h), respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Proposed Question 54. As discussed, we would remove current Question 54, concerning the liquidity fund's policy of complying with certain provisions of rule 2a–7.

<sup>84</sup> See Form PF Glossary of Terms.

fund portfolio information.85 As a general matter, the proposed more granular requirements are designed to enhance reporting accuracy and data comparability, as well as enhance our and FSOC's data analysis, as described below. We propose to add instructions directing advisers to provide information separately for the initial acquisition of each security the liquidity fund holds and any subsequent acquisitions. This instruction is designed to facilitate the Commission and FSOC's ability to analyze other information we propose to require about each security, including acquisition information: The trade date and the yield, as of the trade date. These proposed requirements also would facilitate understanding regarding how long a liquidity fund has held a position and the maturity of the position when the liquidity fund first acquired it. Accordingly, this level of detail is designed to help us understand the liquidity fund's portfolio turnover during normal and stressed markets, which is designed to enhance systemic risk assessment. In connection with these proposed amendments, we would remove the requirement for advisers to report the coupon when reporting the title of the issue, because the yield would provide us with that information.

We also propose to require advisers to report additional identifying information about each portfolio security, including the name of the counterparty of a repo.86 Currently, section 3 requires advisers to name the issuer. However, for repos, it is not clear whether advisers should report the name of the counterparty of the repo, the name of the clearing agency (in the case of centrally cleared repos), or both. Therefore, this proposed amendment is designed to improve data quality and comparability, based on our experience with Form PF. If an adviser reports an "other unique identifier," the proposal would require the advisers to describe the identifier. These proposed changes are designed to help the Commission and FSOC identify the security and compare Form PF data with other data sets that use these identifiers. When advisers select the category of investments that most closely identifies the security, we propose to revise the categories so advisers would distinguish between U.S. Government agency debt categorized as (1) a coupon-paying note and (2) a no-coupon paying note.87 This proposed amendment is designed to provide more granular information

about U.S. Government agency debt, so the Commission and FSOC can filter data for more robust analysis.

For reporting portfolio information about repos, the proposal would no longer allow advisers to aggregate certain information if multiple securities of an issuer are subject to a repo.88 This proposed amendment is designed to provide us with more complete information about the repo market. We also propose to require advisers to provide clearing information for repos to inform the Commission and FSOC about liquidity fund activity in various segments of the market.89 Together, the proposed amendments are designed to improve the Commission's and FSOC's understanding of the role of liquidity funds in providing liquidity to the repo markets and enhance the Commission's and FSOC's ability to conduct analysis of stress events in the funding markets.

Financing information. We propose to revise how advisers report financing information by requiring advisers to indicate whether a creditor is based in the United States and whether it is a "U.S. depository institution," rather than a "U.S. financial institution," as section 3 currently provides. 90 This proposed amendment is designed to make the categories in section 3 more consistent with the categories the Federal Reserve Board uses in its reports

and analysis, to enhance systemic risk assessment.<sup>91</sup> The proposal would not require advisers to distinguish between non-U.S. creditors that are depository institutions and those that are not. We understand that it would be difficult for filers to make this distinction, which could result in inconsistent data and less robust analysis.

Investor information. We propose to revise how advisers report investor information.92 We propose to add a new question requiring advisers to report whether the liquidity fund is established as a cash management vehicle for other funds or accounts that the adviser or the adviser's affiliates manage that are not cash management vehicles.93 This proposed amendment is designed to distinguish between liquidity funds that are offered as a separate investment strategy versus those that are maintained to support other investment strategies, which would help us assess whether assets are shifting from registered money market funds to unregistered products, such as liquidity funds, and better understand the risks associated with assets shifting to unregistered products.

We also propose to revise how advisers report beneficial ownership information.94 Instead of requiring advisers to simply report how many investors beneficially own five percent or more of the liquidity fund's equity, section 3 would require advisers to provide the following information for each investor that beneficially owns five percent or more of the reporting fund's equity: (1) The type of investor and (2) the percent of the reporting fund's equity owned by the investor.95 This information is designed to help inform the Commission and FSOC of the liquidity and redemption risks of liquidity funds, because different types of investors may pose different types of redemption risks. For example, if a market event results in a certain type of investor exercising redemption rights, liquidity funds with a homogenous investor base composed of that type of investor could face greater redemption risks, which could raise systemic risk implications, as compared to liquidity funds with a more diversified investor

Disposition of portfolio securities. We propose to require advisers to report information about the disposition of portfolio securities for each of the three

<sup>85</sup> Question 63.

<sup>86</sup> Question 63(a) through (f).

<sup>87</sup> Question 63(g).

<sup>88</sup> Question 63(h).

<sup>89</sup> Question 63(h).

<sup>90</sup> See current Question 56, which we would redesignate as Question 55. Form PF would define U.S. depository institution" as any U.S. domiciled depository institution, including any of the following: (1) A depository institution chartered in the United States, including any federally-chartered or state-chartered bank, savings bank, cooperative bank, savings and loan association, or an international banking facility established by a depositary institution chartered in the United States; (2) banking offices established in the United States by a financial institution that is not organized or chartered in the United States, including a branch or agency located in the United States and engaged in banking not incorporated separately from its financial institution parent, United States subsidiaries established to engage in international business, and international banking facilities; (3) any bank chartered in any of the following United States affiliated areas: U.S. territories of American Samoa, Guam, and the U.S. Virgin Islands; the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands: the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico; the Republic of the Marshall Islands; the Federated States of Micronesia; and the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands (Palau); or (4) a credit union (including a natural person or corporate credit union). Form PF defines "U.S. financial institution" as any of the following: (1) A financial institution chartered in the United States (whether federally-chartered or state-chartered); (2) a financial institution that is separately incorporated or otherwise organized in the United States but has a parent that is a financial institution chartered outside the United States; or (3) a branch or agency that resides outside the United States but has a parent that is a financial institution chartered in the United States.

 $<sup>^{91}\,\</sup>mathrm{The}$  Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board is a member of FSOC.

<sup>92</sup> Form PF, section 3, Item D.

 $<sup>^{93}</sup>$  Proposed Question 58. We would redesignate current Question 58 to Question 57.

<sup>94</sup> Question 59(b).

<sup>95</sup> Question 59.

months in the quarter. To effectuate this, the proposal would add new Item F (Disposition of Portfolio Securities) to section 3.96 Under the proposal, advisers would report information about the portfolio securities that the liquidity fund sold or disposed of during the reporting period (not including portfolio securities that the fund held until maturity). Advisers would report the amount as well as the category of investment.97 This proposed amendment is designed to inform the Commission and FSOC of liquidity funds' liquidity management, as well as their secondary market activities in normal and stress periods, to enhance systemic risk assessment. It also is designed to help provide data about how liquidity funds' selling activity relates to broader trends in short-term funding markets to aid the Commission's investor protection efforts and FSOC's systemic risk analysis.

Weighted average maturity and weighted average life. Large liquidity fund advisers report information in section 3 about the liquidity fund's "WAM," or weighted average maturity and "WAL," or the weighted average life. Generally, WAM and WAL are calculations of the average maturities of all securities in a portfolio, weighted by each security's percentage of net assets. These calculations help determine risk in a portfolio, because a longer WAM and WAL may increase a fund's exposure to interest rate risks. Form PF's definition of "WAM" and "WAL" instruct advisers to calculate them using provisions of rule 2a-7. We propose to revise the Form PF glossary definition of "WAM" and "WAL" to include an instruction to calculate them with the dollar-weighted average based on the percentage of each security's market value in the portfolio.98 This proposed

change is designed to help ensure advisers calculate WAM and WAL, which can indicate potential risk in the market, using a consistent approach. We believe the proposed amendment would improve data quality and comparability, which in turn could enhance investor protection efforts and systemic risk assessment.

We request comment on the proposed amendments to Section 3 of Form PF:

100. Would the proposed amendments improve data quality and comparability? Is there a better way to achieve these objectives?

101. Would the proposed amendments provide a better picture of the reporting fund's operations, assets, portfolio, financing, and investor information? Is there alternative or additional information we should require? Is there a less burdensome way to obtain the information?

amendments help the Commission and FSOC see a more complete picture of the short-term financing markets in which liquidity funds invest? Would the proposed amendments enhance our and FSOC's ability to assess short-term financing markets, their systemic risk, and facilitate our oversight of those markets and their participants? Is there a better way to meet these objectives?

103. Should section 3 be more or less consistent with Form N–MFP and rule 2a–7? Why or why not?

104. Should we add, remove, or revise any categories for any questions in section 3? Why or why not? Should we add cash as a category for certain questions in section 3, as proposed? Why or why not?

105. Should section 3 require more, less, or different identifying information? Currently, Form PF provides that in the case of a financial institution, if a legal entity identifier has not been assigned, then advisers must provide the RSSD ID assigned by the National Information Center of the Federal Reserve Board, if any. 99 Should we require advisers to report the RSSD ID, if they have one, as a separate line item from LEI for securities, financial institutions, or any others that section 3 should identify? How burdensome would it be to obtain an RSSD ID?

106. Should we revise how advisers report whether the liquidity fund seeks to maintain a stable price per share, as proposed? Would the proposed requirement help the Commission and FSOC identify liquidity funds that could be more susceptible to runs? Would the proposed requirements make data for

liquidity funds and money market funds more comparable, and in turn, help FSOC assess systemic risk across the types of funds? Is there a better way to meet these objectives? Should section 3 require advisers to report any additional information concerning maintaining a stable price per share? For example, should section 3 require advisers to report the degree of rounding to maintain a stable price per share, and if so, how? Should we remove current Questions 52 and 53, concerning whether the liquidity fund uses certain methodologies to compute its net asset value?

107. Should we remove current Question 54, concerning whether the liquidity fund has a policy of complying with the risk limiting conditions of rule 2a–7, as proposed? Could we determine whether the liquidity fund is complying with the risk limiting conditions of rule 2a–7 using the portfolio information in section 3?

108. Should we amend how advisers report assets, as proposed? Would the proposed amendments allow us to use comparable data for liquidity funds and registered money market funds so we can analyze data across the types of funds? Would the proposed amendments improve data quality and comparability? Is there a better way to meet these objectives?

109. Section 3 currently requires advisers to report the 7-day gross yield of the liquidity fund. Should section 3 also require advisers to report the 7-day net yield of the liquidity fund? Would this requirement enhance systemic risk assessment or investor protection?

110. Should we amend how advisers report portfolio information, as proposed? Would the proposed amendments improve data quality and comparability? Would the proposed amendments help us and FSOC identify the security and allow the Commission and FSOC to compare Form PF data with other data sets that use certain identifiers? Would the proposed amendments provide us and FSOC with more granular information to help us filter data for more robust analysis, such as filtering data concerning U.S. Government agency debt categorized as (1) a coupon-paying note and (2) a nocoupon paying note? Would the proposed amendments help the Commission and FSOC understand the liquidity fund's portfolio turnover during normal and stressed markets? Would the proposed amendments provide the Commission and FSOC with a more complete information about repos? Would the proposed amendments help inform us and FSOC of liquidity fund activity in various

 $<sup>^{96}</sup>$  We would redesignate current Item F as Item G (Parallel Money Market Funds).

<sup>97</sup> We propose to include the following categories of investment: U.S. Treasury Debt; U.S. Government Agency Debt (if categorized as coupon-paying notes); U.S. Government Agency Debt (if categorized as no-coupon-discount notes); Non-U.S. Sovereign, Sub-Sovereign and Supra-National debt; Certificate of Deposit; Non-Negotiable Time Deposit; Variable Rate Demand Note; Other Municipal Security; Asset Backed Commercial Paper; Other Asset Backed Securities; U.S. Treasury Repo, if collateralized only by U.S. Treasuries (including Strips) and cash; U.S. Government Agency Repo, collateralized only by U.S. Government Agency securities, U.S. Treasuries, and cash; Other Repo, if any collateral falls outside Treasury, Government Agency and cash: Insurance Company Funding Agreement; Investment Company; Financial Company Commercial Paper; Non-Financial Company Commercial Paper; or Tender Option Bond. If Other Instrument, advisers would include a brief description, as is currently required.

<sup>98</sup> See Form PF Glossary of Terms

 $<sup>^{99}\,</sup>See$  the definition of "LEI" in the Form PF Glossary of Terms.

market segments? Is there a better way to meet these objectives? Should we remove the requirement for advisers to report the coupon when reporting the title of the issue? Would the yield provide that information?

111. Section 3 requires advisers to report information concerning ratings assigned by credit rating agencies, when reporting portfolio information. Currently, if a rating assigned by a credit rating agency played a substantial role in the liquidity fund's or reporting fund's evaluation of the quality, maturity, or liquidity of the security, advisers must provide the name of each credit rating agency and the rating each assigned to the security. How often does the credit rating agency play a substantial role in the reporting fund's or its adviser's evaluation of the quality, maturity, or liquidity of the security? Please provide supportive data. Should section 3 continue to require advisers to report this type of information?

112. Would advisers find it difficult to distinguish between non-U.S. creditors that are depository institutions and those that are not depository institutions? Should proposed Question 55 (currently Question 56) be more or less consistent with Form PF section 1, Question 12, which requires all advisers to provide a breakdown showing whether a creditor is based in the United States and whether it is a U.S. financial institution? 100

113. As an alternative approach to reporting financing information, should section 3 continue to require advisers to report information concerning financial institutions? If so, should section 3 continue to require advisers to distinguish between non-U.S. creditors that are financial institutions and those that are not? Do advisers find it difficult to make that distinction? If so, how could we revise section 3 to alleviate such a burden and improve data quality?

114. We are not proposing to amend current Question 57, which requires advisers to report information about committed liquidity facilities. 101 Should we amend it? For example, should we require advisers to provide the maturity dates of any committed liquidity facilities that the liquidity fund has in place, as applicable? Why or why not?

115. Should we amend how advisers report investor information, as proposed? Would the proposed amendments help distinguish between

liquidity funds that are offered as a separate investment strategy and those that are maintained to support other investment strategies? Would this information, in turn, inform the Commission and FSOC if money market fund requirements result in assets shifting from registered money market funds to unregistered products such as liquidity funds? Would the proposed changes help inform the Commission and FSOC about the liquidity and redemption risks of liquidity funds, and any potential systemic risk implications? Is there a better way to meet these objectives? Should section 3 require advisers to report identifying information for each investor that beneficially owns five percent or more of the liquidity fund's equity, such as its name and address, as we are proposing for Form N-MFP? 102 Should we, as proposed, remove current Question 59(b), which requires advisers to report how many investors beneficially own five percent or more of the liquidity fund's equity, because advisers would disclose this information through the proposed new requirements for Ouestion 59?

116. Should we amend how advisers report investor liquidity? For example, should Question 62 require advisers to report investor liquidity in dollar amounts, instead of, or in addition to a percentage of net asset value, as Question 62 currently requires? Would advisers find it more or less burdensome to report investor liquidity in dollar amounts instead of as a percentage of net asset value?

117. Should section 3 require advisers to report information concerning the disposition of portfolio securities, as proposed? Would the proposed amendments help inform the Commission and FSOC of a liquidity fund's liquidity management, as well as their secondary market activities in normal and stress periods, to enhance systemic risk assessment? Would the proposed amendments help provide data about how liquidity funds' selling activity relates to broader trends in short-term funding markets? Is there a better way to meet these objectives? Are the proposed categories of investment appropriate? Should we add, remove, or revise any categories of investment?

118. Should Form PF define "U.S. depository institution" and revise the terms "weekly liquid assets," "WAM," and "WAL," as proposed? Would the proposed definitions improve data quality? Should we provide additional

guidance on these or any other terms used in section 3?

# III. Economic Analysis

#### A. Introduction

The Commission is mindful of the economic effects, including the costs and benefits, of the proposed amendments. Section 202(c) of the Advisers Act provides that when the Commission is engaging in rulemaking under the Advisers Act and is required to consider or determine whether an action is necessary or appropriate in the public interest, the Commission shall also consider whether the action will promote efficiency, competition, and capital formation, in addition to the protection of investors. 103 The analysis below addresses the likely economic effects of the proposed amendments, including the anticipated and estimated benefits and costs of the amendments and their likely effects on efficiency, competition, and capital formation. The Commission also discusses the potential economic effects of certain alternatives to the approaches taken in this proposal.

Many of the benefits and costs discussed below are difficult to quantify. For example, the Commission cannot quantify how regulators may adjust their policies and oversight of the private fund industry in response to the additional data collected under the proposed rule. Also, in some cases, data needed to quantify these economic effects are not currently available and the Commission does not have information or data that would allow such quantification. For example, costs associated with the proposal may depend on existing systems and levels of technological expertise within the private fund advisers, which could differ across reporting persons. While the Commission has attempted to quantify economic effects where possible, much of the discussion of economic effects is qualitative in nature. The Commission seeks comment on all aspects of the economic analysis, especially any data or information that would enable a quantification of the proposal's economic effects.

# B. Economic Baseline and Affected Parties

## 1. Economic Baseline

The Commission adopted Form PF in 2011, with additional amendments made to section 3 along with certain money market reforms in 2014. <sup>104</sup> Form PF complements the basic information about private fund advisers and funds

<sup>100</sup> As discussed, we would redesignate Question 56 to Question 55. Form PF section 1 is part of the joint form between the SEC and CFTC. See supra feature 2

 $<sup>^{101}</sup>$  We would redesignate current Question 57 to Ouestion 56.

 $<sup>^{102}\,</sup>See$  Money Market Fund Proposing Release, supra footnote 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> 15 U.S.C. 80b-2(c).

<sup>104</sup> See supra footnote 2.

reported on Form ADV. <sup>105</sup> Unlike Form ADV, Form PF is not an investor-facing disclosure form. Information that private fund advisers report on Form PF is provided to regulators on a confidential basis and is nonpublic. <sup>106</sup> The purpose of Form PF is to provide the Commission and FSOC with data that regulators can deploy in their regulatory and oversight programs directed at assessing and managing systemic risk and protecting investors both in the private fund industry and in the U.S. financial markets more broadly. <sup>107</sup>

Private funds and their advisers play an important role in both private and public capital markets. These funds, including hedge funds, private equity funds, and liquidity funds, currently have more than \$17.0 trillion in gross private fund assets. <sup>108</sup> Private funds invest in large and small businesses and use strategies that range from long-term investments in equity securities to frequent trading and investments in complex instruments. Their investors include individuals, institutions, governmental and private pension funds, and non-profit organizations.

Before Form PF was adopted, the Commission and other regulators had limited visibility into the economic activity of private funds and relied largely on private vendor databases about private funds that covered only voluntarily provided private fund data and are not representative of the total population. 109 Form PF represented an improvement in available data about private funds, both in terms of its reliability and completeness. 110 Generally, investment advisers registered (or required to be registered) with the Commission with at least \$150 million in private fund assets under management must file Form PF.<sup>111</sup> Smaller private fund advisers and all private equity fund advisers file annually to report general information such as the types of private funds advised (e.g., hedge funds, private equity funds, or liquidity funds), fund size, use of borrowings and derivatives, strategy, and types of investors. 112 Large private equity advisers also provide data about each private equity fund they manage. Large hedge fund and liquidity fund advisers also provide data about each reporting fund they manage, and are required to file quarterly. 113

The Commission and FSOC now have almost a decade of experience with analyzing the data collected on Form PF. The collected data has helped FSOC establish a baseline picture of the private fund industry for the use in assessing systemic risk 114 and improved the Commission's oversight of private fund advisers.115 Form PF data also has enhanced the Commission and FSOC's ability to frame regulatory policies regarding the private fund industry, its advisers, and the markets in which they participate, as well as more effectively evaluate the outcomes of regulatory policies and programs directed at this sector, including the management of systemic risk and the protection of investors. 116 Additionally, based on the data collected through Form PF filings, regulators have been able to regularly

inform the public about ongoing private fund industry statistics and trends by generating quarterly Private Fund Statistics reports 117 and by making publicly available certain results of staff research regarding the characteristics, activities, and risks of private funds. 118

However, this decade of experience with analyzing Form PF data has also highlighted certain limitations of information collected on Form PF, including information gaps and situations where more granular and timely information would improve the Commission and FSOC's understanding of the private fund industry and the potential systemic risk relating to its activities, and improve regulators' ability to protect investors. 119 The need for more granular and timely information collected on Form PF is further heightened by the increasing significance of the private fund industry to financial markets and to the broader economy, and resulting regulatory concerns regarding potential risks to U.S. financial stability from this sector. $^{120}$ 

 $<sup>^{105}</sup>$  Investment advisers to private funds report on Form ADV general information about private funds that they advise. This includes basic organizational, operational information, and information about the fund's key service providers. Information on Form ADV is available to the public through the Investment Adviser Public Disclosure System, which allows the public to access the most recent Form ADV filing made by an investment adviser. See, e.g., Form ADV, available at https:// www.investor.gov/introduction-investing/investingbasics/glossary/form-adv. See also Investment Adviser Public Disclosure, available at https:// adviserinfo.sec.gov/. Some private fund advisers that are required to report on Form ADV are not required to file Form PF (for example, exempt reporting advisers and advisers with less than \$150 million in private fund assets under management). Other advisers are required to file Form PF and are not required to file Form ADV (for example commodity pools that are not private funds). Based on the staff review of Form ADV filings and the Private Fund Statistics, less than 10 percent of funds reported on Form ADV but not on Form PF in 2020. See infra footnote 141.

<sup>106</sup> Commission staff publish quarterly reports of aggregated and anonymized data regarding private funds on the Commission's website. See Private Fund Statistics, Securities and Exchange Commission: Division of Investment Management, available at https://www.sec.gov/divisions/ investment/private-funds-statistics.shtml. See also supra footnote 4.

 $<sup>^{107}\,</sup>See\,supra$  section I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> These estimates are based on staff review of data from the Private Fund Statistics report for the last quarter of 2020, issued in August 2021. Private fund advisers who file Form PF currently have \$17.0 trillion in gross assets. See Division of Investment Management, Private Fund Statistics, (Aug. 21, 2021), available at https://www.sec.gov/divisions/investment/private-funds-statistics.shtml. As discussed above, not all private fund advisers are required to file Form PF. See supra footnote 105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> See, e.g., SEC 2020 Annual Staff Report Relating to the Use of Form PF Data (Nov. 2020), available at https://www.sec.gov/files/2020-pfreport-to-congress.pdf.

<sup>110</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Registered investment advisers with less than \$150 million in private funds assets under management, exempt reporting advisers, and stateregistered advisers report general private fund data on Form ADV, but do not file Form PF. See supra footnote 105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Id.

 $<sup>^{113}</sup>$  See supra footnotes 8, 9, and 111.

<sup>114</sup> See, e.g., OFR 2021 Annual Report to Congress (Nov. 2021), available at https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/261/FSOC2020AnnualReport.pdf; and FSOC 2020 Annual Report, available at https://www.financialresearch.gov/annual-reports/files/OFR-Annual-Report-2021.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> See supra footnote 109.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> See supra footnotes 114, 115.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> See supra footnotes 4, 106.

<sup>118</sup> See e.g., D. Johnson and F. Martinez, Form PF Insights on Private Equity Funds and Their Portfolio Companies, 18-01 Office of Financial Research (Working Paper) (June 2018), available at https://www.financialresearch.gov/briefs/2018/06/ 14/form-pf-insights-on-private-equity-funds/; D. Hiltgen, Private liquidity Funds: Characteristics and Risk Indicators, DERA White Paper (Jan. 2017) ("Hiltgen Paper"), available at https://www.sec.gov/ files/2017-03/Liquidity%20Fund%20Study.pdf; G. Aragon, T. Ergun, M. Getmansky, and G. Girardi, Hedge Funds: Portfolio, Investor, and Financing Liquidity, DERA White Paper (May 2017), available at https://www.sec.gov/files/dera\_hf-liquidity.pdf; George Aragon, Tolga Ergun, and Giulio Girardi, Hedge Fund Liquidity Management: Insights for Fund Performance and Systemic Risk Oversight, DERA White Paper (Apr. 2021), available at https:// www.sec.gov/files/dera\_hf-liquiditymanagement.pdf; M. Kruttli, P. Monin, and S. Watugala, The Life of the Counterparty: Shock Propagation in Hedge Fund-Prime Broker Credit Networks, 19–03 Office of Financial Research (Working Paper) (Working Paper) (Oct. 2019), available at https://www.financialresearch.gov/ working-papers/files/OFRwp-19-03\_the-life-of-thecounterparty.pdf; M. Kruttli, P. Monin, S. Petrasek, and S. Watugala, Hedge Fund Treasury Trading and Funding Fragility: Evidence from the COVID-19 Crisis, Federal Reserve Board, Finance and Economics Discussion Series (Apr. 2021), available at https://www.federalreserve.gov/econres/feds/ hedge-fund-treasury-trading-and-funding-fragilityevidence-from-the-covid-19-crisis.htm; M. Kruttli, P. Monin, and S. Watugala, Investor Concentration, Flows, and Cash Holdings: Evidence from Hedge Funds, Federal Reserve Board, Finance and Economics Discussion Series (Dec. 2017), available at https://doi.org/10.17016/FEDS.2017.121.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> See supra section I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> The private fund industry has experienced significant growth in size and changes in terms of business practices, complexity of fund structures, and investment strategies and exposures in the past decade. Supra footnote 4. See also Financial Stability Oversight Council Update on Review of Asset Management Product and Activities (2014),

#### 2. Affected Parties

The proposal amends and introduces new reporting requirements for the advisers to hedge funds,<sup>121</sup> private equity funds,<sup>122</sup> and liquidity funds.<sup>123</sup>

Hedge funds are one of the largest categories of private funds,124 and as such play an important role in the U.S. financial system due to their ability to mobilize large pools of capital, take economically important positions in a market, and their extensive use of leverage, derivatives, complex structured products, and short selling.125 While these features may enable hedge funds to generate higher returns as compared to other investment alternatives, the same features may also create spillover effects in the event of losses (whether caused by their investment and derivatives positions or use of leverage or both) that could lead to significant stress or failure not just at the affected fund but also across financial markets. 126

In the last quarter of 2020, hedge fund advisers that are required to file Form PF had investment discretion over

available at https://www.treasury.gov/initiatives/ fsoc/news/Documents/FSOC% 20 Update% 20on% 20Review% 20of % 20Asset% 20Management% 20 Products% 20and% 20Activities.pdf.

121 Form PF defines "hedge fund" broadly to include any private fund (other than a securitized asset fund) that has any of the following three characteristics: (1) A performance fee or allocation that takes into account unrealized gains, or (2) a high leverage (i.e., the ability to borrow more than half of its net asset value (including committed capital) or have gross notational exposure in excess of twice its net asset value (including committed capital)) or (3) the ability to short sell securities or enter into similar transactions (other than for the purpose of hedging currency exposure or managing duration). Any non-exempt commodity pools about which an investment adviser is reporting or required to report are automatically categorized as hedge funds. Excluded from the "hedge fund" definition in Form PF are vehicles established for the purpose of issuing asset backed securities ("securitized asset funds"). See Form PF Glossary.

<sup>122</sup> Form PF defines "private equity fund" broadly to include any private fund that is not a hedge fund, liquidity fund, real estate fund, securitized asset fund or venture capital fund and does not provide investors with redemption rights in the ordinary course. Private funds that have the ability to borrow or short securities have to file as a hedge fund. See Form PF Glossary.

123 Form PF defines "liquidity fund" broadly to include any private fund that seeks to generate income by investing in a portfolio of short term obligations in order to maintain a stable net asset value or minimize principal volatility for investors. See Form PF Glossary.

124 See supra footnote 108.

125 See, e.g., Lloyd Dixon, Noreen Clancy, and Krishna B. Kumar, Hedge Fund and Systemic Risk, RAND Corporation (2012); John Kambhu, Til Schuermann, and Kevin Stiroh, Hedge Funds, Financial Intermediation, and Systemic Risk, Federal Reserve Bank of New York's Economic Policy Review (2007).

 $^{126}$  See supra footnotes 114, 120. See also infra section III.C.1.a.

nearly \$8.7 trillion in gross assets under management, which represented approximately half of the reported assets in the private fund industry.127 Currently, hedge fund advisers with between \$150 million and \$2 billion in regulatory assets (that do not qualify as large hedge fund advisers) file Form PF annually, in which they provide general information about funds they advise such as the types of private funds advised, fund size, their use of borrowings and derivatives, strategy, and types of investors. Large hedge fund advisers with at least \$1.5 billion in regulatory assets under management attributable to hedge funds file Form PF quarterly, in which they provide data about each hedge fund they managed during the reporting period (irrespective of the size of the fund). Large hedge fund advisers must report more information on Form PF about qualifying hedge funds  $^{128}$  than other hedge funds they manage during the reporting period. In the last quarter of 2020, there were 1,793 qualifying hedge funds reported on Form PF with \$7.1 trillion in gross assets under management, which represented approximately 81 percent of the reported hedge fund assets.<sup>129</sup>

Private equity funds are another large category of funds in the private fund industry. In the last quarter of 2020, advisers to private equity funds had investment discretion over approximately one third of the reported gross assets in the private fund industry. <sup>130</sup> Many private equity funds focus on long-term returns by investing in a private, non-publicly traded company or business—the portfolio company—and engage actively in the management and direction of that company or business in order to increase its value. <sup>131</sup> Other private

equity funds may specialize in making minority investments in fast-growing companies or startups.<sup>132</sup>

While all fund advisers are subject to fiduciary duties to their clients, private equity funds' long-term investment horizons and various relationships with affiliates and portfolio companies mean that there exist opportunities for fund advisers to pursue transactions or investments despite conflicts of interest and also to extract private benefits at the expense of the funds they manage and, by extension, the limited partners invested in the funds. 133 The Commission has brought several enforcement actions against private equity advisers that allegedly received undisclosed fees and expenses, impermissibly shifted and misallocated expenses, or failed to disclose conflicts of interests adequately, including conflicts arising from fee and expense issues. 134 In addition, private equity funds' increasingly extensive use of leverage for financing portfolio companies and a significant increase in the use of private credit strategies both raise systemic risk concerns. 135

Currently, all private equity advisers registered with the Commission who are required to file Form PF must do so annually. Private equity advisers with between \$150 million and \$2 billion in regulatory assets under management attributable to private equity funds must provide general information while large private equity advisers with at least \$2 billion in regulatory assets under management must report more detailed data about the private equity funds they

<sup>127</sup> See supra footnote 108. In the last quarter of 2020, hedge fund assets accounted for 52 percent of the gross asset value ("GAV") (\$\$8.8/\$17.0 trillion) and 40 percent of the net asset value ("NAV") (\$4.6/\$11.5 trillion) of all private funds reported on Form PF.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> See supra footnote 7.

<sup>129</sup> See supra footnote 108. In the last quarter of 2020, qualifying hedge fund assets accounted for 81 percent of the GAV (\$7.1/\$8.8 trillion) and 77 percent of the NAV (\$3.6/\$4.7 trillion) of all hedge funds reported on Form PF.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> See supra footnote 108. In the last quarter of 2020, private equity assets accounted for 28 percent of the GAV (\$4.7/\$17.0 trillion) and 36 percent of the NAV (\$4.1/\$11.5 trillion) of all private funds reported on Form PF.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> After purchasing controlling interests in portfolio companies, private equity advisers frequently get involved in managing those companies by serving on the company's board; selecting and monitoring the management team; acting as sounding boards for CEOs; and sometimes stepping into management roles themselves. See, e.g., Private Equity Funds, Securities and Exchange

Commission, available at https://www.investor.gov/introduction-investing/investing-basics/investment-products/private-investment-funds/private-equity.

<sup>132</sup> See supra footnote 131. <sup>133</sup> Private equity advisers may be managing multiple private equity funds and portfolio companies. The funds typically pay the private equity adviser for advisory services. Additionally, the portfolio companies may also pay the private equity adviser for services such as managing and monitoring the portfolio company. Affiliates of the private equity adviser may also play a role as service providers to the funds or the portfolio companies. See, e.g., Observations from **Examinations of Investment Advisers Managing** Private Funds, SEC Risk Alert (June 23, 2020), available at https://www.sec.gov/files/Private%20 Fund%20Risk%20Alert\_0.pdf; Staff Statement of Andrew Ceresney, Securities Enforcement Forum West 2016 Keynote Address: Private Equity Enforcement Securities and Exchange Commission (May 12, 2016) ("Ceresney Keynote"), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/private-equityenforcement.html.

<sup>134</sup> See Ceresney Keynote, supra footnote 133. 135 See Moody's Warns of 'Systemic Risks' in Private Credit Industry, Financial Times (Oct. 26, 2021), available at https://www.ft.com/content/ 862d0efb-09e5-4d92-b8aa-7856a59adb20; Rod Dubitsky, CLOs, Private Equity, Pensions, and Systemic Risk, 26 (1) Journal of Structured Finance 26–1 (2020), available at https://jsf.pmresearch.com/content/26/1/8.

manage (section 4 of Form PF).<sup>136</sup> In the last quarter of 2020, there were 15,623 private equity funds reported on Form PF with \$4.7 trillion in gross assets under management.137 Of those, 5,266 funds were private equity funds managed by large private equity advisers with discretion over nearly \$3.6 trillion in gross assets, representing 78 percent of the reported private equity assets.138 However, because not all private equity advisers file Form PF, section 4 private equity fund advisers represent less than 78 percent of total private equity fund regulatory assets. When Form PF was adopted in 2011, the \$2 billion reporting threshold for large private equity advisers captured 75 percent of the U.S. private equity industry's assets under management. 139 As a result of substantial growth in the number of private equity funds and advisers since 2011, the market share attributable to investors with less than \$2 billion in assets under management has grown. 140 As such, currently, the \$2 billion reporting threshold only captures 67 percent of the entire private equity industry.141

Liquidity funds are a relatively small 142 but important category of private funds due to the role they play along with money market funds as sources, and users, of liquidity in markets for short-term financing. 143 Liquidity funds follow similar investment strategies as money market funds, but are unregistered. 144 Similar to money market funds, liquidity funds are managed with the goal of maintaining a stable net asset value or minimizing principal volatility for investors. 145 These funds typically achieve these goals by investing in highquality, short-term debt securities, such as Treasury bills, repurchase agreements, or commercial paper, that

fluctuate very little in value under normal market conditions. 146 Also, similar to money market funds, liquidity funds are sensitive to market conditions and may be exposed to losses from certain of their holdings when the markets in which the funds invest are under stress. 147 Compared to money market funds, liquidity funds may take on greater risks and, as a result, may be more sensitive to market stress, as they are not required to comply with the risklimiting conditions of rule 2a-7, which place restrictions on the maturity, diversification, credit quality, and liquidity of money market fund investments. 148

Currently, liquidity fund advisers with between \$150 million and \$1 billion in assets file Form PF annually, which contains general information about funds they manage. Large liquidity fund advisers with at least \$1 billion in combined regulatory assets under management attributable to unregistered liquidity funds and registered money market funds are required to file Form PF quarterly and provide more detailed data on the liquidity funds they manage (section 3 of Form PF). 149 In the last quarter of 2020, there were 71 liquidity funds reported on Form PF with \$318 billion in gross assets under management. 150 Of those, 52 funds were large liquidity funds with \$315 billion in gross assets, which represented 99 percent of the reported liquidity fund assets.<sup>151</sup>

Private funds are typically limited to accredited investors and qualified clients such as pension funds, insurance companies, foundations and endowments, and high income and net worth individuals. 152 Retail U.S. investors with exposure to private funds are typically invested in private funds indirectly through public and private pension plans and other institutional investors. 153 In the last quarter of 2020, public pension plans had \$1,533 billion invested in reporting private funds while private pension plans had \$1,248 billion invested in reporting private funds, making up 13.3 percent and 10.9 percent of the overall beneficial ownership in the private equity industry, respectively. 154 Investors may also gain direct exposure to private funds through the inclusion of private investments in their defined contribution plans, such as 401(k)s.

## C. Benefits and Costs

#### 1. Benefits

The proposal is designed to facilitate two primary goals the Commission sought to achieve with reporting on Form PF as articulated in the original adopting release, namely: (1) Facilitating FSOC's understanding and monitoring of potential systemic risk relating to activities in the private fund industry and assisting FSOC in determining whether and how to deploy its regulatory tools with respect to nonbank financial companies; and (2) enhancing the Commission's ability to evaluate and develop regulatory policies and improving the efficiency and effectiveness of the Commission's efforts to protect investors and maintain fair, orderly and efficient markets. 155

Specifically, the proposal includes amendments to sections 3 and 4 of Form PF, which would enhance and provide more specificity regarding the information collected on large advisers of liquidity funds and private equity funds. The proposal also introduces new sections 5 and 6 of Form PF, which would require advisers to qualifying hedge funds and private equity funds to provide current reporting to the Commission when their funds are facing certain events that may signal stress or potential future stress in financial markets or implicate investor protection concerns. In addition, the proposed

 $<sup>^{136}\,</sup>See\,supra$  footnote 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> See supra footnote 108.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> *Id*.

<sup>139</sup> See supra footnote 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> See supra section I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Based on staff review of Form ADV filings, in 2020, the aggregate regulatory assets under management under the discretion of private equity advisers were \$4.2 trillion. According to the Private Fund Statistics Report, this aggregate estimate includes approximately \$3.8 trillion (90 percent) in gross assets under management by private equity advisers that file Form PF, \$2.8 trillion of which were under the discretion of large private equity advisers. This represents 67 percent of the industry. See supra footnote 108.

 $<sup>^{142}\,\</sup>bar{Id}.$  In the last quarter of 2020, liquidity fund assets accounted for 2 percent of the GAV (\$0.3/\$17.0 trillion) and 2.6 percent of the NAV (\$0.3/\$11.5 trillion) of all liquidity funds reported on Form PF.

<sup>143</sup> See supra footnote 118 (Hiltgen Paper).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> *Id*.

<sup>145</sup> See supra footnote 123.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> See supra footnote 118 (Hiltgen Paper). <sup>147</sup> For example, in the second week of March 2020, conditions significantly deteriorated in markets for private short-term debt instruments, such as commercial paper and certificates of deposit. Widening spreads in short-term funding markets put downward pressure on the prices of assets in money market and liquidity funds' portfolios. See, e.g., U.S. Credit Markets Interconnectedness and the Effects of COVID-19 Economic Shock, SEC Staff Report (Oct. 2020), available at https://www.sec.gov/files/US-Credit-Markets\_COVID-19\_Report.pdf; Financial Stability Report, Federal Reserve Board (Nov. 2020), available at https://www.federalreserve.gov/ publications/files/financial-stability-report-20201109.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> See supra footnote 143.

<sup>149</sup> Item A of section 3 of Form PF collects certain information for each liquidity fund the adviser manages, such as information regarding the fund's portfolio valuation methodology. This item also requires information regarding whether the fund, as a matter of policy, is managed in compliance with certain provisions of rule 2a-7 under the Investment Company Act. Item B requires the adviser to report information regarding the fund's assets, while Item C requires the adviser to report information regarding the fund's borrowings. Finally, Item D asks for certain information regarding the fund's investors, including the concentration of the fund's investor base and the liquidity of its ownership interests. See Form PF.

 $<sup>^{150}\,</sup>See\,supra$  footnote 108.

<sup>151</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> See supra footnote 131. See also Hedge Funds, Securities and Exchange Commission (Investor.gov: Private Equity Funds), available at https:// www.investor.gov/introduction-investing/investingbasics/investment-products/private-investmentfunds/hedge-funds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> See supra footnotes 108, 152.

<sup>154</sup> Id

<sup>155</sup> See supra footnote 2.

amendments include improvements to guidelines, definitions, and existing questions aimed to reduce their ambiguity and improve data quality. Below we discuss benefits associated with the specific elements of the proposed amendments.

a. Current Reporting Requirements for Large Hedge Fund Advisers to Qualifying Hedge Funds (Section 5 of Form PF)

The proposal introduces new section 5 of Form PF requiring large hedge fund advisers to qualifying hedge funds (i.e., hedge funds with a net asset value of at least \$500 million) to file a current report with the Commission when their funds experience certain stress events: (1) Extraordinary investment losses, (2) certain margin events and counterparty defaults, (3) material changes in prime broker relationships, (4) changes in unencumbered cash, (5) operations events, and (6) certain events associated with withdrawals and redemptions at the reporting hedge fund. 156 These events may serve as signals to the Commission and FSOC about significant stress at the reporting fund and potential risks to financial stability. Advisers would be required to file current reports within one business day of the occurrence of such an event. 157

The reporting of these stress events is designed to assist the Commission and FSOC in assessing potential risks to financial stability that hedge funds' activities could pose due to the complexity of their strategies, their interconnectedness in the financial system, and the limited regulations governing them. 158 There are two main channels through which stress events at an individual hedge fund may pose risks to broader financial stability: Forced liquidation of assets, which could depress asset prices, and spillover of stress to the fund's counterparties, which could negatively impact other activities of the counterparties.

First, when a large hedge fund experiences significant losses, a margin default, or faces large redemptions, it may be forced to deleverage and liquidate its positions at substantially depressed prices. Forced liquidation of assets by the hedge fund at depressed prices may affect other investors and financial institutions holding the same or similar assets. 159 Consequently, more

investors and financial institutions may then face increased stress from margin calls and creditor concerns. This could lead to more sales at depressed prices, potentially causing stress across the entire financial system. Second, large hedge funds that use leverage through loans, derivatives, or repurchase agreements with other financial institutions as counterparties may cause significant problems at those financial institutions in times of stress. $^{160}$  This in turn may force those institutions to scale back their lending efforts and other investment and financing activities with other counterparties, thereby potentially creating stress for other market participants. 161

As a result, a stress event at one large hedge fund may potentially spill over to the fund's lenders, counterparties, and across the entire financial system, carrying with it significant economic costs and the loss of confidence of investors. We believe that a timely notice about stress events could provide an early warning of the fund's assets liquidation and risk to counterparties.

at depressed prices, forced liquidations at depressed prices could lead to lower valuations for entire classes of similar assets. See, e.g., Andrei Shleifer and Robert Vishny, Fire Sales in Finance and Macroeconomics, 25 (1) Journal of Economic Perspectives 29-48 (2011), available at https:// pubs.aeaweb.org/doi/pdfplus/10.1257/jep.25.1.29. See also Fernando Duarte and Thomas Eisenbach, Fire-Sale Spillovers and Systemic Risk, 76 (3) The Journal of Finance 1251–1294, 1251–1256 (Feb. , 2021), available at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/full/10.1111/jofi.13010; Wulf A. Kaal and Timothy A. Krause, Handbook on Hedge Funds: Hedge Funds and Systemic Risk, Oxford University Press 12-19 (2016), available at https:// papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id= 2748096 (retrieved from SSRN Elsevier database).

160 For example, a lender to a hedge fund may view its loans as increasingly high risk as the hedge fund's balance sheet deteriorates. See, e.g., Mark Gertler and Nobuhiro Kiyotaki, Chapter 11— Financial Intermediation and Credit Policy in Business Cycle Analysis, 3 Handbook of Monetary Economics 547–599 (2010), available at https://eml.berkeley.edu/~webfac/obstfeld/kiyotaki.pdf.

161 For example, if a bank has a large exposure to a hedge fund that defaults or operates in markets where prices are falling rapidly, the bank's greater exposure to risk may reduce its ability or willingness to extend credit to worthy borrowers. To the extent that these bank-dependent borrowers cannot access alternative sources of funding, their investment and economic activity could be curtailed. See, e.g., Reint Gropp, How Important Are Hedge Funds in a Crisis?, FRBSF Economic Letter (Apr. 14, 2014), available at https:// www.frbsf.org/economic-research/files/el2014-11.pdf. Even banks and financial institutions that are not directly harmed by the forced liquidation of assets by hedge funds may contribute to a system wide lending contraction in response to hedge fund crises, to the extent they withdraw capital from lending to exploit distressed prices. See, e.g., Jeremy Stein, The Fire-Sales Problem and Securities Financing Transactions, Workshop on 'Fire Sales as a Driver of Systemic Risk in Tri-Party Repo and Other Secured Funding Markets, Federal Reserve Bank of New York (Oct. 4, 2013), available at https://www.bis.org/review/r131007d.pdf.

Such a timely notice could allow the Commission and FSOC to assess the need for regulatory policy, and could allow the Commission to pursue potential outreach, examinations, or investigations, in response to any harm to investors or potential risks to financial stability on an expedited basis before they worsen.

In addition, current reporting of stress events at multiple qualifying hedge funds may indicate broader market instability with potential risks for similarly situated funds, or markets in which these funds invest. Current reports would allow the Commission and FSOC to assess the prevalence of the reported stress events based on the number of funds filing in a short time frame, and identify patterns among similarly situated funds and common factors that contributed to the reported stress events. In that regard, current reports would be especially useful during periods of market volatility and stress, when the Commission and FSOC are actively and quickly ascertaining the affected funds, gathering information to assess systemic risk, and determining whether and how to pursue regulatory responses, and when the Commission is actively determining whether and how to pursue outreach, examinations, or investigations.

We anticipate that the proposed current reporting requirement would improve the transparency to the Commission and FSOC of hedge fund activities and risk exposures, which would enhance systemic risk assessment and investor protection efforts. We believe that those efforts would be beneficial for hedge fund advisers, hedge funds, and hedge fund investors, as well as for other market participants, as the new and timely information about stress events at hedge funds would help the Commission and FSOC to address emerging risk events proactively with regulatory responses, and would help the Commission further evaluate the need for outreach, examinations, or investigations, in order to minimize market disruptions doing so, the Commission and FSOC may further advance investor protection efforts. In turn, this could help develop robust resolution mechanisms for dealing with the stress at systemically important hedge funds, which could lead to more resilient financial markets and instill stronger investor confidence in the U.S. hedge fund industry and financial markets more broadly. 162

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> See supra section II.A.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> As discussed above, advisers should consider filing a current report as soon as possible following such an event. *See supra* section II.A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> See supra section II.A.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> For example, because financial institutions base asset valuations in part on recent transaction prices for comparable assets, when assets are sold

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> See, e.g., Jón Daníelsson, Ashley Taylor, and Jean-Pierre Zigrand, Highwaymen or Heroes: Should Hedge Funds Be Regulated? A Survey, 1 (4) Journal of Financial Stability, 522–543 (2005),

We also anticipate that the proposed current reporting requirements might incentivize some hedge fund managers to enhance internal risk controls and reporting, which could support more effective risk management for these funds. <sup>163</sup> To the extent these enhanced internal risk controls and reporting improve managers' ability to monitor and respond to potential stress events, we believe this could provide marketwide benefits to funds, their investors, and financial markets more broadly.

Furthermore, requiring hedge fund advisers to report stress events on Form PF would support regulatory efficiency because all eligible hedge fund advisers would be required to file information about certain stress events on a standardized form. This would provide a more complete record of significant stress events in the hedge fund industry that can be used by the Commission and FSOC for background research to identify regulatory tools and mechanisms that could potentially be used to make future systemic crises episodes both less likely to occur as well as less costly and damaging when they do occur. 164 The observations from this research could help inform and frame regulatory responses to future market events and policymaking.

b. Current Reporting Requirements for Advisers to Private Equity Funds (Section 6 of Form PF)

The proposal introduces new section 6 of Form PF requiring all advisers of private equity funds (irrespective of a fund's size) to file a current report with the Commission within one business day of the occurrence of a certain significant event at one or more funds that they manage: (1) Execution of an adviser-led secondary transaction, (2) implementation of a general partner or limited partner clawback, and (3) removal of a fund's general partner, termination of a fund's investment

available at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1572308905000306.

period, or termination of a fund. 165
These events may signal to the
Commission and FSOC the presence of
significant developments at the
reporting funds and potential risks to
broader financial markets, as well as
indicate potential areas for the
Commission to pursue outreach,
examinations, and investigations
designed to prevent investor harm and
protect investors' interests.

Although private equity funds have become an essential part of the U.S. financial system, 166 there is only partial and insufficient information about their governance, strategies, and performance available to regulators. Currently, all private equity advisers (that have at least \$150 million of private fund assets under management) file Form PF annually, within 120 calendar days of the end of their fiscal year, which can lead to meaningful delays in reporting significant events to the Commission and staleness of certain information about their activities. Furthermore, because private equity investments are mostly in private companies and businesses, there is limited information available on the interim performance of these investments and, therefore, on the interim performance and volatility of private equity funds. 167 As a result, significant events at private equity funds that could have negative consequences for the fund's investors and other financial market participants—such as significant losses, removal of the fund's general partner, and fund reorganizations and recapitalizations—may not be known to the Commission or FSOC, preventing any possible regulatory response, outreach, examinations, or investigations that could further investor protection for considerable periods of time.

The proposed current reporting for private equity advisers would provide an alert to the Commission and FSOC on significant developments at the

reporting funds that could potentially cause investor harm and loss of investor confidence. Such alerts would enable the Commission and FSOC to assess the severity of the reported events at the reporting private equity fund and, to the extent the reported event may cause significant investor harm and loss of investor confidence, these alerts would allow the Commission and FSOC to frame potential regulatory responses. For example, an implementation of a limited partner clawback 168 may signal that the fund is planning for a material event such as substantial litigation or a legal judgment that could negatively impact the fund's investors and potentially other market participants.

The Commission could also use the information provided in section 6 to target its examination program more efficiently and effectively and better identify areas in need of regulatory oversight and assessment, which should increase both the efficiency and effectiveness of its programs and, thus, increase investor protection. For example, the removal of a fund's general partner, termination of a fund's investment period, or termination of a fund 169 could lead to the liquidation of the fund earlier than anticipated, which could present risks to investors and potentially certain markets in which the fund assets were invested. A report about an adviser-led secondary transaction 170 is another example of an event that may signal to the Commission a potential area for inquiry to prevent investor harm and protect investors' interests, as such transactions may present fund-level conflicts of interest, such as those that arise because the adviser (or its related person) is on both sides of the transaction in adviser-led secondary transactions with potentially different economic incentives. Current reporting about such events could alert the Commission to specific investor protection issues at the fund and the fund's adviser, including potential conflicts of interest, and therefore merit timely and targeted oversight and assessment.

In addition, current reporting of significant events at multiple private equity funds may indicate broader market instability that negatively affects similarly situated funds, or markets in which these funds invest in. For example, widespread implementation of general partner clawbacks <sup>171</sup> among private equity funds may be a sign of an emerging market-wide stress episode or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> For example, fund advisers may not internalize all of the benefits that enhanced risk reporting provides other fund advisers and investors to other fund advisers. Current reporting requirements may result in reporting practices that are more consistent with fund advisers considering the impact of their internal risk reporting on the broader market.

<sup>164</sup> For instance, a more complete record would allow the staff to more accurately assess the prevalence of the reported stress events, identify patterns among affected funds, and detect factors that contributed to the reported stress events. The observations from this research could be used to identify causes for and implications of possible future similar stress events, or causes of and implications for investor harm, thus enabling the Commission and FSOC to respond quickly to such future events.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> See supra section II.A.2. As discussed above, advisers should consider filing a current report as soon as possible following such an event. See supra section II.A.

 $<sup>^{166}\,</sup>See\,supra$  section II.B.

<sup>167</sup> Even when the updated valuations of private equity portfolio companies are available, these valuations may appear relatively uninformative as they tend to respond slowly to market information and could be artificially smoothed. See Tim Jenkinson, Miguel Sousa, and Rüdiger Stucke, How Fair are the Valuations of Private Equity Funds? SSRN Electronic Journal (Feb. 2013), available at https://www.psers.pa.gov/About/Investment/Documents/PPMAIRC%202018/27%20How%20 Fair%20are%20the%20Valuations%20of%20 Private%20Equity%20Funds.pdf; Robert Harris, Tim Jenkinson, and Steven Kaplan, Private Equity Performance: What Do We Know?, 69 (5) The Journal of Finance 1851–1882 (Mar. 27, 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> See supra section II.A.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> *Id*.

<sup>170</sup> Id.

<sup>171</sup> Id.

worsening of economic conditions contributing to the underperformance of the funds' portfolio companies. Also, multiple reports about adviser-led secondary transactions 172 such as a fund reorganization may serve as an early warning to the Commission and FSOC about deteriorating market conditions that may prevent private equity managers from utilizing more traditional ways to exit their portfolio companies and realize gains. 173 Current reports would allow the Commission and FSOC to assess the prevalence of the reported events in the private equity space and identify patterns among similarly situated funds and common factors that contributed to the reported events.

We anticipate that the improved transparency of private equity fund activities as a result of the proposed current reporting requirements to the Commission and FSOC would enhance regulatory systemic risk assessment and investor protection efforts. We expect that those efforts would be beneficial for private equity advisers, private equity funds, and private equity fund investors, as well as for other market participants, as the new and timely information about significant events at private equity funds would help the Commission and FSOC to address proactively emerging risk events with appropriate regulatory policy, thereby minimizing market disruptions and limiting potential damages and costs associated with them. Further, collected data on significant events at private equity funds would enable the Commission and FSOC to perform background research to identify private equity trends and areas prone to potential systemic risk and investor protection concerns. The observations from this research could potentially inform and frame regulatory responses

to future market events and policymaking.

Finally, similar to the effect of the proposed current reporting on qualifying hedge funds, we anticipate that the proposed current reporting requirements for private equity advisers might incentivize some managers to enhance internal risk controls and reporting. <sup>174</sup> To the extent these enhanced internal risk controls and reporting improve managers' ability to monitor and respond to potential stress events, we believe this could provide market-wide benefits to funds, their investors, and financial markets more broadly.

c. Amendments To Require Additional Reporting by Large Private Equity Advisers (Section 4 of Form PF)

The proposed amendments to section 4 of Form PF include requirements for additional and more granular information that large private equity advisers must provide regarding their activities, risk exposures, and counterparties on an annual basis. 175 The proposal would also lower the reporting threshold for the advisers required to complete section 4 of Form PF. 176

i. Lowering the Reporting Threshold for Large Private Equity Advisers

The proposed amendments would expand the universe of large private equity advisers required to complete section 4 of Form PF to include advisers with at least \$1.5 billion in private equity assets under management.<sup>177</sup> The new size threshold is designed to ensure continuity of the originally envisioned reporting coverage of the private equity funds industry.

As discussed above, when Form PF was adopted in 2011, the \$2 billion reporting threshold for large private equity advisers captured 75 percent of the U.S. private equity industry's assets under management. 178 The threshold was established to balance regulators need for a broad, representative set of data regarding the private fund industry with the desire to limit the potential burdens of private funds' reporting. 179 However, the \$2 billion reporting threshold currently only captures 67 percent of the private equity industry. 180 Such reduced coverage could potentially impede regulators' ability to obtain a representative picture

The proposed reduction in the reporting threshold for large private equity advisers maintains the originally intended coverage of 75 percent of private equity assets in today's market.<sup>181</sup> Having a robust data set for analysis is important for both identifying potential investor protection issues as well as for assessing systemic risk. By maintaining a constant reporting coverage of private equity funds, this proposed amendment may ultimately lead to an improved understanding of the trends in the private equity industry by the Commission and FSOC and better informed regulatory policymaking and examinations functions.

The proposed \$1.5 billion reporting threshold for private equity advisers would also match the reporting threshold for large hedge fund advisers,182 thereby eliminating a loophole that advisers with between \$1.5 billion and \$2 billion in hedge fund assets under management may avoid providing detailed data on their hedge funds on a quarterly basis by classifying those funds as private equity funds instead. As the distinctions between hedge funds and private equity become less evident,183 it would be prudent to harmonize the reporting thresholds for large hedge fund and private equity fund advisers. This would make data collected on Form PF for the two categories of funds more comparable and may improve regulatory assessment of the trends and systemic risks in the private fund industry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> For example, private equity exits have been adversely affected by the global Covid-19 pandemic as the three traditional ways for private equity advisers to exit portfolio companies—trade sales, secondary buy-outs and initial public offerings ("IPOs")—became unattainable or unattractive for some advisers. See, e.g., Alastair Green, Ari Oxman, and Laurens Seghers, Preparing for Private-Equity Exits in the COVID-19 Era, Private Equity & Principal Investors Insights, McKinsey & Company (June 11, 2020), available at https:// www.mckinsey.com/industries/private-equity-andprincipal-investors/our-insights/preparing-forprivate-equity-exits-in-the-covid-19-era. Conversely, during the same period, there was an increase in the adviser-led secondary transactions. See, e.g., Nicola Chapman, Martin Forbes, Colin Harley, and Sherri Snelson, Private Equity Turns to Fund Restructurings in COVID-19 Slowdown, Debt Explorer, White & Case (Feb. 8, 2021), available at https://debtexplorer.whitecase.com/leveragedfinance-commentary/private-equity-turns-to-fundrestructurings-in-covid-19-slowdown#!.

of the private fund industry and lead to misleading conclusions regarding emerging industry trends and characteristics. For instance, the activities of private fund advisers may differ significantly depending on their size because some strategies such as the use of leverage may be practical only at certain scales. As a result, reduced reporting coverage—caused by an increase in the number of smaller advisers—may hinder regulators from detecting certain new trends and group behaviors among smaller private fund advisers with potential systemic consequences. By adjusting the threshold to maintain comparable coverage of the industry over time, analysis of emerging industry trends and characteristics yields more accurate pictures of the private fund industry.

 $<sup>^{174}\,</sup>See\,supra$  section III.C.1.a.

 $<sup>^{175}\,</sup>See\,supra$  section II.B.2.

<sup>176</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Id.

<sup>178</sup> See supra section I.A.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> See supra footnote 139.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> See supra section I.A.1.

 $<sup>^{181}</sup>$  See supra section I.A.1.

 $<sup>^{182}\,</sup> See \, supra \,$  footnote 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> See, e.g., Joshua Franklin and Laurence Fletcher, Hedge Funds Muscle in to Silicon Valley With Private Deals, Financial Times (Sept. 9, 2021), available at https://www.ft.com/content/4935b205-8344-465a-8edf-dc23ec990302.

ii. Requirements for Additional and More Granular Information for Large Private Equity Advisers

The proposed amendments to section 4 of Form PF would revise how large private equity advisers report on fund investment strategies, restructuring/recapitalization of portfolio companies, investments in different levels of a single portfolio company's capital structure by related funds, fund-level borrowings, financing of portfolio companies, and risk profiles of controlled portfolio companies and fund exposures to these risks. 184

The proposed amendments would further improve the transparency of private equity fund activities and risks to the Commission and FSOC and help in developing a more complete picture of the markets where private equity funds operate. In turn, this would enhance the Commission's and FSOC's ability to assess potential systemic risks presented by private equity funds, as well as the potential for loss of investor confidence should conflicts of interest in private equity funds materialize. Specifically, new and more granular information about private equity funds would assist regulators in understanding the diversity of and trends in investment and financing strategies employed by private equity funds,185 their uses and sources of leverage,186 the risk profiles of portfolio companies controlled by private equity fund advisers and funds' exposures to these risks, 187 funds' exposure to

changes in interest rates, <sup>188</sup> as well as to risks from outside the U.S. <sup>189</sup>

We also expect that some new and more granular information would be beneficial for the Commission's investor protection efforts. For instance, the proposed amendments include a series of new questions designed to identify potential conflicts of interest. These include questions asking advisers to provide a breakdown of each fund's investments in different levels of a single portfolio company's capital structure (e.g., equity versus debt),190 which would reveal whether related funds of a single adviser invest in different levels of a portfolio company's capital structure, and therefore, may have conflicting interests.<sup>191</sup> Also, the proposal would ask advisers to report whether they or their funds have restructured or recapitalized a portfolio company, which may also involve conflicts of interest. 192 This information would enable the Commission to target its examination program more efficiently and effectively and better identify areas in need of regulatory oversight and market assessment to increase investor protection.

Overall, the proposed amendments to section 4 of Form PF would ultimately assist the Commission and FSOC in better identifying and addressing risks to U.S. financial stability and pursuing appropriate regulatory policy in response, and would further assist the Commission in determining the

potential need for outreach, examinations, and investigations, thereby enhancing efforts to protect investors and other market participants. We expect that the proposed new information about large private equity advisers and funds they manage would enable the Commission and FSOC to better anticipate and deal with potential risks to financial markets and investor harm associated with activities by large private equity funds. This could lead to more resilient financial markets and instill stronger investor confidence in the U.S. private equity industry and financial markets more broadly, which could facilitate additional capital formation.

d. Amendments To Require Additional Reporting by Large Liquidity Fund Advisers (Section 3 of Form PF)

The proposed amendments to section 3 of Form PF include requirements for additional and more granular information that large private liquidity funds would have to provide regarding their operational information and assets, as well as portfolio holdings, financing, and investor information. 193 The proposal also would add a new item concerning the disposition of portfolio securities.

The proposed amendments would improve the transparency of liquidity fund activities and risks and help the Commission and FSOC in developing a more complete picture of the short-term financing markets where liquidity funds operate. In turn, this would enhance the Commission's and FSOC's ability to assess the potential market and systemic risks presented by liquidity funds' activities. Specifically, the proposed additional and more granular information would enable the Commission and FSOC to better assess liquidity funds' asset turnover,194 liquidity management and secondary market activities,195 subscriptions and

 $<sup>^{\</sup>scriptscriptstyle{184}}\,See\,supra$  section II.B.2.

<sup>185</sup> The proposal introduces a new Question 68 that asks advisers to provide information about their private fund strategies by choosing from a mutually exclusive list of strategies, allocating the percent of capital deployed to each strategy, even if the categories do not precisely match the characterization of the reporting fund's strategies. If a reporting fund engages in multiple strategies, the adviser would provide a good faith estimate of the percentage the reporting fund's deployed capital represented by each strategy. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup>The proposal introduces several new questions, including: New Question 72 asking advisers to report whether a reporting private equity fund borrows, or if it has the ability to borrow at the fund-level as an alternative or complement to the financing of portfolio companies; new Question 74 asking an adviser to report whether it, or any of its related persons, provides financing or otherwise extends credit to any portfolio company in which the reporting fund invests, so as to quantify the value of such financing or other extension of credit; and amendments to existing Question 75, which requires reporting on the identity of the institutions providing bridge financing to the adviser's CPCs and the amount of such financing), to add additional counterparty identifying information (i.e., LEI (if any) and if the counterparty is affiliated with a major financial institution, the name of the financial institution). Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> The proposal introduces new Question 67, which asks an adviser to report how many CPCs a reporting private equity fund owns. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> The proposal introduces new Question 82, which asks advisers to report what percentage of the aggregate borrowings of a reporting private equity fund's controlled portfolio companies is at a floating rate rather than a fixed rate. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> The proposal amends existing Question 78, which asks advisers to report the geographical breakdown of investments by private equity funds. The new requirement asks for a private equity fund's greatest country exposures based a percent of net asset value. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> The proposal introduces new Question 71, which asks an adviser to indicate whether the reporting fund held an investment in one class, series, or type of securities (e.g., debt, equity, etc.) of a portfolio company while another fund advised by the adviser or its related persons concurrently held an investment in a different class, series or type of securities (e.g., debt, equity, etc.) of the same portfolio company. If the answer is yes, Question 71 asks an adviser to provide the name of the portfolio company and a description of class, series or type of securities held. *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup>For example, an adviser may have two advised funds invested in different levels of a portfolio company's capital structure, with one fund managing outside capital, while the other manages solely internal capital of the adviser's owners/employees. See supra footnote 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> The proposal introduces new Question 70, which asks an adviser to indicate whether a portfolio company was restructured or recapitalized following the reporting fund's investment period. If the company was restructured or recapitalized, Question 70 asks the adviser, to provide the name of the portfolio company and the effective date of the restructuring. See supra section II.B.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> See supra section II.C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> The proposal includes amendments to existing Question 63, which asks advisers to provide information separately for the initial acquisition of each security the liquidity fund holds and any subsequent acquisitions. Question 63 also asks advisers to provide additional identifying information about each portfolio security, including the name of the counterparty of a repo. See supra section II.C; see also infra footnote 204.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> The proposal introduces new Item F (Disposition of Portfolio Securities), which asks advisers to report information about the portfolio securities that the liquidity fund sold or disposed of during the reporting period (not including portfolio securities that the fund held until maturity). Advisers would report the amount as well as the category of investment. See supra section II.C.

redemptions,<sup>196</sup> and ownership type and concentration. 197 This information can be used to analyze funds' liquidity and susceptibility of funds with specific characteristics to the risks of runs, which have a potential to cause systemic risk concerns. 198 In addition, the information can be used for identifying trends in the liquidity funds industry during normal market conditions and for assessing deviations from those trends that could potentially serve as signals for changes in the shortterm funding markets. Also, some proposed amendments 199 to section 3 of Form PF would improve comparability of data across liquidity funds and money market funds so that regulators can use data on both types of funds for oversight and assessment of short termfinancing markets and their participants.

These additional tools and data would enable the Commission and FSOC to better anticipate and deal with potential systemic and investor harm risks associated with activities in the liquidity funds industry and overall markets for short-term financing. This could lead to more resilient financial markets and instill stronger investor confidence in the U.S. markets for short-

<sup>196</sup> The proposal includes new Question 54, which asks advisers to provide the total gross subscriptions (including dividend reinvestments) and the total gross redemptions for each month of the reporting period. As discussed above, this would include removing current Question 54, which concerns the liquidity fund's policy of complying with certain provisions of rule 2a–7. *Id.* 

197 The proposal introduces new Question 58, which asks advisers to report whether the liquidity fund is established as a cash management vehicle for other funds or accounts that the adviser or the adviser's affiliates manage (that are not themselves cash management vehicles). The proposal also amends existing Question 59 by asking advisers to provide, for each investor that beneficially owns five percent or more of the reporting fund's equity, (1) the type of investor and (2) the percent of the reporting fund's equity owned by the investor. *Id.* 

<sup>198</sup>Runs on liquidity in markets for short-term financing have the potential to increase systemic risk and instability, as funds may be forced to sell assets at depressed prices in order to continue providing liquidity. *See, e.g., supra* footnote 147.

<sup>199</sup>The proposal clarifies that the term ''weekly liquid assets" includes "daily liquid assets" in existing Question 53. The proposal amends categories in existing Question 56 that now asks advisers to indicate whether a creditor is based in the United States and whether it is a "U.S. depository institution," rather than asking if the creditor is a "U.S. financial institution." These amendments will make these categories more consistent with the categories the Federal Reserve Board uses in its reports and analysis. The proposal also revises the Form PF glossary definition of "WAM" and "WAL" to include an instruction to calculate them with the dollar-weighted average based on the percentage of each security's market value in the portfolio. This revision will help ensure advisers calculate WAM and WAL, which can indicate potential risk in the market using a consistent approach. Id.

term financing, which could facilitate additional capital formation.

# e. Amendments to Guidelines, Definitions, and Existing Questions

In addition to the amendments requiring additional and more granular information about specific types of private funds and advisers, the proposal also includes clarifications and improvements to guidelines, definitions, and existing questions aimed to reduce their ambiguity and improve data quality. <sup>200</sup> We believe that these amendments would reduce uncertainty among filers and reduce filing errors, thereby improving efficiencies for both regulators and advisers.

Specifically, the proposed amendments would address certain concerns that private fund advisers indicated regarding the ambiguities and inefficiencies that currently exist in the reporting requirements, including understanding the definitions and instructions in Form PF and the ease of interpreting Form PF questions, which contributed to an increased amount of time and effort required to prepare and submit Form PF.<sup>201</sup> We believe that, as a result of the proposed changes aimed at reducing these ambiguities and inefficiencies, advisers would face lower costs associated with the preparation and submission of Form PF.

We also expect that the proposed amendments would address the Commission's and FSOC's concerns regarding the quality and reliability of Form PF data and reduce time and effort required to process and analyze the data. Staff experience with data collected from Form PF over the past decade has revealed inconsistencies and errors in the advisers' answers to certain questions, which undermines the quality, accuracy, and comparability of

the collected data. The proposed amendments to existing questions, definitions, and form instructions in Form PF would result in less erroneous and more reliable data collected through Form PF and would lower the costs to regulators associated with processing and understanding this data. The more reliable data collected through Form PF would assist regulators in better identifying and addressing risks to U.S. financial stability, potentially furthering efforts to protect investors and other market participants.

#### 2. Costs

The proposed amendments to Form PF would lead to certain additional costs for private fund advisers. Any portion of these costs that is not borne by advisers would ultimately be passed on to private funds' investors. These costs would vary depending on the scope of the required information and the frequency of the reporting, which is determined based on the size and types of funds managed by the adviser. For the proposed current reporting requirements, the costs would also vary depending on whether funds experience a reporting event and the frequency of those events. Generally, the costs would be lower for private fund advisers that manage fewer private fund assets or that do not manage types of private funds that may be more prone to financial stress events. These costs are quantified, to the extent possible, by examination of the analysis in section IV.C.<sup>202</sup>

We anticipate that the costs to advisers would be comprised of both direct compliance costs and indirect costs. Direct costs for advisers would consist of internal costs (for compliance attorneys and other non-legal staff of an adviser, such as computer programmers, to prepare and review the required disclosure) and external costs (including filing fees as well as any costs associated with outsourcing all or a portion of the Form PF reporting responsibilities to a filing agent, software consultant, or other third-party service provider).<sup>203</sup>

We believe that the direct costs associated with the proposed amendments would be most significant for the first updated Form PF report that

<sup>200</sup> For example, as discussed above, the proposal clarifies the terms "weekly liquid asset" and "U.S. financial institution," while providing instructions for calculating "WAM" and "WAL." See supra footnote 199. The proposal also removes Questions 52 and 53, which require reporting whether the liquidity fund uses certain methodologies to compute its net asset value, and instead requires advisers to report whether the liquidity fund seeks to maintain a stable price per share. If it does, advisers are required to provide the price it seeks to maintain. Large liquidity fund advisers are also required to both report cash separately from other categories when reporting assets and portfolio information concerning repo collateral, and to name the counterparty of each repo. Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> For example, one survey identified the following advisers' concerns regarding Form PF: (1) The ambiguity of some questions on Form PF; (2) the unclear definition of funds in Form PF; (3) the limitations of private fund advisers' existing reporting systems; and (4) the challenges in aggregating form PF data. See Wulf Kaal, Private Fund Disclosures Under the Dodd-Frank Act, 9(2) Brooklyn Journal of Corporate, Financial, and Commercial Law (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> A 2015 survey of SEC-registered investment advisers to private funds affirmed the Commission's cost estimates for smaller private fund advisers' Form PF compliance costs, and found that the Commission overestimated Form PF compliance costs for larger private fund advisers. See Wulf Kaal, Private Fund Disclosures Under the Dodd-Frank Act, 9(2) Brooklyn Journal of Corporate, Financial, and Commercial Law (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> See section IV.C (for an analysis of the direct costs associated with the new Form PF requirements for quarterly and annual filings).

a private fund adviser would be required to file because the adviser would need to familiarize itself with the new reporting form and may need to configure its systems to efficiently gather the required information. In addition, we believe that some large private fund advisers will find it efficient to automate some portion of the reporting process, which will increase the burden of the initial filing. In subsequent reporting periods, we anticipate that filers would incur significantly lower costs because much of the work involved in the initial report is non-recurring and because of efficiencies realized from system configuration and reporting automation efforts accounted for in the initial reporting period. This is consistent with the results of a survey of private fund advisers, finding that the majority of respondents identified the cost of subsequent annual Form PF filings at about half of the initial filing cost.204

We anticipate that the proposed amendments aimed at improving data quality and comparability would impose limited direct costs on advisers given that advisers already accommodate similar requirements in their current Form PF and Form ADV reporting and can utilize their existing capabilities for preparing and submitting an updated Form PF. We expect that most of the costs would arise from the proposed requirements to report additional and more granular information on Form PF and new current reporting requirements for advisers to qualifying hedge funds and private equity funds. For existing section 3 and 4 filers, the direct costs associated with the proposed amendments to sections 3 and 4 would mainly include an initial cost to set up a system for collecting, verifying additional more granular information, and limited ongoing costs associated with periodic reporting of this additional information.<sup>205</sup> The initial

costs will be higher for the private equity advisers with assets under management between \$1.5 billion and \$2 billion that will be required to complete section 4 under the new proposed reporting threshold.<sup>206</sup>

As discussed in the benefits section, we believe that part of the costs to advisers arising from the proposed amendments would be mitigated by the cost savings resulting from reduced ambiguities and inefficiencies that currently exist in the reporting requirements, as this may reduce the amount of time and effort required for some advisers to prepare and submit Form PF information.

The direct costs associated with the proposed new current reporting requirements for the advisers of qualifying hedge funds and private equity funds would include initial costs required to set up a system for monitoring significant events that are subject to the current reporting requirement as well as filing fees (the amount of which would be determined by the Commission in a separate action).<sup>207</sup> We anticipate these initial costs to be limited because the current report triggers were tailored and designed not to be overly burdensome and to allow advisers to use existing risk management frameworks that they already maintain to actively assess and manage risk. In particular, advisers would use the same PFRD non-public filing system as used to file the rest of Form PF.<sup>208</sup> The subsequent compliance costs would depend on the occurrence of the reporting events and frequency with which those events occur.<sup>209</sup> To

the extent that the reporting events occur infrequently, we anticipate the costs associated with the proposed current reporting requirement to be limited as advisers would not be required to file current reports in the absence of the events. For example, during periods of normal market activity we would expect relatively few filings for this part of Form PF. The costs associated with the proposed amendment, however, would increase with the frequency of stress events at the adviser's funds.

Indirect costs for advisers would include the costs associated with additional actions that advisers may decide to undertake in light of the additional reporting requirements. Specifically, to the extent that the proposed amendments provide an incentive for advisers to improve internal controls and devote additional time and resources to managing their risk exposures and enhancing investor protection, this may result in additional expenses for advisers, some of which may be passed on to the funds and their investors.<sup>210</sup>

Form PF collects confidential information about private funds and their trading strategies, and the inadvertent public disclosure of such competitively sensitive and proprietary information could adversely affect the funds and their investors. However, we anticipate that these adverse effects would be mitigated by certain aspects of the Form PF reporting requirements and controls and systems designed by the Commission for handling the data. For example, with the exception of select questions, such as those relating to restructurings/recapitalizations of portfolio companies and investments in different levels of the same portfolio company by funds advised by the adviser and its related person,<sup>211</sup> Form PF data generally could not, on its own, be used to identify individual investment positions. The Commission has controls and systems for the use and handling of the proposed modified and new Form PF data in a manner that reflects the sensitivity of the data and is consistent with the maintenance of its confidentiality. The Commission has substantial experience with the storage and use of nonpublic information reported on Form PF as well as other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> See Wulf Kaal, Private Fund Disclosures Under the Dodd-Frank Act, 9(2) *Brooklyn Journal of Corporate, Financial, and Commercial Law* (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Based on the analysis in section IV.C, direct internal compliance costs for existing section 3 filers associated with the preparation and reporting of additional and more granular information is estimated at \$544.5 per quarterly filing or \$2,178 annually per large liquidity fund adviser. This is calculated as the cost of filing under the proposal of \$20,022 minus the cost of filing prior to the proposal of \$19,477.5, where \$19,477.5 = \$29,216/ 105\*70 to incorporate the adjustment explained in footnote 9 to Table 7. See Table 7. Direct internal compliance costs for existing section 4 filers associated with the preparation and reporting of additional and more granular information is estimated at \$7,425 per annual filing per large private equity adviser. This is calculated as the cost of filing under the proposal of \$35,250 minus the

Table 7. It is estimated that there will be no additional direct external costs and no changes to filing fees associated with the proposed amendments to sections 3 and 4. See Table 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> Based on the analysis in section IV.C, initial costs for new section 4 filers is estimated at \$80,325 per annual filing per large private equity adviser, which is \$16,865 higher than the cost of initial filing prior to the proposal, which was estimated at \$63,460. See Table 6. In addition, new section 4 filers will be subject to a filing fee of \$150 per annual filing and an external cost burden ranging from \$0 to \$50,000 per adviser, which remains at the same level as before the proposal. See Table 10.

 $<sup>^{207}\,</sup>See\,supra$  section II.A.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Id.

 $<sup>^{209}\,\</sup>mathrm{Based}$  on the analysis in section IV.C, direct internal costs associated with the preparation and filing of current reports is estimated at \$3,538 per report for large hedge fund advisers and \$4,182 per report for private fund advisers. See Table 8. In addition, large hedge fund advisers will be subject to an external cost burden of \$992 per report associated with outside legal services and additional one-time cost ranging from \$0 to \$12,500, per adviser associated with system changes. See Table 11. Private equity advisers will be subject to an external cost burden of \$992 per report associated with outside legal service. Additionally, there will be a filing fee per current

report for both hedge fund and private equity fund advisers that is yet to be determined, as explained in footnote 1 to Table 11. See Table 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> As discussed above, the length of the reporting period is intended to mitigate costs associated with advisers needing to both respond to the reporting event and file the required current report. *See supra* section II.A.

 $<sup>^{211}</sup>$  See supra section II.B.2.

nonpublic information that the Commission handles in its course of business.

D. Effects on Efficiency, Competition, and Capital Formation

We anticipate that the increased ability for the Commission's and FSOC's oversight, resulting from the proposed amendments, would promote better functioning and more stable financial markets, which would lead to efficiency improvements. The additional, more granular, and timely data collected on the amended Form PF about private funds and advisers would help reduce uncertainty about risks in the U.S. financial system and inform and frame regulatory responses to future market events and policymaking. It would also help develop regulatory tools and mechanisms that could potentially be used to make future systemic crises episodes less likely to occur and less costly and damaging when they do occur.

Also, we believe that the proposed amendments would improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the Commission's and FSOC's oversight of private fund advisers by enabling them to manage and analyze information related to the risks posed by private funds more quickly, more efficiently, and more consistently than is currently possible. Private fund advisers' responses to new proposed questions would help the Commission and FSOC better understand the investment activities of private funds and the scope of their potential effect on investors and the U.S. financial markets.

We do not anticipate significant effects of the proposed amendments on competition in the private fund industry because the reported information generally would be nonpublic and similar types of advisers would have comparable burdens under the amended Form.

As discussed in the benefits sections, we expect the proposed amendments would enhance the Commission's and FSOC's systemic risk assessment and investor protection efforts, which could ultimately lead to more resilient financial markets and instill stronger investor confidence in the U.S. private fund industry and financial markets more broadly. We anticipate that these developments would make U.S. financial markets more attractive for investments and improve private fund advisers' ability to raise capital, thereby, facilitating capital formation.

- E. Reasonable Alternatives
- 1. Changing the Frequency of Current Reporting

As an alternative to current reporting for hedge fund and private equity fund advisers, we considered requiring advisers to report relevant information as part of the existing Form PF filing or on a scheduled basis, such as semiannually, quarterly, or monthly.

In general, these alternatives would provide the Commission and FSOC with the same information but at potentially greater cost to advisers and on a less timely basis. Specifically, we believe that neither of these alternative approaches would significantly reduce the cost burden to advisers compared to the proposed current reporting requirement, because advisers would still need to incur initial costs to set up a system for monitoring significant events that are subject to the proposed current reporting requirement. In the case of advisers who experience only a few reporting events per year, the alternative filing frequency for current reports could also increase subsequent reporting costs, as advisers would be required to file two, four, or twelve reports per year rather than one report upon the occurrence of each reporting event.

At the same time, delayed reporting about stress events at hedge funds and significant events at private equity funds would significantly reduce the Commission's and FSOC's ability to assess and frame timely responses to the emerging risks and limit potential market disruptions, damages, and costs associated with them.

2. Giving Current Report Filers More Time To Reply (Versus One Business Day)

We also considered an alternative to require hedge fund and private equity advisers to file current reports within a time period longer than one business day.

Although this alternative would provide more time to advisers to prepare and file the form, we do not anticipate that this would reduce the cost burden to advisers as compared to the proposed one-day reporting requirement. We believe that the proposed structures of sections 5 and 6 of Form PF are relatively simple and require advisers to flag the reporting event from a menu of available options and add straightforward explanatory notes about the events, which generally should not require considerable time to complete. Extending the reporting time period may increase internal costs to advisers to prepare and review the required

disclosure, to the extent a longer reporting time period indirectly signals to advisers a need for greater detail, thoroughness, or diligence.

On the other hand, due to the time sensitive nature of the reported events, additional reporting time would significantly reduce the Commission's and FSOC's ability to assess and frame timely responses to the emerging risks and limit potential market disruptions, damages and costs associated with them.

3. Alternative Reporting Thresholds for Current Reporting by Hedge Fund Advisers (Versus Just Large Hedge Fund Advisers to Qualifying Hedge Funds)

We considered an alternative to require all hedge fund advisers to file section 5 of Form PF upon occurrence of stress events at one of their hedge funds (irrespective of the fund size) instead of requiring this reporting from only large advisers to qualifying hedge funds. Although this information would be beneficial for the Commission and FSOC, as this would provide a more complete picture of the stress events in the hedge fund industry and allow better assessment of systemic risk and investor protection issues in the smaller hedge funds space, we believe that this benefit would be marginal as compared to the benefit of the information about qualifying hedge funds for two reasons. First, the hedge fund industry is dominated by qualifying hedge funds that currently account for approximately 81 percent of the industry's gross assets under management among filers of Form PF.<sup>212</sup> Therefore, the proposed current reporting requirement would cover stress events that affect a broad, representative set of assets in the hedge fund industry. Second, the proposed current reporting is designed to serve as a signal to the Commission and FSOC about systemically important stress events at hedge funds. Stress events at larger hedge funds are more likely to be systemically important due to their quantitatively important positions in a market and more extensive use of leverage. Overall, we believe at this time that requiring advisers to smaller hedge funds to file current reports would impose a significant burden on these smaller advisers and not significantly expand or improve the Commission's and FSOC's oversight and assessment of systemic risk efforts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> See supra footnote 129.

We also considered an alternative to increase the reporting threshold for hedge funds that would require a subgroup of the largest qualifying hedge funds to file current reports. Although this alternative would reduce the reporting burden at smaller qualifying hedge advisers, we believe that this would also reduce the benefit associated with the proposed current reporting. Specifically, we believe that this alternative would likely impede the Commission's and FSOC's ability to assess and respond to emerging industry risks, as this would reduce the scope of reported stress events to the events that affect the largest qualifying hedge funds. To the extent that largest qualifying hedge funds have a greater propensity to withstand deteriorating market conditions, the Commission and FSOC would have less visibility into the stress events that simultaneously affect smaller qualifying hedge funds that may indicate or have implications for systemic risk and investor protection concerns.

4. Requiring Fewer Private Equity Advisers To File Current Reports (by Introducing a Reporting Threshold)

We considered an alternative current reporting requirement for private equity advisers where only advisers to larger private equity funds would be required to file section 6 of form PF, *i.e.*, imposing a fund size threshold for current reporting.

Although this alternative would reduce the reporting burden at smaller private equity advisers, we believe that this would also reduce the benefit associated with the proposed current reporting. Specifically, one of the goals of the proposed current reporting for private equity funds is to provide the Commission with indicators of potential conflicts of interests and investor harm at the funds. This would enable the Commission to target its examination program more efficiently and effectively and better identify areas in need of regulatory oversight and market assessment to increase investor protection. The Commission's oversight of private equity advisers is not limited to the advisers of a certain size. Conflicts of interest and resulting investor harm may occur at private equity advisers of all sizes, and the Commission has brought a number of enforcement actions against smaller advisers in the past.213 In that regard,

current reports by smaller private equity advisers would be beneficial for the Commission's improved ability to protect investors in smaller funds.

We recognize that the costs associated with the proposed current reporting requirement may appear higher to smaller advisers as compared to larger advisers. However, as discussed in the costs section, we expect the reporting events to be relatively infrequent and, therefore, the costs associated with current reporting to be relatively low.

5. Changing the Reporting Events for Current Reporting by Hedge Fund Advisers

We also considered alternatives to which stress events should trigger current reporting for hedge fund advisers. Alternative reporting events include both different thresholds for how severe of a stress event triggers a current report, as well as different categories of stress events altogether, separate from those considered in the proposal. For example, a hedge fund reporting for proposed Item B would be triggered by a loss equal to or greater than 20 percent of a fund's most recent net asset value over a rolling 10 business day period,214 and this threshold could be revised to be triggered by a 10% loss, or a 30% loss, or any other threshold. As another alternative, and as discussed above, the threshold could instead compare losses against the volatility of the fund's returns.<sup>215</sup> Lastly, current reporting could alternatively be triggered by stress events besides those considered in this proposal. For example, hedge fund current reporting could be triggered by a large increase in the volatility of the fund's returns, even if that volatility does not result in investment losses.

In general, alternative triggers to current reporting requirements would either provide the Commission and FSOC with more information at a greater cost to advisers, less information at a lower cost to advisers, or an alternative metric for measuring the same stress event as the proposed reporting event. We believe that the thresholds as proposed would trigger reporting for relevant stress events for which we seek timely information while minimizing the potential for false positives and

multiple unnecessary current reports, but as discussed above we request suggestions and comments on each proposed reporting event.

6. Alternative Size Threshold for Section 4 Reporting by Large Private Equity Advisers

The proposed amendments to section 4 of form PF include a proposal to reduce the filing threshold for large private equity advisers from \$2 billion to \$1.5 billion. We also considered alternatives to reduce the reporting size threshold below \$1.5 billion or increase it above \$2 billion.

We believe that increasing the threshold for large private equity advisers above \$2 billion would likely impede the Commission's and FSOC's ability to a representative picture of the private fund industry and lead to misleading conclusions regarding emerging industry trends and characteristics, as this would reduce the coverage of private equity assets in today's market below 67 percent, which is already below the originally envisioned 75 percent coverage.<sup>216</sup>

On the other hand, reducing the current report size threshold below \$1.5 billion would be marginally beneficial for the Commission's and FSOC's risk oversight and assessment efforts as this would increase the representativeness of the sample of reporting advisers. Given that smaller private equity advisers and funds now account for a larger fraction of the industry than they did when the Form PF was originally adopted,<sup>217</sup> collecting more detailed information about these funds would help the Commission and FSOC to detect certain new trends and group behaviors with potential systemic consequences among these advisers and funds. However, this would also increase the number of advisers that would be categorized as large private equity advisers subject to the more detailed reporting and impose additional reporting burden on those advisers.

We think that the proposed new threshold of \$1.5 billion strikes an appropriate balance between obtaining information regarding a significant portion of the private equity industry for analysis while continuing to minimize the burden imposed on smaller advisers.

7. Alternatives to the New Section 3 and 4 Reporting Requirements for Large Private Equity and Liquidity Fund Advisers

The proposed amendments also include new questions and revisions to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> For example, in 2019 the Commission investigated Corinthian Capital Group, LLC for misuse of its assets under management. As of December 31, 2017, Corinthian managed \$270 million in assets. See, e.g., Administrative Proceeding, File No. 3–19159 (May 6, 2019),

available at https://www.sec.gov/litigation/admin/2019/ia-5229.pdf. Another example, in 2015 the Commission investigated Fenway Partners, LLC for potential conflicts of interest. As of April 29, 2015, Fenway Partners had \$445 million in assets under management. See, e.g., Administrative Proceeding, File No. 3–16938 (November 3, 2015), available at https://www.sec.gov/litigation/admin/2015/ia-4253.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> See supra section II.A.1.a.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> See supra footnotes 62–63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> See supra footnote 141.

existing questions in sections 3 and 4 for large private equity advisers and large liquidity fund advisers. The additional large private equity adviser revisions are designed to enhance the Commission's and FSOC's understanding of certain practices in the private equity industry and amend certain existing questions to improve data collection.<sup>218</sup> The additional large liquidity fund adviser revisions are designed to help us see a more complete picture of the short-term financing markets in which liquidity funds invest, and in turn, enhance the Commission and FSOC's ability to monitor and assess short-term financing markets and facilitate better regulatory oversight of those markets and their participants.219 We also considered alternatives to each of these sets of proposed amendments in the form of different choices of framing, level of detail requested, and precise information targeted. For example, for Question 68 of section 4, on reporting of private equity private credit strategies, we considered consolidating "Private Credit—Junior/Subordinated Debt," "Private Credit—Mezzanine Financing," "Private Credit—Senior Debt," and Private Credit—Senior Subordinated Debt" into the "Private Credit—Direct Lending/Mid Market Lending' category.<sup>220</sup> For the questions in section 3 on liquidity fund strategies to maintain a stable price per share, we considered maintaining the existing questions and adding the new proposed Question 52, which requires advisers to state directly whether the reporting fund seeks a stable price per share, instead of replacing existing questions with the new Question 52.<sup>221</sup> We believe that the amendments as proposed maximize data quality and enhance the usefulness of reported data, but as discussed above we request suggestions and comments on each proposed change.<sup>222</sup>

## F. Request for Comment

We request comment on all aspects of our economic analysis, including the potential costs and benefits of the proposed amendments and alternatives thereto, and whether the amendments, if we were to adopt them, would promote efficiency, competition, and capital formation. In addition, we request comments on our selection of data sources, empirical methodology, and the assumptions we have made throughout the analysis. Commenters are requested to provide empirical data, estimation methodologies, and other factual support for their views, in particular, on costs and benefits estimates. In addition, we request comment on:

119. Whether there are any additional costs and benefits associated with the proposed amendments to Form PF that should be considered? What additional materials and data should we consider for estimating these costs and benefits?

120. Whether our assumptions about costs associated with the proposal are accurate? For example, is it accurate to assume that the proposed reporting requirements would be less burdensome to advisers who are already accustomed to the PFRD filing system they use to file the rest of Form PF?

## IV. Paperwork Reduction Act

The proposal would revise an existing "collection of information" within the meaning of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 ("PRA"). $^{223}$  The SEC is submitting the collection of information to the Office of Management and Budget ("OMB") for review in accordance with the PRA.<sup>224</sup> The title for the collection of information is "Form PF and Rule 204(b)-1" (OMB Control Number 3235-0679), and includes both Form PF and rule 204(b)-1 ("the rules"). An agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB control number. Compliance with the information collection is mandatory.

The respondents are investment advisers who are (1) registered or required to be registered under Advisers Act section 203, (2) advise one or more private funds, and (3) managed private fund assets of at least \$150 million at the end of their most recently completed fiscal year (collectively, with their related persons).<sup>225</sup> Form PF divides respondents into groups based on their size and types of private funds they manage, requiring some groups to file more information more frequently than others. The types of respondents are (1) smaller private fund advisers (i.e., private fund advisers who do not qualify as a large private fund adviser), (2) large hedge fund advisers, (3) large liquidity fund advisers, and (4) large

private equity advisers.<sup>226</sup> As discussed more fully in section II above and as summarized in sections IV.A and IV.C below, the proposal would require current reporting for some groups, and would revise what some groups would file.

# A. Purpose and Use of the Information Collection

The rules implement provisions of Title IV of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act ("Dodd-Frank Act"), which amended the Advisers Act to require the SEC to, among other things, establish reporting requirements for advisers to private funds.227 The rules are intended to assist the FSOC in its monitoring obligations under the Dodd-Frank Act, but the SEC also may use information collected on Form PF in its regulatory programs, including examinations, investigations, and investor protection efforts relating to private fund advisers.228

The proposed amendments are designed to enhance FSOC's ability to monitor systemic risk as well as bolster the SEC's regulatory oversight of private fund advisers and investor protection efforts. The proposed amendments would do the following:

- Require large hedge fund advisers to file current reports upon certain reporting events, as discussed more fully in section II.A above;
- Require advisers to private equity funds to file current reports upon certain reporting events, as discussed more fully in section II.A above;
- Reduce the threshold to qualify as a large private equity adviser, as discussed more fully in section II.B above.
- Amend how large private equity advisers report information about the private equity funds they advise, as discussed more fully in section II.B above; and
- Amend how large liquidity fund advisers report information about the liquidity funds they advise, as discussed more fully in section II.C above.

 $<sup>^{218}\,</sup>See\,supra$  section II.B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> See supra section II.C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> See supra section II.B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> See supra section II.C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> See supra sections II.B to C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> 44 U.S.C. 3501 through 3521.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> 44 U.S.C. 3507(d); 5 CFR 1320.11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> See 17 CFR 275.204(b)-1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> See supra footnote 8 (discussing the definitions of large hedge fund advisers, large liquidity fund advisers, and large private equity advisers).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> See 15 U.S.C. 80b–4(b) and 15 U.S.C. 80b–

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> See 2011 Form PF Adopting Release, supra footnote 2.

The proposed current reporting requires advisers to report information upon reporting events, which could occur more or less than quarterly.<sup>229</sup> As discussed more fully in sections I and II, above, we are proposing the current reporting requirements so we and FSOC can receive more timely data to identify and respond to private funds that are facing stress that could result in investor harm or systemic risk.

## B. Confidentiality

Responses to the information collection will be kept confidential to the extent permitted by law.<sup>230</sup> Form PF elicits non-public information about private funds and their trading strategies, the public disclosure of which could adversely affect the funds and their investors. The SEC does not intend to make public Form PF information that is identifiable to any particular adviser or private fund, although the SEC may use Form PF information in an enforcement action and to assess potential systemic risk.231 SEC staff issues certain publications designed to inform the public of the private funds industry, all of which use

only aggregated or masked information to avoid potentially disclosing any proprietary information.<sup>232</sup> The Advisers Act precludes the SEC from being compelled to reveal Form PF information except (1) to Congress, upon an agreement of confidentiality, (2) to comply with a request for information from any other Federal department or agency or self-regulatory organization for purposes within the scope of its jurisdiction, or (3) to comply with an order of a court of the United States in an action brought by the United States or the SEC.<sup>233</sup> Any department, agency, or self-regulatory organization that receives Form PF information must maintain its confidentiality consistent with the level of confidentiality established for the SEC.<sup>234</sup> The Advisers Act requires the SEC to make Form PF information available to FSOC.235 For advisers that are also commodity pool operators or commodity trading advisers, filing Form PF through the Form PF filing system is filing with both the SEC and CFTC.<sup>236</sup> Therefore, the SEC makes Form PF information available to FSOC and the CFTC, pursuant to Advisers Act section

204(b), making the information subject to the confidentiality protections applicable to information required to be filed under that section. Before sharing any Form PF information, the SEC requires that any such department, agency, or self-regulatory organization represent to the SEC that it has in place controls designed to ensure the use and handling of Form PF information in a manner consistent with the protections required by the Advisers Act. The SEC has instituted procedures to protect the confidentiality of Form PF information in a manner consistent with the protections required in the Advisers Act.237

#### C. Burden Estimates

We are revising our total burden estimates to reflect the proposed amendments, updated data, and new methodology for certain estimates.<sup>238</sup> The tables below map out the Form PF requirements as they apply to each group of respondents and detail our burden estimates.

1. Proposed Form PF Requirements by Respondent

TABLE 1—PROPOSED FORM PF REQUIREMENTS BY RESPONDENT

Form PF	Smaller private fund advisers	Large hedge fund advisers	Large liquidity fund advisers	Large private equity advisers
Section 1a and section 1b (basic information about the adviser and the private funds it advises); No proposed revisions.	Annually	Quarterly	Quarterly	Annually.
Section 1c (additional information con- cerning hedge funds); No proposed re- visions.	Annually, if they advise hedge funds.	Quarterly	Quarterly, if they advise hedge funds.	Annually, if they advise hedge funds.
Section 2 (additional information con- cerning qualifying hedge funds); No proposed revisions.	No	Quarterly	No	No.
Section 3 (additional information con- cerning liquidity funds); Proposed revi- sions.	No	No	Quarterly	No.
Section 4 (additional information con- cerning private equity funds); Proposed revisions.	No	No	No	Annually.
Section 5 (current reporting concerning qualifying hedge funds); The proposal would add section 5.	No	Upon a reporting event	No	No.
Section 6 (current reporting for private equity advisers); The proposal would add section 6.	Upon a reporting event, if they advise private equity funds.	No	No	Upon a reporting event.
Section 7 (temporary hardship request); The proposal would make this available for current reporting.	Optional, if they qualify	Optional, if they qualify	Optional, if they qualify	Optional, if they qualify.

2. Annual Hour Burden Estimates Below are tables with annual hour burden estimates for (1) initial filings,

- (2) ongoing annual and quarterly filings,
- (3) current reporting, and (4) transition

filings, final filings, and temporary hardship requests.

BILLING CODE 8011-01-P

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> See 5 CFR 1320.5(d)(2)(i).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> See 5 CFR 1320.5(d)(2)(vii) and (viii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> See 15 U.S.C. 80b–10(c).

 $<sup>^{232}</sup>$  See e.g., Private Funds Statistics, issued by staff of the SEC Division of Investment Management's Analytics Office, which we have used in this PRA as a data source, available at

https://www.sec.gov/divisions/investment/private-funds-statistics.shtml.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> See 15 U.S.C. 80b-4(b)(8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> See 15 U.S.C. 80b-4(b)(9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> See 15 U.S.C. 80b-4(b)(7).

 $<sup>^{236}\,</sup>See$  2011 Form PF Adopting Release, supra footnote 2, at n.17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> See 5 CFR 1320.5(d)(2)(viii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> For the previously approved estimates, see ICR Reference No. 202011–3235–019 (conclusion date Apr. 1, 2021), available at https://www.reginfo.gov/public/do/PRAViewICR?ref\_nbr=202011-3235-019.

**Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings** 

Respondent <sup>1</sup>		Number of Respondents = Aggregate Number of Responses <sup>2</sup>	Hours Per Response <sup>3</sup>	Amorti	er Response zed Over 3 'ears <sup>4</sup>	Aggregate Hours Amortized Over 3 Years <sup>5</sup>
Smaller Private Fund Advisers	Requested	313 responses <sup>6</sup>	40 hours	÷ 3 =	13 hours	4,069 hours
	Previously Approved	272 responses	40 hours		23 hours	6,256 hours
	Change	41 responses	0 hours		(10) hour	(2,187) hours
Large Hedge Fund Advisers	Requested	14 responses <sup>7</sup>	325 hours	÷ 3 =	108 hours	1,512 hours
	Previously Approved	17 responses	325 hours		658 hours	11,186 hours
	Change	(3) responses	0 hours		(550) hours	(9,674) hours
Large Liquidity Fund Advisers	Requested	1 responses <sup>8</sup>	202 hours	÷ 3 =	67 hours	67 hours
	Previously Approved	2 responses	200 hours		588 hours	1,176 hours
	Change	(1) responses	2 hours		(521) hours	(1,109) hours
Large Private Equity Advisers	Requested	42 responses <sup>9</sup>	250 hours	÷ 3 =	83 hours	3,486 hours
	Previously Approved	9 responses	200 hours		133 hours	1,197 hours
	Change	33 responses	50 hours		(50) hours	2,289 hours

## Notes:

- 1. We expect that the hourly burden will be most significant for the initial report because the adviser will need to familiarize itself with the new reporting form and may need to configure its systems in order to efficiently gather the required information. In addition, we expect that some large private fund advisers will find it efficient to automate some portion of the reporting process, which will increase the burden of the initial filing but reduce the burden of subsequent filings.
- 2. This concerns the initial filing; therefore, we estimate one response per respondent. The proposed changes are due to using updated data to estimate the number of advisers. The proposed changes concerning large private equity advisers also are due to the proposed amendment to reduce the filing threshold.
- 3. Hours per response changes for large liquidity fund advisers and large private equity advisers are due to proposed amendments to sections 3 and 4, respectively.
- 4. We propose to amortize the initial time burden over three years because we believe that most of the burden would be incurred in the initial filing. We propose to use a different methodology to calculate the estimate than the methodology staff used for the previously approved burdens. We believe the previously approved burdens for initial filings inflated the estimates by using a methodology that included subsequent filings for the next two years, which, for annual filers, included 2 subsequent filings, and for quarterly filers, included 11 subsequent filings. For the requested burden, we propose to calculate the initial filing, as amortized over the next three years, by including only the hours related to the initial filing, not any subsequent filings. This approach is designed to more accurately estimate the initial burden, as amortized over three years. (For example, to estimate the previously approved burden for a large hedge fund adviser making its initial filing, staff estimated that the adviser would have an amortized average annual burden of 658 hours (1 initial filing x 325 hours + 11 subsequent filings (because it files quarterly) x 150 hours = 1,975 hours. 1,975 hours / 3 years = approximately 658 previously approved hours per response, amortized over three years).) Changes are due to using the revised methodology, and changes for the large liquidity fund advisers and large hedge fund advisers also are due to proposed amendments to section 3 and 4, respectively.
- 5. (Number of responses) x (hours per response amortized over three years) = aggregate hours amortized over three years. Changes are due to (1) using updated data to estimate the number of advisers and (2) the new methodology to estimate the hours per response, amortized over three years. For large liquidity fund advisers, changes also are due to proposed amendments to section 3. For large private equity advisers, changes also are due to the proposed amendments to lower the threshold and amend section 4.
- 6. Private Funds Statistics show 2,427 smaller private fund advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. Based on filing data from the last five years, an average of 12.9 percent of them did not file for the previous due date. (2,427 x 0.129 = 313 advisers.)
- 7. Private Funds Statistics show 545 large hedge fund advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. Based on filing data from the last five years, an average of 2.6 percent of them did not file for the previous due date.  $(545 \times 0.026 = 14.17)$  advisers, rounded to 14 advisers.)
- 8. Private Funds Statistics show 23 large liquidity fund advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. Based on filing data from the last five years, an average of 1.5 percent of them did not file for the previous due date. (23 x 0.015 = 0.345 advisers, rounded up to 1 adviser.)
- 9. Private Funds Statistics show 364 large private equity advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. Based on filing data from the last five years, an average of 3.5 percent of them did not file for the previous due date. (364 x 0.035 = 12.74 advisers, rounded to 13 advisers.) As discussed in section II.B, we estimate that reducing the filing threshold for large private equity advisers would capture eight percent more of the U.S. private equity industry based on committed capital (from 67 percent to 75 percent of the U.S. private equity industry). Therefore, we propose to estimate the number of large private equity advisers would increase by eight percent, as a result of the proposed threshold. ((364 large private equity advisers x 0.08 = 29.12, rounded to 29 additional large private equity advisers filing for the first time as a result of the proposed threshold) + (13 advisers) = 42 advisers.).)

Table 3: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Ongoing Annual and Quarterly Filings

Respondent	1	Number of Respondents <sup>2</sup>	Nui	mber of Respons	es³	Hours Per Response <sup>4</sup>	Aggregate Hours <sup>5</sup>
Smaller	Requested	2,114 advisers <sup>6</sup>	X	1 response	X	15 hours =	31,710 hours
Private Fund	Previously Approved	2,055 advisers	X	1 response	X	15 hours =	30,825 hours
Advisers	Change	59 advisers		0		0 hours	885 hours
Large Hedge Fund Advisers	Requested	531 advisers <sup>7</sup>	x	4 responses	X	150 hours =	318,600 hours
	Previously Approved	537 advisers	X	4 responses	X	150 hours =	322,200 hours
	Change	(6) advisers		0		0 hours	(3,600) hours
Large	Requested	22 advisers <sup>8</sup>	X	4 responses	X	71 hours =	6,248 hours
Liquidity Fund	Previously Approved	20 advisers	X	4 responses	X	70 hours =	5,600 hours
Advisers	Change	2 advisers		0		1 hour	648 hours
Large	Requested	351 advisers <sup>9</sup>	X	1 response	X	125 hours =	43,875 hours
Private Equity	Previously Approved	313 advisers	X	1 response	X	100 hours =	31,300 hours
Advisers	Change	38 advisers		0		25 hours	12,575 hours

- 1. We estimate that after an adviser files its initial report, it will incur significantly lower costs to file ongoing annual and quarterly reports, because much of the work for the initial report is non-recurring and likely created system configuration and reporting efficiencies.
- 2. Changes to the number of respondents are due to using updated data to estimate the number of advisers. For large private equity advisers, changes also are due to the proposed amendment to lower the threshold.
- Smaller private fund advisers and large private equity advisers file annually. Large hedge fund advisers and large liquidity fund advisers file quarterly.
- 4. Hours per response changes for the large liquidity fund advisers and large private equity advisers are due to the proposed amendments to sections 3 and 4, respectively.
- 5. Changes to the aggregate hours are due to using updated data to estimate the number of advisers. For large liquidity fund advisers and large private equity advisers, changes also are due to the proposed amendments to sections 3 and 4, respectively.
- 6. Private Funds Statistics show 2,427 smaller private fund advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. We estimated that 313 of them filed an initial filing, as discussed in Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings. (2,427 total smaller advisers 313 advisers who made an initial filing = 2,114 advisers who make ongoing filings.)
- 7. Private Funds Statistics show 545 large hedge fund advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. We estimated that 14 of them filed an initial filing, as discussed in Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings. (545 total large hedge fund advisers 14 advisers who made an initial filing = 531 advisers who make ongoing filings.)
- 8. Private Funds Statistics show 23 large liquidity fund advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. We estimated that one of them filed an initial filing, as discussed in Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings. (23 total large liquidity fund advisers 1 adviser who made an initial filing = 22 advisers who make ongoing filings.)
- 9. Private Funds Statistics show 364 large private equity advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. Based on filing data from the last five years, an average of 3.5 percent of them did not file for the previous due date. (364 x 0.035 = 12.74 advisers, rounded to 13 advisers.) (364 total large private equity advisers 13 advisers who made an initial filing = 351 advisers who make ongoing filings.) Lowering the filing threshold for large private equity advisers would result in additional advisers filing for the first time, as discussed in Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings.

Table 4: Annual	Hour	Burden	<b>Estimates for</b>	Current	Reporting

Respondent <sup>1</sup>		Aggregate Number of Responses		Hours Per Response <sup>2</sup>		Aggregate Hours
	Requested	6 responses	X	8.5 hours	=	51 hours
Smaller Private Fund Advisers	Previously Approved			Not Applicable		
	Change			Not Applicable		
	Requested	6 responses	X	8.5 hours	=	51 hours
Large Hedge Fund Advisers	Previously Approved			Not Applicable		
	Change			Not Applicable		
	Requested	6 response	X	8.5 hours	=	51 hours
Large Private Equity Advisers	Previously Approved			Not Applicable		
	Change			Not Applicable		

- 1. Smaller private fund advisers that advise private equity funds and large private equity advisers would file current reports under section 6. Large hedge fund advisers would file current reports under section 5. There are no previously approved estimates for these proposed amendments because they would be new requirements.
- 2. We expect that the time to prepare and file a current report would range from 4 hours to 8.5 hours, depending on the reporting event. Therefore, we propose to use the upper range (8.5 hours) to calculate estimates.

Table 5: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Transition Filings, Final Filings, and Temporary Hardship Requests

Filing Type <sup>1</sup>		Aggregate Number of Response	es²	Hours Per Response		Aggregate Hours <sup>3</sup>
	Requested	63 responses <sup>4</sup>	X	0.25 hours	=	15.75 hours
Transition Filing from Quarterly to Annual	Previously Approved	45 responses	X	0.25 hours	=	11.25 hours
	Change	18 responses		0 hours		4.5 hours
	Requested	232 responses <sup>5</sup>	X	0.25 hours	=	58 hours
Final Filings	Previously Approved	54 responses	X	0.25 hours	=	13.5 hours
	Change <sup>6</sup>	178 responses		0 hours		44.5 hours
	Requested	3 responses <sup>7</sup>	X	1 hour	=	3 hours
Temporary Hardship Requests	Previously Approved	4 responses	X	1 hour	=	4 hours
	Change	(1) responses		0 hours		(1) hour

- 1. Advisers must file limited information on Form PF in three situations. First, any adviser that transitions from filing quarterly to annually because it has ceased to qualify as a large hedge fund adviser or large liquidity fund adviser, must file a Form PF indicating that it is no longer obligated to report on a quarterly basis. Second, any adviser that is no longer subject to Form PF's reporting requirements, must file a final report indicating this. Third, an adviser may request a temporary hardship exemption if it encounters unanticipated technical difficulties that prevent it from making a timely electronic filing. A temporary hardship exemption extends the deadline for an electronic filing for seven business days. To request a temporary hardship exemption, the adviser must file a request on Form PF. Under the proposal, temporary hardship exemptions would be available for current reporting, as discussed in section II. This proposed amendment would not result in any changes to the hours per response.
- 2. Changes to the aggregate number of responses are due to using updated data. Changes for final filings also are due to using a different methodology, as discussed below.
- 3. Changes to the aggregate hours are due to the changes in the aggregated number of responses.
- 4. Private Funds Statistics show 568 advisers filed quarterly reports in the fourth quarter of 2020. Based on filing data from the last five years, an average of 11.1 percent of them filed a transition filing. (568 x 0.111 = 63 responses.)
- 5. Private Funds Statistics show 3,359 advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. Based on filing data from the last five years, an average of 6.9 percent of them filed a final filing. (3,359 x 0.069 = approximately 232 responses.)
- 6. Changes for final filings are due to using a different methodology. The previously approved estimates used a percentage of quarterly filers to estimate how many advisers filed a final report. We propose to use a percentage of all filers to estimate how many advisers filed a final report, because all filers may file a final report, not just quarterly filers. Therefore, this proposed methodology is designed to more accurately estimate the number of responses for final filings.
- 7. Based on experience receiving temporary hardship requests, we estimate that 1 out of 1,000 advisers will file a temporary hardship exemption annually. Private Funds Statistics show there were 3,359 private fund advisers who filed Form PF. (3,359 / 1,000 = approximately 3 responses.)

3. Annual Monetized Time Burden Estimates

Below are tables with annual monetized time burden estimates for (1) initial filings, (2) ongoing annual and quarterly filings, (3) current reporting, and (4) transition filings, final filings, and temporary hardship requests.<sup>239</sup>

**Table 6: Annual Monetized Time Burden of Initial Filings** 

Respondent <sup>1</sup>		Per Response <sup>2</sup>	Amo	esponse rtized 3 years³		Aggregate Number of Responses <sup>4</sup>		Aggregate onetized Time Burden mortized Over 3 Years
Smaller	Requested	\$13,620 <sup>5</sup>	÷ 3 =	\$4,540	X	313 responses	=	\$1,421,020
Private Fund	Previously Approved	\$13,460			X	272 responses	=	\$3,661,120
Advisers	Change	\$160				41 responses		(\$2,240,100)
T	Requested	\$104,4236	÷ 3 =	\$34,808	X	14 responses	=	\$487,312
Large Hedge Fund Advisers	Previously Approved	\$103,123			X	17 responses	=	\$1,753,091
Auviscis	Change	\$1,300				(3) responses		(\$1,265,779)
Large	Requested	\$64,893 <sup>7</sup>	÷ 3 =	\$21,631	X	1 responses	=	\$21,631
Liquidity Fund	Previously Approved	\$63,460			X	2 responses	=	\$126,920
Advisers	Change	\$1,433				(1) responses		(\$105,289)
Large	Requested	\$80,3258	÷ 3 =	\$26,775	X	42 responses	=	\$1,124,550
Private Equity	Previously Approved	\$63,460			X	9 responses	=	\$571,140
Advisers	Change	\$16,865				33 responses		\$553,410

- 1. We expect that the monetized time burden will be most significant for the initial report, for the same reasons discussed in Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings. Accordingly, we anticipate that the initial report will require more attention from senior personnel, including compliance managers and senior risk management specialists, than will ongoing annual and quarterly filings. Changes are due to using (1) updated hours per response estimates, as discussed in Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings, (2) updated aggregate number of responses, as discussed in Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings, and (3) updated wage estimates. Changes to the aggregate monetized time burden, amortized over three years, also are due to amortizing the monetized time burden, which the previously approved estimates did not calculate, as discussed below.
- 2. For the hours per response in each calculation, see Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings.
- 3. We propose to amortize the monetized time burden for initial filings over three years, as we do with other initial burdens in this PRA, because we believe that most of the burden would be incurred in the initial filing. The previously approved burden estimates did not calculate this.
- 4. See Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings.
- 5. For smaller private fund advisers, we estimate that the initial report will most likely be completed equally by a compliance manager at a cost of \$316 per hour and a senior risk management specialist at a cost of \$365 per hour. Smaller private fund advisers generally would not realize significant benefits from or incur significant costs for system configuration or automation because of the limited scope of information required from smaller private fund advisers. ((\$316 per hour x 0.5) + (\$365 per hour x 0.5)) x 40 hours per response = \$13,620.
- 6. For large hedge fund advisers, we estimate that for the initial report, of a total estimated burden of 325 hours, approximately 195 hours will most likely be performed by compliance professionals and 130 hours will most likely be performed by programmers working on system configuration and reporting automation. Of the work performed by compliance professionals, we anticipate that it will be performed equally by a compliance manager at a cost of \$316 per hour and a senior risk management specialist at a cost of \$365 per hour. Of the work performed by programmers, we anticipate that it will be performed equally by a senior programmer at a cost of \$339 per hour and a programmer analyst at a cost of \$246 per hour. ((\$316 per hour x 0.5) + (\$365 per hour x 0.5)) x 195 hours = \$66,397.50. ((\$339 per hour x 0.5) + (\$246 per hour x 0.5)) x 130 hours = \$38,025. \$66,397.50 + \$38,025 = \$104,422.50, rounded to \$104,423.
- 7. For large liquidity fund advisers, we estimate that for the initial report, of a total estimated burden of 202 hours, approximately 60 percent will most likely be performed by compliance professionals and approximately 40 percent will most likely be performed by programmers working on system configuration and reporting automation (that is approximately 121 hours for compliance professionals and 81 hours for programmers). Of the work performed by compliance professionals, we anticipate that it will be performed equally by a compliance manager at a cost of \$316 per hour and a senior risk management specialist at a cost of \$365 per hour. Of the work performed by programmers, we anticipate that it will be performed equally by a senior programmer at a cost of \$339 per hour and a programmer analyst at a cost of \$246 per hour. ((\$316 per hour x 0.5) + (\$365 per hour x 0.5)) x 121 hours = \$41,200.50. ((\$339 per hour x 0.5) + (\$246 per hour x 0.5)) x 81 hours = \$23,692.50. \$41,200.50 + \$23,692.50 = \$64,893.
- 8. For large private equity advisers, we expect that for the initial report, of a total estimated burden of 250 hours, approximately 60 percent will most likely be performed by compliance professionals and approximately 40 percent will most likely be performed by programmers working on system configuration and reporting automation (that is approximately 150 hours for compliance professionals and 100 hours for programmers). Of the work performed by compliance professionals, we anticipate that it will be performed equally by a compliance manager at a cost of \$316 per hour and a senior risk management specialist at a cost of \$365 per hour. Of the work performed by programmers, we anticipate that it will be performed equally by a senior programmer at a cost of \$339 per hour and a programmer analyst at a cost of \$246 per hour. ((\$316 per hour x 0.5) + (\$365 per hour x 0.5)) x 150 hours = \$51,075. ((\$339 per hour x 0.5) + (\$246 per hour x 0.5)) x 100 hours = \$29,250. \$51,075 + \$29,250 = \$80,325.

Table 7: Annual Monetized Time Burden of Ongoing Annual and Quarterly Filings									
Respondent <sup>1</sup>		Per Response <sup>2</sup>		Aggregate Number of Responses		Aggregate Monetized Time Burden			
	Requested	\$4,2303	х	2,114 responses <sup>4</sup>	=	\$8,942,220			
Smaller Private Fund Advisers	Previously Approved	\$4,173.75	x	2,055 responses	=	\$8,577,056			
Tunu May 19019	Change	\$56.25		59 responses		\$365,164			
	Requested	\$42,300 <sup>5</sup>	X	2,124 responses <sup>6</sup>	=	\$89,845,200			
Large Hedge Fund Advisers	Previously Approved	\$41,737.50	X	2,148 responses	=	\$89,652,150			
	Change	\$562.50		(24 responses)		\$193,050			
	Requested	\$20,0227	X	88 responses <sup>8</sup>	=	\$1,761,936			
Large Liquidity Fund Advisers	Previously Approved	\$29,216.25	X	80 responses	=	\$2,337,300			
	Change <sup>9</sup>	(\$9,194.25)		8 responses		(\$575,364)			
	Requested	\$35,250 <sup>10</sup>	X	351 responses <sup>11</sup>	=	\$12,372,750			
Large Private Equity Advisers	Previously Approved	\$27,825	x	313 responses	=	\$8,709,225			
	Change	\$7,425		38 responses		\$3,663,525			

### Table 7: Annual Monetized Time Burden of Ongoing Annual and Quarterly Filings

- 1. We expect that the monetized time burden will be less costly for ongoing annual and quarterly reports than for initial reports, for the same reasons discussed in Table 3: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Ongoing Annual and Quarterly Filings. Accordingly, we anticipate that senior personnel will bear less of the reporting burden than they would for the initial report. Changes are due to using (1) updated wage estimates, (2) updated hours per response estimates, as discussed in Table 3: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Ongoing Annual and Quarterly Filings, and (3) updated aggregate number of responses. Changes to estimates concerning large liquidity fund advisers primarily appear to be due to correcting a calculation error, as discussed below.
- 2. For all types of respondents, we estimate that both annual and quarterly reports would be completed equally by (1) a compliance manager at a cost of \$316 per hour, (2) a senior compliance examiner at a cost of \$243, (3) a senior risk management specialist at a cost of \$365 per hour, and (4) a risk management specialist at a cost of \$203 an hour. (\$316 x 0.25 = \$79) + (\$243 x 0.25 = \$60.75) + (\$365 x 0.25 = \$91.25) + (\$203 x 0.25 = \$50.75) = \$281.75, rounded to \$282 per hour. To calculate the cost per response for each respondent, we used the hours per response from Table 3: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Ongoing Annual and Quarterly Filings.
- 3. Cost per response for smaller private fund advisers: (\$282 per hour x 15 hours per response = \$4,230 per response.)
- 4.  $(2,114 \text{ smaller private fund advisers } \times 1 \text{ response annually} = 2,114 \text{ aggregate responses.})$
- 5. Cost per response for large hedge fund advisers: (\$282 per hour x 150 hours per response = \$42,300 per response.)
- 6. (531 large hedge fund advisers x 4 responses annually = 2,124 aggregate responses.)
- 7. Cost per response for large liquidity fund advisers: (\$282 per hour x 71 hours per response = \$20,022 per response.
- 8. (22 large liquidity fund advisers x 4 responses annually = 88 aggregate responses.)
- 9. The previously approved estimates appear to have mistakenly used a different amount of hours per response (105 hours), rather than the actual estimate for large liquidity fund advisers (which was 70 hours per response), causing the monetized time burden to be inflated in error. Therefore, the extent of these changes are primarily due to using the correct hours per response, which we now estimate as 71 hours, as discussed in Table 3: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Ongoing Annual and Quarterly Filings.
- 10. Cost per response for large private equity advisers: (\$282 per hour x 125 hours per response = \$35,250 per response.)

11. (351 private equity advisers x 1 response annually = 351 aggregate responses.)

**Table 8: Annual Monetized Time Burden of Current Reporting** 

Respondent <sup>1</sup>		Per Response <sup>2</sup>		Aggregate Number of Responses <sup>3</sup>	Aggregate Monetized Time Burden
	Requested	\$4,182	X	6 responses =	\$25,092
Smaller Private Fund Advisers	Previously Approved			Not Applicable	
114115015	Change			Not Applicable	
	Requested	\$3,5384	X	6 responses =	\$21,228
Large Hedge Fund Advisers	Previously Approved			Not Applicable	
	Change			Not Applicable	
	Requested	\$4,182	X	6 responses =	\$25,092
Large Private Equity Advisers	Previously Approved			Not Applicable	
	Change			Not Applicable	

- Smaller private fund advisers that advise private equity funds and large private equity advisers
  would file current reports under section 6. Large hedge fund advisers would file current reports
  under section 5. There are no previously approved estimates for these proposed amendments
  because they would be new requirements.
- 2. For the cost per response for smaller private fund advisers and large private equity advisers, we estimate that, depending on the circumstances, different legal professionals at the adviser would work on the section 6 current report. We estimate that the time costs for a legal professional to be approximately \$492, which is a blended average of hourly rate for a deputy general counsel (\$610) and compliance attorney (\$373). (8.5 hours to file a section 6 current report x \$492 per hour for a legal professional = \$4,182).
- 3. See Table 4: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Current Reporting.
- 4. For the cost per response for large hedge fund advisers, we estimate that, depending on the circumstances, different legal professionals and financial professionals at the advisers would work on the section 5 current report because the reporting events may require both legal and quantitative analysis. We estimate that the time costs for a legal professional to be approximately \$492, which is a blended average of hourly rate for a deputy general counsel (\$610) and compliance attorney (\$373). We estimate that the time costs for a financial professional to be approximately \$331, which is a blended average hourly rate for a senior risk management specialist (\$365) and a financial reporting manager (\$297). Of the total 8.5 hours that a section 5 current report would take, we estimate that an adviser would spend on average 4.5 hours of legal professional time and 4 hours of financial professional time to prepare, review, and submit a current report pursuant to section 5. (4.5 hours x \$492 per hour for a legal professional = \$2,214) + (4 hours x \$331 per hour for a financial professional = \$1,324) = \$3,538.

Table 9: Annual Monetized Time Burden for Transition Filings, Final Filings, and Temporary Hardship Requests

Filing Type <sup>1</sup>		Per Response		Aggregate Number of Responses <sup>2</sup>	Aggregate Monetized Time Burden
	Requested	\$18 <sup>3</sup>	X	63 responses	= \$1,134
Transition Filing from Quarterly to Annual	Previously Approved	\$17.75	X	45 responses	= \$798.75
	Change	\$0.75		18 responses	\$335.25
	Requested	\$18 <sup>4</sup>	X	232 responses	= \$4,176
Final Filings	Previously Approved	\$17.75	X	54 responses	= \$958.50
	Change	\$0.75		178 responses	\$3,217.50
	Requested	\$222 <sup>5</sup>	X	3 responses	= \$666
Temporary Hardship Requests	Previously Approved	\$221.63	X	4 responses	= \$886.52
	Change	\$0.37		(1) responses	(\$220.52)

- 1. All changes are due to using updated data concerning wage rates and the number of responses.
- 2. See Table 5: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Transition Filings, Final Filings, and Temporary Hardship Requests.
- 3. We estimate that each transition filing will take 0.25 hours and that a compliance clerk would perform this work at a cost of \$72 an hour.  $(0.25 \text{ hours } \times \$72 = \$18.)$
- 4. We estimate that each final filing will take 0.25 hours and that a compliance clerk would perform this work at a cost of \$72 an hour.  $(0.25 \text{ hours } \times \$72 = \$18.)$
- 5. We estimate that each temporary hardship request will take 1 hour. We estimate that a compliance manager would perform five-eighths of the work at a cost of \$316 and a general clerk would perform three-eighths of the work at a cost of \$64. (1 hour x ((5/8 of an hour x \$316 = \$197.5) + (3/8 of an hour x \$64 = \$24)) = \$221.5 per response.

### 4. Annual External Cost Burden Estimates

Below are tables with annual external cost burden estimates for (1) initial

filings as well as ongoing annual and quarterly filings and (2) current reporting. There are no filing fees for transition filings, final filings, or

temporary hardship requests and we continue to estimate there would be no external costs for those filings, as previously approved.

Table 10: Annual External Cost Burden for Ongoing Annual and Quarterly Filings as well as Initial Filings

Respondent	Num ¹ Respo	nber of nses Per ondent <sup>2</sup>	Filing Fee Per Filing <sup>3</sup>	Total Filing Fees	External Cost of Initial Filing <sup>4</sup>	External Cost of Initial Filing Amortized Over 3 Years <sup>5</sup>	Numbe of Initia Filings	Aggregate External r Cost of l Initial Filing	Total Aggregate External Cost <sup>8</sup>
G	Requested	1 x	\$150 =	\$150		Not Appl	icable		\$364,0509
Smaller Private Fund	Previously Approved	1 x	x \$150 =	\$150		Not Appl	icable		\$349,050
Advisers	Change	0	\$0	\$0		No Cha	inge		\$15,000
Large Hedge Fund	Requested	4 x	x \$150 =	\$600	\$50,000	÷ 3 = \$16,667	x 14	= \$233,338	\$560,338 <sup>10</sup>
	Previously Approved	4 x	\$150 =	\$600	\$50,000		x 17	= \$850,000	\$1,182,400
Advisers	Change	0	\$0	\$0	\$0		(3)	(\$616,662)	(\$622,062)
Large	Requested	4 x	\$150 =	\$600	\$50,000	÷ 3 = \$16,667	x 1	= \$16,667	\$30,46711
Liquidity Fund	Previously Approved	4 x	\$150 =	\$600	\$50,000		x 2	= \$100,000	\$113,200
Advisers	Change	0	\$0	\$0	\$0		(1)	(\$83,333)	(\$82,733)
Large	Requested	1 x	x \$150 =	\$150	\$50,000	÷ 3 = \$16,667	x 42	= \$700,014	\$754,614 <sup>12</sup>
Private Equity	Previously Approved	1 x	\$150 =	\$150	\$50,000		x 9	= \$450,000	\$498,300
Advisers	Change	0	\$0	\$0	\$0		33	\$250,014	\$256,314

- We estimate that advisers would incur the cost of filing fees for each filing. For initial filings, advisers may incur costs to modify
  existing systems or deploy new systems to support Form PF reporting, acquire or use hardware to perform computations, or
  otherwise process data required on Form PF.
- Smaller private fund advisers and large private equity advisers file annually. Large hedge fund advisers and large liquidity fund advisers file quarterly.
- 3. The SEC established Form PF filing fees in a separate order. Since 2011, filing fees have been and continue to be \$150 per annual filing and \$150 per quarterly filing. See Order Approving Filing Fees for Exempt Reporting Advisers and Private Fund Advisers, Advisers Act Release No. 3305 (Oct. 24, 2011) [76 FR 67004 (Oct. 28, 2011)].
- 4. In the previous PRA submission for the rules, staff estimated that the external cost burden for initial filings would range from \$0 to \$50,000 per adviser. This range reflected the fact that the cost to any adviser may depend on how many funds or the types of funds it manages, the state of its existing systems, the complexity of its business, the frequency of Form PF filings, the deadlines for completion, and the amount of information the adviser must disclose on Form PF. Smaller private fund advisers would be unlikely to bear such costs because the information they must provide is limited and will, in many cases, already be maintained in the ordinary course of business. We continue to estimate that the same cost range would apply.
- 5. We propose to amortize the external cost burden of initial filings over three years, as we do with other initial burdens in this PRA, because we believe that most of the burden would be incurred in the initial filing. The previously approved burden estimates did not calculate this.
- 6. See Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings.
- 7. Changes to the aggregate external cost of initial filings, amortized over three years are due to (1) using updated data and (2) amortizing the external cost of initial filings over three years, which the previously approved PRA did not calculate. Changes concerning large private equity advisers also are due to the proposed amendment to reduce the filing threshold.
- 8. Changes to the total aggregate external cost are due to (1) using updated data and (2) amortizing the external cost of initial filings over three years, which the previously approved PRA did not calculate. Changes concerning large private equity advisers also are due to the proposed amendment to reduce the filing threshold.
- 9. Private Funds Statistics show 2,427 smaller private fund advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. (2,427 smaller private fund advisers x \$150 total filing fees) = \$364,050 aggregate cost.
- 10. Private Funds Statistics show 545 large hedge fund advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. (545 large hedge fund advisers x \$600 total filing fees) + \$233,338 total external costs of initial filings, amortized over three years = \$560,338 aggregate cost
- 11. Private Funds Statistics show 23 large liquidity fund advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. (23 large liquidity fund advisers x \$600 total filing fees) + \$16,667 total external costs of initial filings, amortized over three years = \$30,467 aggregate cost
- 12. Private Funds Statistics show 364 large private equity advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020. (364 large private equity advisers x \$150 total filing fees) + \$700,014 total external costs of initial filings, amortized over three years = \$754,614 aggregate cost.

Table 11: Annual External Cost Burden for Current Reporting										
Respondent <sup>1</sup>	Aggregate Number of Responses <sup>2</sup>	Cost of Outside Counsel Per Current Report <sup>3</sup>			Aggregate Cost of Outside Counsel		One-time Cost of System Changes	Total Aggregate External Cost <sup>4</sup>		
Smaller	Requested	6	X	\$992	=	\$5,952	Not Applicable	\$5,952		
Private Fund Advisers	Previously Approved	Not Applicable								
	Change					Not Applicable				
Large	Requested	6	X	\$992	=	\$5,952	\$12,500 <sup>5</sup>	\$18,452		
Hedge Fund	Previously Approved					Not App	olicable			
Advisers	Change					Not Applicable				
Large	Requested	6	x	\$992	=	\$5,952	Not Applicable	\$5,952		
Private Equity Advisers	Previously Approved					Not App	plicable			
	Change					Not App	Not Applicable			

## Advisers would pay filing fees, the amount of which would be determined in a separate action.

#### **Notes:**

- 1. In a separate action, the SEC would approve filing fees that reflect the reasonable costs associated with current report filings and the establishment and maintenance of the filing system. (See 15 U.S.C. 80b-4(c).) We estimate that advisers would incur costs of outside counsel for each current report. We also estimate that large hedge fund advisers may incur a one-time cost to modify existing systems or deploy new systems to support section 5 current reporting, acquire or use hardware to perform computations, or otherwise process data to identify reporting events set forth in section 5, because such reporting events are quantitative. We estimate that such costs would not apply to advisers subject to current reporting requirements in proposed section 6, because the reporting events are more qualitative. There are no previously approved estimates for these proposed amendments because they would be new requirements.
- See Table 4: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Current Reporting.
- 3. We estimate the cost for outside legal counsel is \$496. This is based on an estimated \$400 per hour cost for outside legal services, as used by the Commission for these services in the "Exemptions for Advisers to Venture Capital Funds, Private Fund Advisers With Less Than \$150 Million Under Management, and Foreign Private Advisers" final rule, Advisers Act Release No. 3222 (June 22, 2011) [76 FR 39646 (July 6, 2011)], as inflated using the Consumer Price Index. We estimate that approximately two hours of the total legal professional time that would otherwise be spent on current reporting for sections 5 and 6, would be shifted from in-house legal professionals to outside legal counsel. (2 hours x \$496 for outside legal services = \$992.)
- 4. (Aggregate cost of outside counsel) + (one-time cost of system changes, as applicable) = total aggregate cost.
- 5. We estimate that the one-time external cost burden would range from \$0 to \$12,500, per adviser. This range of costs reflects the fact that the cost to any adviser might depend on how many funds or the types of funds it manages, the state of its existing systems, and the complexity of its business.

5. Summary of Estimates and Change in Burden

Description <sup>1</sup>	Requested	Previously Approved	Change
Respondents	3,388 respondents <sup>2</sup>	3,225 respondents	163 respondents <sup>3</sup>
Responses	5,363 responses <sup>4</sup>	5,056 responses	307 responses <sup>5</sup>
Time Burden	409,797 hours <sup>6</sup>	409,768 hours	29 hours <sup>7</sup>
Monetized Time Burden (Dollars)	\$116,054,007 <sup>8</sup>	\$122,152,100.25	(\$6,098,093)9
External Cost Burden (Dollars)	\$1,739,82510	\$3,628,850	(\$1,889,025)11

### **Table 12: Aggregate Annual Estimates**

- 1. Changes are due to (1) the proposed amendments, (2) using updated data, and (3) using different methodologies to calculate certain estimates, as described in this PRA.
- 2. Private Funds Statistics show the following advisers filed Form PF in the fourth quarter of 2020: 2,427 smaller private fund advisers + 545 large hedge fund advisers + 23 large liquidity fund advisers + 364 large private equity advisers = 3,359 advisers. 3,359 advisers + 29 additional large private equity advisers filing for the first time as a result of the proposed threshold = 3,388 respondents.
- 3. Changes are due to (1) the proposed amendment to reduce the filing threshold for large private equity advisers and (2) using updated data.
- 4. For initial filings (Table 2): (313 smaller private fund adviser responses + 14 large hedge fund adviser responses + 1 large liquidity fund adviser response + 42 large private equity adviser responses = 370 responses.) For ongoing annual and quarterly filings (Table 7): 2,114 smaller private fund adviser responses + 2,124 large hedge fund adviser responses + 88 large liquidity fund adviser responses + 351 large private equity adviser responses = 4,677 responses.) For current reporting (Table 4): (6 smaller private fund adviser responses + 6 large hedge fund adviser responses + 6 large private equity adviser responses = 18 responses.) (370 responses for initial filings + 4,677 responses for ongoing annual and quarterly filings + 18 responses for current reporting + 63 responses for transition filings + 232 responses for final filings + 3 responses for temporary hardship requests = 5,363 responses.)
- 5. Changes are due to (1) the proposal to add current reporting requirements, (2) the proposal to reduce the filing threshold for large private equity advisers, and (3) updated data concerning the number of filers.
- 6. For initial filings: (4,069 hours for smaller private fund advisers + 1,512 hours for large hedge fund advisers + 67 hours for large liquidity fund advisers + 3,486 hours for large private equity advisers = 9,134 hours). For ongoing annual and quarterly filings: (31,710 hours for smaller private fund advisers + 318,600 hours for large hedge fund advisers + 6,248 for hours large liquidity fund advisers + 43,875 hours for large private equity advisers = 400,433 hours). For current reporting: (51 hours for smaller private fund advisers + 51 hours for large hedge fund advisers + 51 hours for large private equity advisers = 153 hours.) (9,134 hours for initial filings + 400,433 for ongoing annual and quarterly filings + 153 hours for current reporting + 15.75 hours for transition filings + 58 hours for final filings + 3 hours for temporary hardship requests = 409,796.75 hours, rounded to 409,797 hours.
- 7. Although we would expect the time burden to increase more, given the proposed amendments, we estimate a smaller increase primarily because we propose to use a different methodology to calculate initial burden hours, as discussed in Table 2: Annual Hour Burden Estimates for Initial Filings, because the previously approved burdens for initial filings appear to have inflated the estimates.
- 8. For initial filings: (\$1,421,020 for smaller private fund advisers + \$487,312 for large hedge fund advisers + \$21,631 for large liquidity fund advisers + \$1,124,550 for large private equity advisers = \$3,054,513). For ongoing annual and quarterly filings: (\$8,942,220 for smaller private fund advisers + \$89,845,200 for large hedge fund advisers + \$1,761,936 for large liquidity fund advisers + \$12,372,750 for large private equity advisers = \$112,922,106). For current reporting: (\$25,092 for smaller private equity fund advisers + \$21,228 for large hedge fund advisers + \$25,092 for large private equity advisers = \$71,412). (\$3,054,513 for initial filings + \$112,922,106 for ongoing annual and quarterly filings + \$71,412 for current reporting + \$1,134 for transition filings + \$4,176 for final filings + \$666 for temporary hardship requests = \$116,054,007.)
- 9. Although we would expect the monetized time burden to increase, given the proposed amendments, we estimate it would decrease primarily because we propose to use a different methodology to calculate it.

We believe the previously approved burden inflated the estimates by using a methodology that inflated an element of the total: the monetized time burden for initial filings. To calculate the monetized time burden for initial filings, the previously approved estimates included subsequent filings. For the requested total burden, we propose to calculate the initial filing element by including only the hours related to the initial filing, not any subsequent filings. We also propose to amortize the monetized time burden for an initial filing over three years, by dividing the initial filing burden by three years, as discussed in Table 6: Annual Monetized Time Burden of Initial Filings. The proposed methodology is designed to more accurately reflect the estimates.

- 10. For annual, quarterly, and initial filing costs: (\$364,050 for smaller private fund advisers + \$560,338 for large hedge funds + \$30,467 for large liquidity fund advisers + \$754,614 for large private equity advisers = \$1,709,469). For current reporting: (\$5,952 for smaller private fund advisers + \$18,452 for large hedge funds + \$5,952 for large private equity advisers = \$30,356). (\$1,709,469 annual, quarterly, and initial cost external cost burden + \$30,356 current reporting external cost burden = \$1,739,825 total annual external cost burden.)
- 11. Although we would expect the external cost burden to increase, given the proposed amendments, we estimate it would decrease primarily because we propose to use a different methodology to calculate it. We believe the previously approved burden inflated the estimates by (1) multiplying the filing fees by three years and (2) not amortizing the external costs for initial filings: (\$742,950 aggregate annual filing fees x 3 years = \$2,228,850 in filing fees) + \$1,400,000 external costs of initial filings = \$3,628,850). We propose to not multiply the aggregate annual filing fees by three years because we are estimating the external cost burden for one year, not three. We propose to amortize the external cost for initial filings over three years, by dividing the external cost of an initial filing by three years, as discussed in Table 10: Annual External Cost Burden for Ongoing Annual and Quarterly Filings as well as Initial Filings. The proposed methodology is designed to more accurately reflect the estimates.

#### BILLING CODE 8011-01-C

#### D. Request for Comments

We request comment on whether our estimates for burden hours and external costs as described above are reasonable. Pursuant to 44 U.S.C. 3506(c)(2)(B), the Commission solicits comments in order to (1) evaluate whether the proposed collection of information is necessary for the proper performance of the functions of the SEC, including whether the information will have practical utility: (2) evaluate the accuracy of the SEC's estimate of the burden of the proposed collection of information; (3) determine whether there are ways to enhance the quality, utility, and clarity of the information to be collected; and (4) determine whether there are ways to minimize the burden of the collection of information on those who are to respond, including through the use of automated collection techniques or other forms of information technology.

Persons wishing to submit comments on the collection of information requirements of the proposed amendments should direct them to the OMB Desk Officer for the Securities and Exchange Commission, MBX.OMB.OIRA.SEC\_desk\_officer@omb.eop.gov, and should send a copy to Secretary, Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F Street NE, Washington, DC 20549–1090, with reference to File No. S7–01–22. OMB is required to make a decision concerning the collections of information between

30 and 60 days after publication of this release; therefore a comment to OMB is best assured of having its full effect if OMB receives it within 30 days after publication of this release. Requests for materials submitted to OMB by the Commission with regard to these collections of information should be in writing, refer to File No. S7–01–22, and be submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission, Office of FOIA Services, 100 F Street NE, Washington, DC 20549–2736.

### V. Regulatory Flexibility Act Certification

The Regulatory Flexibility Act of 1980 ("Regulatory Flexibility Act") 240 requires the SEC to prepare and make available for public comment an initial regulatory flexibly analysis of the impact of the proposed rule amendments on small entities, unless the SEC certifies that the rules, if adopted would not have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities.241 Pursuant to section 605(b) of the Regulatory Flexibility Act, the SEC hereby certifies that the proposed amendments to Advisers Act rule 204(b)-1 and Form PF would not, if adopted, have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities.

For the purposes of the Advisers Act and the Regulatory Flexibility Act, an

investment adviser generally is a small entity if it (1) has assets under management having a total value of less than \$25 million; (2) did not have total assets of \$5 million or more on the last day of the most recent fiscal year; and (3) does not control, is not controlled by, and is not under common control with another investment adviser that has assets under management of \$25 million or more, or any person (other than a natural person) that had total assets of \$5 million or more on the last day of its most recent fiscal year.<sup>242</sup>

By definition, no small entity on its own, would meet rule 204(b)-1 and Form PF's minimum reporting threshold of \$150 million in regulatory assets under management attributable to private funds. Based on Form PF and Form ADV data as of September 2021, the SEC estimates that no small entity advisers are required to file Form PF. The SEC does not have evidence to suggest that any small entities are required to file Form PF but are not filing Form PF. Therefore, there would be no significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities. The SEC encourages written comments on the certification. Commentators are asked to describe the nature of any impact on small entities and provide empirical data to support the extent of the impact.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> 5 U.S.C. 601, et. seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> See 5 U.S.C. 603(a) and 5 U.S.C. 605(b).

<sup>242 17</sup> CFR 275.0-7.

## VI. Consideration of Impact on the Economy

For purposes of the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996 ("SBREFA"),<sup>243</sup> the SEC must advise OMB whether a proposed regulation constitutes a "major" rule. Under SBREFA, a rule is considered "major" where, if adopted, it results in or is likely to result in the following:

- An annual effect on the economy of \$100 million or more;
- A major increase in costs or prices for consumers or individual industries; or
- Significant adverse effects on competition, investment, or innovation.

The SEC requests comment on whether the proposal would be a "major rule" for purposes of SBREFA. The SEC solicits comment and empirical data on the following:

- The potential effect on the U.S. economy on an annual basis;
- Any potential increase in costs or prices for consumers or individual industries; and
- Any potential effect on competition, investment, or innovation.

Commenters are requested to provide empirical data and other factual support for their views to the extent possible.

### VII. Statutory Authority

The Commission is proposing amendments to Form PF pursuant to

authority set forth in Sections 204(b) and 211(e) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. 80b–4(b) and 80b–11(e)].

## List of Subjects 17 CFR Part 275 and 279

Reporting and recordkeeping requirements, Securities.

By the Commission. Dated: January 26, 2022.

Vanessa A. Countryman, Secretary.

## **Text of Proposed Rules**

For the reasons set forth in the preamble, title 17, chapter II of the Code of Federal Regulations is amended as follows.

### PART 275—RULES AND REGULATIONS, INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940

■ 1. The general authority citation for part 275 continues to read as follows.

**Authority:** 15 U.S.C. 80b–2(a)(11)(G), 80b–2(a)(11)(H), 80b–2(a)(17), 80b–3, 80b–4, 80b–4a, 80b–6(4), 80b–6a, and 80b–11, unless otherwise noted.

■ 2. Amend § 275.204(b)-1 by revising paragraphs (f)(2)(i) and (f)(3) to read as

follows:

## § 275.204(b)–1 Reporting by investment advisers to private funds.

(f) \* \* \*

(2) \* \* \*

(i) Complete and file in paper format, in accordance with the instructions to Form PF, Item A of Section 1a and Section 7 of Form PF, checking the box in Section 1a indicating that you are requesting a temporary hardship exemption, no later than one business day after the electronic Form PF filing was due:

(3) The temporary hardship exemption will be granted when you file Item A of Section 1a and Section 7 of Form PF, checking the box in Section 1a indicating that you are requesting a temporary hardship exemption.

\* \* \* \* \*

PART 279—FORMS PRESCRIBED UNDER THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940

■ 3. The authority citation for part 279 continues to read as follows:

**Authority:** The Investment Advisers Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. 80b–1, *et seq.*, Pub. L. 111–203, 124 Stat. 1376.

## § 279.9 Form PF, reporting by investment advisers to private funds.

**Note:** The text of Form PF does not, and the amendments will not, appear in the Code of Federal Regulations.

■ 4. Revise PF (referenced in § 279.9) to read as follows.

BILLING CODE 8011-01-P

 $<sup>^{243}\,</sup> Public$  Law 104–121, Title II, 110 Stat. 857 (1996) (codified in various sections of 5 U.S.C., 15 U.S.C., and as a note to 5 U.S.C. 601).

## FORM PF (Paper Version)

Reporting Form for Investment Advisers to Private Funds and Certain Commodity Pool Operators and Commodity Trading Advisors

OMB APPROVAL						
OMB Number:	3235-0679					
Expires:	[]					
Estimated average burden						

#### Form PF: General Instructions

Page 1

Read these instructions carefully before completing Form PF. Failure to follow these instructions, properly complete Form PF, or pay all required fees may result in your Form PF being delayed or rejected.

In these instructions and in Form PF, "you" means the *private fund adviser* completing or amending this Form PF. If you are a "separately identifiable department or division" (SID) of a bank, "you" means the SID rather than the bank (except as provided in Question 1(a)). Terms that appear in *italies* are defined in the Glossary of Terms to Form PF.

#### 1. Who must complete and file a Form PF?

You must complete and file a Form PF, if:

A. You are registered or required to register with the SEC as an investment adviser;

OR

You are registered or required to register with the CFTC as a CPO or CTA and you are also registered or required to register with the SEC as an investment adviser;

AND

B. You manage one or more private funds.

AND

C. You and your related persons, collectively, had at least \$150 million in private fund assets under management as of the last day of your most recently completed fiscal year.

Many private fund advisers meeting these criteria will be required to complete only Section I of Form PF and will need to file only on an annual basis. Large private fund advisers, however, will be required to provide additional data, and large hedge fund advisers and large liquidity fund advisers will need to file every quarter. Large hedge fund advisers will need to file a current report in Section 5 and advisers to private equity funds will need to file a current report in Section 6, upon certain reporting events. See Instructions 3, 9, and 12 below.

For purposes of determining whether you meet the reporting threshold, you are not required to include the *regulatory assets under management* of any *related person* that is *separately operated*. See Instruction 5 below for more detail.

If your *principal office and place of business* is outside the United States, for purposes of this Form PF you may disregard any *private fund* that, during your last fiscal year, was not a *United States person*, was not offered in the United States, and was not beneficially owned by any *United States person*.

# 2. I have a related person who is required to file Form PF. May I and my related person file a single Form PF?

Related persons may (but are not required to) report on a single Form PF information with respect to all such related persons and the private funds they advise. You must identify in your response

Page 2

to Question 1 the *related persons* as to which you are reporting and, where information is requested about you or the *private funds* you advise, respond as though you and such *related persons* were one firm.

#### 3. How is Form PF organized?

## Section 1 - All Form PF filers

- Section Ia All private fund advisers required to file Form PF must complete Section Ia. Section Ia asks general identifying information about you and the types of private funds you advise.
- Section 1b All *private fund advisers* required to file Form PF must complete Section 1b. Section 1b asks for certain information regarding the *private funds* that you advise.
- Section Ic All private fund advisers that are required to file Form PF and advise one or more hedge funds must complete Section 1c. Section 1c asks for certain information regarding the hedge funds that you advise.

#### Section 2 - Large hedge fund advisers

Section 2a You are required to complete Section 2a if you and your related persons, collectively, had at least \$1.5 billion in hedge fund assets under management as of the last day of any month in the fiscal quarter immediately preceding your most recently completed fiscal quarter. You are not required to include the regulatory assets under management of any related person that is separately operated.

Subject to Instruction 4, Section 2a requires information to be reported on an aggregate basis for all *hedge funds* that you advise.

Section 2b If you are required to complete Section 2a, you must complete a <u>separate</u> Section 2b with respect to each *qualifying hedge fund* that you advise.

#### However:

if you are reporting separately on the funds of a parallel fund structure that, in the aggregate, comprises a qualifying hedge fund, you must complete a separate Section 2b for each parallel fund that is part of that parallel fund structure (even if that parallel fund is not itself a qualifying hedge fund); and

if you report answers on an aggregated basis for any master-feeder arrangement or parallel fund structure in accordance with Instruction 5, you should only complete a separate Section 2b with respect to the reporting fund for such master-feeder arrangement or parallel fund structure.

#### Section 3 - Large liquidity fund advisers

Section 3 You are required to complete Section 3 if (i) you advise one or more *liquidity funds* and (ii) as of the last day of any month in the fiscal quarter immediately preceding your most recently completed fiscal quarter, you and your *related persons*, collectively,

Page 3

had at least \$1 billion in combined money market and liquidity fund assets under management. You are not required to include the regulatory assets under management of any related person that is separately operated.

You must complete a separate Section 3 with respect to each liquidity fund that you advise

However, if you report answers on an aggregated basis for any *master-feeder* arrangement or parallel fund structure in accordance with Instruction 5, you should only complete a separate Section 3 with respect to the reporting fund for such master-feeder arrangement or parallel fund structure.

#### Section 4 – Large private equity advisers

Section 4 You are required to complete Section 4 if you and your related persons, collectively, had at least \$1.5 billion in private equity fund assets under management as of the last day of your most recently completed fiscal year. You are not required to include the regulatory assets under management of any related person that is separately operated.

You must complete a <u>separate</u> Section 4 with respect to each *private equity fund* that you advise.

However, if you report answers on an aggregated basis for any master-feeder arrangement or parallel fund structure in accordance with Instruction 5, you should only complete a separate Section 4 with respect to the reporting fund for such master-feeder arrangement or parallel fund structure.

#### Section 5 - Current report for large hedge fund advisers

Section 5 Section 5 is the current reporting form about qualifying hedge funds. You must complete and file Section 5 for any reporting event with respect to a qualifying hedge fund you advise.

## Section 6 - Current report for advisers to private equity funds

Section 6 Section 6 is the current reporting form about *private equity funds*. You must complete and file Section 6 for any *reporting event* with respect to a *private equity fund* you advise.

### Section 7 – Advisers requesting a temporary hardship exemption

Section 7 See Instruction 14 for details.

## 4. I am a subadviser or engage a subadviser for a *private fund*. Who is responsible for reporting information about that *private fund*?

Only one private fund adviser should complete and file Form PF for each private fund. If the adviser that filed Form ADV Section 7.B.1 with respect to any private fund is required to file Form PF, the same adviser must also complete and file Form PF for that private fund. If the adviser that filed Form ADV Section 7.B.1 with respect to any private fund is not required to file Form PF (e.g., because it is an exempt reporting adviser) and one or more other advisers to the fund is required to file Form PF, another adviser must complete and file Form PF for that private fund.

Where a question requests aggregate information regarding the *private funds* that you advise, you should only include information regarding the *private funds* for which you are filing Section 1b of Form PF.

Page 4

5. When am I required to aggregate information regarding parallel funds, parallel managed accounts, master-feeder arrangements and funds managed by related persons?

You are required to aggregate related funds and accounts differently depending on the purpose of the aggregation.

Reporting thresholds. For purposes of determining whether you meet any reporting threshold, you must aggregate parallel funds, dependent parallel managed accounts and master-feeder funds. In addition, you must treat any private fund or parallel managed account advised by any of your related persons as though it were advised by you. You are not required, however, to aggregate private funds or parallel managed accounts of any related person that is separately operated.

Responding to questions. When reporting on individual funds, you may provide information regarding master-feeder arrangements or parallel fund structures either in the aggregate or separately, provided that you do so consistently throughout the Form. (For example, you may complete either a single Section 1b for all of the funds in a master-feeder arrangement or a separate Section 1b for each fund in the arrangement, but you must then take the same approach when completing other applicable sections of the Form.) Where a question requests aggregate information regarding the private funds that you advise, you should only include information regarding the private funds for which you are filing Section 1b of Form PF. You are not required to report information regarding parallel managed accounts (except in Question 11). You should not report information for any private fund advised by any of your related persons unless you have identified that related person in Question 1(b) as a related person for which you are filing Form PF.

See the table below for additional details.

For purposes of reporting information in Sections 1b, 1c, 2b, 3 and 4
You may, but are not required to, report answers on an aggregated basis for any private funds that are part of the same master-feeder arrangement (even if you did not, or were not permitted to, aggregate these private funds for purposes of Form ADV Section 7.B.1)
You may, but are not required to, report answers on an aggregated basis for any private funds that are part of the same parallel fund structure
You are not required to report information regarding parallel managed accounts (except in Question 11)
You should not report information for any private fund advised by any of your related persons unless you have identified that related person in Question 1(b) as a related person for which you are filing Form PF

Page 5

6. I am required to aggregate funds or accounts to determine whether I meet a reporting threshold, or I am electing to aggregate funds for reporting purposes. How do I "aggregate" funds or accounts for these purposes?

Where two or more parallel funds or master-feeder funds are aggregated in accordance with Instruction 5, you must treat the aggregated funds as if they were all one private fund. Investments that a feeder fund makes in a master fund should be disregarded but other investments of the feeder fund should be treated as though they were investments of the aggregated fund.

Where you are aggregating dependent parallel managed accounts to determine whether you meet a reporting threshold, assets held in the accounts should be treated as assets of the private funds with which they are aggregated.

Example 1.

You advise a master-feeder arrangement with one feeder fund. The feeder fund has invested \$500 in the master fund and holds a foreign exchange derivative with a notional value of \$100. The master fund has used the \$500 received from the feeder fund to invest in corporate bonds. Neither fund has any other assets or liabilities.

For purposes of determining whether the funds comprise a qualifying hedge fund, this master-feeder arrangement should be treated as a single private fund whose only investments are \$500 in corporate bonds and a foreign exchange derivative with a notional value of \$100. If you elect to aggregate the master-feeder arrangement for reporting purposes, the treatment would be the same.

Example 2.

You advise a parallel fund structure consisting of two hedge funds, named parallel fund A and parallel fund B. You also advise a related dependent parallel managed account. The account and each fund have invested in corporate bonds of Company X and have no other assets or liabilities. The value of parallel fund A's investment is \$400, the value of parallel fund B's investment is \$300 and the value of the account's investment is \$200.

For purposes of determining whether either of the parallel funds is a qualifying hedge fund, the entire parallel fund structure and the related dependent parallel managed account should be treated as a single private fund whose only asset is \$900 of corporate bonds issued by Company X.

If you elect to aggregate the *parallel fund structure* for reporting purposes, you would disregard the *dependent parallel managed account*, so the result would be a single *private fund* whose only asset is \$700 of *corporate bonds* issued by Company X.

7. I advise a *private fund* that invests in other *private funds* (e.g., a "fund of funds"). How should I treat these investments for purposes of Form PF?

<u>Investments in other private funds generally</u>. For purposes of this Form PF, you may disregard any private fund's equity investments in other private funds. However, if you disregard these investments, you must do so consistently (e.g., do not include disregarded investments in the net asset value used for determining whether the fund is a "hedge fund"). For Question 17, even if you disregard these assets, you may report the performance of the entire fund and are not required to recalculate performance in order to exclude these investments. Do not disregard any liabilities, even if incurred in connection with these investments.

Funds that invest substantially all of their assets in other private funds. If you advise a private fund that (i) invests substantially all of its assets in the equity of private funds for which you are not an

Page 6

adviser and (ii) aside from such *private fund* investments, holds only *cash and cash equivalents* and instruments acquired for the purpose of hedging currency exposure, then you are only required to complete Section 1b for that fund. For all other purposes, you should disregard such fund. For example, where questions request aggregate information regarding the *private funds* you advise, do not include the assets or liabilities of any such fund.

Solely for purposes of this Instruction 7, you may treat as a *private fund* any issuer formed under the laws of a jurisdiction other than the United States that has not offered or sold its securities in the United States or to *United States persons* but that would be a *private fund* if it had engaged in such an offering or sale.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, you must include disregarded assets in responding to Question 10.

## 8. I advise a *private fund* that invests in companies that are not *private funds*. How should I treat these investments for purposes of Form PF?

Except as provided in Instruction 7, investments in funds should be included for all purposes under this Form PF. You are not, however, required to "look through" a fund's investments in any other entity unless the Form specifically requests information regarding that entity or the other entity's primary purpose is to hold assets or incur leverage as part of the *reporting fund's* investment activities.

## 9. When am I required to update Form PF?

You are required to update Form PF at the following times:

Periodic filings (large hedge fund advisers) Within 60 calendar days after the end of your first, second and third fiscal quarters, you must file a *quarterly update* that updates the answers to all Items in this Form PF relating to the *hedge funds* that you advise.

Within 60 calendar days after the end of your fourth fiscal quarter, you must file a quarterly update that updates the answers to all Items in this Form PF. You may, however, submit an initial filing for the fourth quarter that updates information relating only to the hedge funds that you advise so long as you amend your Form PF within 120 calendar days after the end of the quarter to update information relating to any other private funds that you advise. When you file such an amendment, you are not required to update information previously filed for such quarter.

Periodic filings (large liquidity fund advisers) Within 15 calendar days after the end of your first, second and third fiscal quarters, you must file a *quarterly update* that updates the answers to all Items in this Form PF relating to the *liquidity funds* that you advise.

Within 15 calendar days after the end of your fourth fiscal quarter, you must file a quarterly update that updates the answers to all Items in this Form PF. You may, however, submit an initial filing for the fourth quarter that updates information relating only to the *liquidity funds* that you advise so long as you amend your Form PF within 120 calendar days after the end of the quarter to update information relating to any other *private funds* that you advise (subject to the next paragraph). When you file such an amendment, you are not required to update information previously filed for such quarter.

Page 7

If you are both a large liquidity fund adviser and a large hedge fund adviser, you must file your quarterly updates with respect to the liquidity funds that you advise within 15 calendar days and with respect to the hedge funds you advise within 60 calendar days.

### Periodic filings (all other advisers)

Within 120 calendar days after the end of your fiscal year, you must file an annual update that updates the answers to all Items in this Form PF.

Large hedge fund advisers and large liquidity fund advisers are not required to file annual updates but instead file quarterly updates for the fourth quarter.

## Transition filing

If you are transitioning from quarterly to annual filing because you are no longer a large hedge fund adviser or large liquidity fund adviser, then you must complete and file Item A of Section 1a and check the box in Section 1a indicating that you are making your final quarterly filing. You must file your transition filing no later than the last day on which your next quarterly update would be timely.

Current reports (large hedge fund advisers and advisers to private equity funds) Large hedge fund advisers must file a current report in Section 5 and advisers to private equity funds must file a current report in Section 6, upon certain reporting events. See Section 5 and Section 6, respectively, for filing deadlines.

#### Final filing

If you are no longer required to file Form PF, then you must complete and file Item A of Section 1a and check the box in Section 1a indicating that you are making your final filing. You must file your final filing no later than the last day on which your next Form PF update would be timely. This applies to all Form PF filers.

Failure to update your Form PF as required by these instructions is a violation of SEC and, where applicable, CFTC rules and could lead to revocation of your registration.

## 10. How do I obtain private fund identification numbers for my reporting funds?

Each private fund must have an identification number for purposes of reporting on Form ADV and Form PF. Private fund identification numbers can only be obtained by filing Form ADV.

If you need to obtain a private fund identification number and you are required to file a quarterly update of Form PF prior to your next annual update of Form ADV, then you must acquire the identification number by filing an other-than-annual amendment to your Form ADV and following the instructions on Form ADV for generating a new number. When filing an other-than-annual amendment for this purpose, you must complete and file all of Form ADV Section 7.B.1 for the new private fund.

See Instruction 6 to Part 1A of Form ADV for additional information regarding the acquisition and use of private fund identification numbers.

### 11. Who must sign my Form PF or update?

The individual who signs the Form PF depends upon your form of organization:

- For a sole proprietorship, the sole proprietor.
- For a partnership, a general partner.

Page 8

- For a corporation, an authorized principal officer.
- For a limited liability company, a managing member or authorized person.
- For a SID, a principal officer of your bank who is directly engaged in the management, direction or supervision of your investment advisory activities.
- · For all others, an authorized individual who participates in managing or directing your affairs.

The signature does not have to be notarized and should be a typed name.

If you and one or more of your *related persons* are filing a single Form PF, then Form PF may be signed by one or more individuals; however, the individual, or the individuals collectively, must have authority, as provided above, to sign both on your behalf and on behalf of all such *related persons*.

#### 12. How do I file my Form PF?

You must file Form PF electronically through the Form PF filing system on the Investment Adviser Registration Depository website (www.iard.com), which contains detailed filing instructions. Questions regarding filing through the Form PF filing system should be addressed to the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) at 240-386-4848.

If you are a *large hedge fund adviser* filing a current report in Section 5, only file Section 5. Do not file any other sections of the form. If you are an adviser to *private equity funds* filing a current report in Section 6 only file Section 6. Do not file any other sections of the form. For all other types of filings, file the applicable sections as provided in Instruction 3.

## 13. Are there filing fees?

Yes, you must pay a filing fee for your Form PF filings. The Form PF filing fee schedule is published at http://www.sec.gov/iard and http://www.iard.com.

#### 14. What if I am not able to file electronically?

A temporary hardship exemption is available if you encounter unanticipated technical difficulties that prevent you from making a timely filing with the Form PF filing system, such as a computer malfunction or electrical outage. This exemption does <u>not permit you to file on paper</u>; instead, it extends the deadline for an electronic filing for seven "business days" (as such term is used in *SEC* rule 204(b)-1(f)).

To request a temporary hardship exemption, you must complete and file on paper Item A of Section 1a and Section 7 of Form PF, checking the box in Section 1a indicating that you are requesting a temporary hardship exemption. Mail one manually signed original and one copy of your exemption filing to: U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, Branch of Regulations and Examinations, Mail Stop 0-25, 100 F Street NE, Washington, DC 20549. You must preserve in your records a copy of any temporary hardship exemption filing. Any request for a temporary hardship exemption must be filed no later than one business day after the electronic Form PF filing was due. For more information, see SEC rule 204(b)-1(f).

## 15. May I rely on my own methodologies in responding to Form PF? How should I enter requested information?

You may respond to this Form using your own internal methodologies and the conventions of your service providers, provided the information is consistent with information that you report internally and to current and prospective investors. However, your methodologies must be consistently applied and your responses must be consistent with any instructions or other guidance relating to this Form. You may explain any of your methodologies, including related assumptions, in Question 4.

Page 9

In responding to Questions on this Form, the following guidelines apply <u>unless otherwise</u> <u>specifically indicated</u>:

- provide the requested information as of the close of business on the data reporting date;
- if information is requested for any month or quarter, provide the requested information as of the close of business on the last calendar day of the month or quarter, respectively;
- if a question requests information expressed as a percentage, enter the response as a percentage (not a decimal) and round to the nearest one percent;
- if a question requests a monetary value, provide the information in U.S. dollars as of the data reporting date, rounded to the nearest thousand;
- if a question requests a numerical value other than a percentage or a dollar value, provide information rounded to the nearest whole number;
- if a question requests information regarding a "position" or "positions," you should determine
  whether a set of legal and contractual rights constitutes a "position" in a manner consistent with
  your internal recordkeeping and risk management procedures (e.g., some advisers may record as
  a single position two or more partially offsetting legs of a transaction entered into with the same
  counterparty under the same master agreement, while others may record these as separate
  positions);
- if a question requires you to distinguish long positions from short positions, classify positions in
  a manner consistent with your internal recordkeeping and risk management procedures
  (provided that, for CDS, exotic CDS, index CDS, and single name CDS, the protection seller
  should be viewed as long and the protection buyer should be viewed as short);
- · do not net long and short positions;
- for derivatives (other than options), "value" means gross notional value; for options, "value" means delta adjusted notional value; for all other investments and for all borrowings where the reporting fund is the creditor, "value" means market value or, where there is not a readily available market value, fair value; for borrowings where the reporting fund is the debtor, "value" means the value you report internally and to current and prospective investors; and
- for questions 20, 21, 25, 28, and 35, the numerator you use to determine the percentage of net
  asset value should be measured on the same basis as gross asset value and may result in
  responses that total more than 100%.

## 16. How do I amend Form PF, for example, to make a correction?

If you discover that information you filed on Form PF was not accurate at the time of filing, you may correct the information by re-filing and checking the box in Section 1a, Section 5, or Section 6, as applicable, indicating that you are amending a previously submitted filing. You are not required to update information that you believe in good faith properly responded to Form PF on the date of filing even if that information is subsequently revised for purposes of your recordkeeping, risk management or investor reporting (such as estimates that are refined after completion of a subsequent audit).

Large hedge fund advisers and large liquidity fund advisers that comply with their fourth quarter filing obligations by submitting an initial filing followed by an amendment in accordance with Instruction 9 will not be viewed as affirming responses regarding one fund solely by providing updated information regarding another fund at a later date.

Page 10

## 17. How may I preserve on Form PF the anonymity of a private fund that I advise?

If you seek to preserve the anonymity of a *private fund* that you advise by maintaining its identity in your books and records in numerical or alphabetical code, or similar designation, pursuant to rule 204-2(d), you may identify the *private fund* on Form PF using the same code or designation in place of the fund's name.

## 18. May I report on Form PF regarding a *commodity pool* that is not a *private fund*? How should I treat the *commodity pool* for purposes of Form PF?

If you are otherwise required to report on Form PF, you may report information regarding any commodity pool you advise on Form PF, even if it is not a private fund. Properly reporting on Form PF regarding the commodity pool will constitute substitute compliance with CFTC reporting requirements to the extent provided in CEA rule 4.27.

Commodity pools should be treated as *hedge funds* for purposes of Form PF. If you are reporting on Form PF regarding a *commodity pool* that is not a *private fund*, then treat it as a *private fund* for purposes of Form PF. However, such a *commodity pool* is not required to be included when determining whether you exceed one or more reporting thresholds. If such a *commodity pool* is a *qualifying hedge fund* and you are otherwise required to report information in section 2a of Form PF, then you must report regarding the *commodity pool* in section 2b of Form PF.

## Federal Information Law and Requirements for a Collection of Information

Section 204(b) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-4(b)] authorizes the SEC to collect the information that Form PF requires. The information collected on Form PF is designed to facilitate the Financial Stability Oversight Council's ("FSOC") monitoring of systemic risk in the private fund industry and to assist FSOC in determining whether and how to deploy its regulatory tools with respect to nonbank financial companies. The SEC and CFTC may also use information collected on Form PF in their regulatory programs, including examinations, investigations and investor protection efforts relating to private fund advisers. Filing Form PF is mandatory for advisers that satisfy the criteria described in Instruction 1 to the Form. See also 17 C.F.R. § 275.204(b)-1. The SEC does not intend to make public information reported on Form PF that is identifiable to any particular adviser or private fund, although the SEC may use Form PF information in an enforcement action. See Section 204(b) of the Advisers Act.

An agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid control number. The Office of Management and Budget has reviewed this collection of information under 44 U.S.C. § 3507. Any member of the public may direct any comments concerning the accuracy of the burden estimate and any suggestion for reducing this burden to: Secretary, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F Street NE, Washington, DC 20549.

Form PF Section 1a	Information about you (to be completed b			Page 1 of 55			
Section 1a: Information about you and your related persons							
Check the box that indicates what you would like to do:  A. If you are not a large hedge fund adviser or large liquidity fund adviser:  Submit your first filing on Form PF  for the period ended:  Submit an annual update  for the period ended:  Amend a previously submitted filing  for the period ended:  Submit a final filing  Request a temporary hardship exemption  B. If you are a large hedge fund adviser or large liquidity fund adviser:  Submit your first filing on Form PF  for the [1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th] quarter, which ended:  Amend a previously submitted filing  for the [1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th] quarter, which ended:  Amend a previously submitted filing  for the [1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th] quarter, which ended:  Transition to annual reporting  Submit a final filing  Request a temporary hardship exemption							
Item A. Information about you							
(This should b first, and midd Please use the							
Legal name	SEC 801-Number	Number, if any	ID, if any	ID suffix, if any			
(b) Provide the following information for each of the <i>related persons</i> , if any, with respect to which you are reporting information on this Form PF:							
Legal name	SEC 801-Number	NFA ID Number, if any	Large trader ID, if any	Large trader ID suffix, if any			
	1						

3	Form PF	Information about you and your related persons	Page 2 of 55	
- (	9 31 1		20 0 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2	
	Section 1a	(to be completed by all Form PF filers)		

2. Signatures of sole proprietor or authorized representative (see Instruction 11 to Form PF).

## Signature on behalf of the firm and its related persons:

Date:

I, the undersigned, sign this Form PF on behalf of, and with the authority of, the *firm*. In addition, I sign this Form PF on behalf of, and with the authority of, each of the *related persons* identified in Question 1(b) (other than any *related person* for which another individual has signed this Form PF below).

persons identified in Question 1(b) (other than any relating individual has signed this Form PF below).	ited person for which another
To the extent that Section 1 or 2 of this Form PF is file obligation imposed by <i>CEA</i> rule 4.27, the <i>firm</i> , each <i>re</i> this Form PF, and I shall accept that any false or misler material omission therefrom shall constitute a violation	lated person for which I am signing adding statement of a material fact therein or
Name of individual:	
Signature:	
Title:	
Email address:	***
Telephone contact number (include area code and, if outside the United States, country code):	
Date:	
Signature on behalf of related persons:	
I, the undersigned, sign this Form PF on behalf of, and person(s) identified below.	with the authority of, the related
To the extent that Section 1 or 2 of this Form PF is file obligation imposed by <i>CEA</i> rule 4.27, each <i>related per</i> that any false or misleading statement of a material fact shall constitute a violation of section 6(c)(2) of the <i>CEA</i>	son identified below and I shall accept therein or material omission therefrom
Name of each <i>related person</i> on behalf of which this individual is signing:	
Name of individual:	
Signature:	
Title:	
Email address:	
Telephone contact number (include area code and, if outside the United States, country code):	

Form PF	Information about you and your related persons	Page 3 of 55
Pormit		1 age 5 01 55
Section 1a	(to be completed by all Form PF filers)	

## Item B. Information about assets of private funds that you advise

 Provide a breakdown of your regulatory assets under management and your net assets under management as follows:

(If you are filing a quarterly update for your first, second or third fiscal quarter, you are only required to update row (a), in the case of a large hedge fund adviser, or row (b), in the case of a large liquidity fund adviser.)

	Regulatory assets under management	Net assets under management
(a) Hedge funds		
(b) Liquidity funds		
(c) Private equity funds		
(d) Real estate funds		
(e) Securitized asset funds		
(f) Venture capital funds		
(g) Other private funds	:	
(h) Funds and accounts other than private funds (i.e., the remainder of your assets under management)		

#### Item C. Miscellaneous

4. You may use the space below to explain any assumptions that you made in responding to any question in this Form PF. Assumptions must be in addition to, or reasonably follow from, any instructions or other guidance relating to Form PF. If you are aware of any instructions or other guidance that may require a different assumption, provide a citation and explain why that assumption is not appropriate for this purpose.

Question number	Description

Forr	n PF		Information	about the m	rivate funds you advise	Page 4 of 55
	ion 1b	<u> </u>			all Form PF filers)	1 4 5 4 V 3 3 3
Sec	tion 1b: In	nforma	ation about the <i>p</i>	rivate fund:	you advise	170070
					Section 1b for each private	te fund that you advise.
Ite	m A. Report	ang jui	nd identifying info	rmation —————		
5.	(a) Name	of the	reporting fund	*******		,,
	(b) Privat	te fund i	identification numb	er of the rep	orting fund	
	(c) NFA i	dentific	ation number of th	e reporting fi	und, if applicable	
	(d) LEI of	f the <i>rej</i>	porting fund, if app	licable		
6.		porting	for all of the funds		uster fund of a master-fee r-feeder arrangement on	
	(See Instri respond " feeder fun	yes," d	5 for information r o not complete a s	egarding agg eparate Secti	gregation of master-feede ion 1b, 1c, 2b, 3 or 4 wit	or arrangements. If you h respect to any of the
			Yes		No	
7.	(a) Check you ar check	re repor	below if the report ting for all of the fi	<i>ing fund</i> is th ands in the st	e largest fund in a paralle ructure on an aggregated	el fund structure and basis. Otherwise,
	"yes,"	" do no			g aggregation of parallel b, 1c, 2b, 3 or 4 with resp	
			Yes		No	
			"yes" to Question lel fund structure.	7(a), comple	te (b) through (e) below f	or each other parallel
	(b) Name	of the	parallel fund		ovenimienimimienie.	
	(c) Privat	te fund i	identification numb	oer of the <i>par</i>	allel fund	
	(d) <i>NFA</i> i	dentific	ation number of th	e parallel fur	ad, if applicable	
	(e) LEI of	f the pa	rallel fund, if appli	çable		
Ite	m B. Assets	, finan	cing and investor	concentratio	n	
· in	Section					<u> </u>
8.						
					orted in response to ques nay not be the same if you	
	on a quari	terly ba	sis, if you are aggr	egating a <mark>ma</mark>	ster-feeder arrangement f	or purposes of this
					feeder arrangement for purallel funds for purposes of	

Net asset value of reporting fund.....

Forn Secti	n PF on 1b		ation about the <i>pro</i> be completed by a	<i>ivate funds</i> you advise Il Form PF filers)	Page 5 of 55
10.	Value of	reporting fund's înve	estments in equity o	of other private funds	
11.				the reporting fund	
	(If any o	your parallel manag	ged accounts relates	to more than one of the pri in connection with the larg	vate funds you
12.		he following inform of creditors.	ation regarding the	value of the reporting fund	's borrowings and
	you are o		43 in Section 2b. De	for any reporting fund with o not net out amounts that it and to creditors.)	
		entages borrowed fi ately 100%.)	om the specified typ	ves of creditors should add	up to
	(a) Dolla	ir amount of total $bo$	rrowings	\$\$#\$	***************************************
	(b) Perce	entage borrowed fror	n U.S. financial inst	titutions	
	(c) Perce	entage borrowed from	n non-U.S. financia	l institutions	in transmission in the contract of the contrac
	(d) Perce	entage borrowed from	m U.S. creditors that	t are not financial institution	18
	(e) Perce	entage borrowed from	n non-U.S. creditors	s that are not financial instit	utions
13.	(a) Does	the reporting fund h	ave any outstanding	derivatives positions?	
				ovide the aggregate value of	
		not required to respo nswering Question 4		for any reporting fund with i	respect to which
14.	below. Fo	or assets and liabilitie	es that you report in	and liabilities categorized u ternally and to current and p you are required to determin	prospective

order to report the reporting fund's regulatory assets under management on Form ADV, categorize them into the following categories based on the valuation assumptions utilized:

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs, such as your assumptions or the fund's assumptions used to determine the fair value of the asset or liability.

For any assets and liabilities that you report internally and to current and prospective investors as representing a measurement attribute other than fair value, and for which you are not required to determine fair value in order to report the reporting fund's regulatory assets under management on Form ADV, separately report these assets and liabilities in the "cost-based" measurement column.

(If the fund's financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") or another accounting standard that requires the

į,			
	Form PF	Information about the private funds you advise	Page 6 of 55
	Section 1b	(to be completed by all Form PF filers)	

categorization of assets and liabilities using a fair value hierarchy similar to that established under U.S. GAAP, then respond to this question using the fair value hierarchy established under the applicable accounting standard.)

(This question requires the use of fair values and cost-based measurements, which may be different from the values contemplated by Instruction 15. You are only required to respond to this question if you are filing an annual update or a quarterly update for your fourth fiscal quarter.)

quarter.)		Fair v	alue	
	Leve	1 Level	2 Lev	vel 3 Cost-based
Assets	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
Liabilities	\$	S	S	<u> </u>
	the five benefi	percentage of the <i>rep</i> cial owners having th		
				ficial owners of the reporting gle beneficial owner.)
following (Include e respect to or after th	groups of inve ach investor in beneficial inte	stors. n only one group. The rests outstanding prie ay respond to this que	e total should add up or to March 31, 201	that is beneficially owned by to approximately 100%. Wit 2, that have not been transfer ith estimates based on data
(a) Indivi	luals that are (	Inited States persons	(including their trus	ts)
(b) Indivi	luals that are r	ot United States pers	ons (including their	trusts)
(c) Broke	-dealers	Signatur esterik bir yarriyan tragilik etter elekti		egiste parameter statistic
(d) Insura	nce companies	Programme and programme and programme and the second of	\$	Secured a finite and a secure a different and a secure.
(e) Invest	ment companie	es registered with the	SEC	
(f) Privat	e funds	e e fore à le se en entre entre en la graphe par entre que été par entre en la graphe en la graphe de la graphe	en pak indigen dan paka di katawan da da nanis	VIII. III. III. III. III. III. III. III
(g) Non-p	rofits	a ence enclose e enclos de la enclosión e enclos en enclos en enclos en enclos en enclos en enclos en enclos e		ikinasa kananana en ananan kananan ka
(h) Pensio	on plans (exclu	ding governmental p	ension plans)	
(i) Banki	ng or thrift ins	titutions (proprietary)		
(j) State	or municipal g	overnment entities (e	cluding governmen	tal pension plans)
(k) State	or municipal g	overnmental pension	plans	***************************************
(1) Sover	eign wealth fu	nds and foreign offici	al institutions	in the state of th
benef becau	cial ownership se the benefici		nown and cannot rea ugh a chain involvir	
(n) Other	************	*******************	,xx+f64+1+1641444+1+14444444444444444444444	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Form PF	Information about the private funds you advise	Page 7 of 55
Section 1b	(to be completed by all Form PF filers)	

#### Item C. Reporting fund performance

17. Provide the reporting fund's gross and net performance, as reported to current and prospective investors (or, if calculated for other purposes but not reported to investors, as so calculated). If the fund reports different performance results to different groups of investors, provide the most representative results. You are required to provide monthly and quarterly performance results only if such results are calculated for the reporting fund (whether for purposes of reporting to current or prospective investors or otherwise).

(If your fiscal year is different from the reporting fund's fiscal year, then for any portion of the reporting fund's fiscal year that has not been completed as of the data reporting date, provide the relevant information from that portion of the reporting fund's preceding fiscal year.)

(Enter your responses as percentages <u>rounded to the nearest one-hundredth of one percent</u>. Performance results for monthly and quarterly periods should not be annualized. If any period precedes the date of the fund's formation, enter "NA". You are not required to include performance results for any period with respect to which you previously provided performance results for the reporting fund on Form PF.)

	Last day of fiscal period	Gross performance	Net of management fees and incentive fees and allocations
(a) 1st month of reporting fund's fiscal year		4. T.	
(b) 2nd month of reporting fund's fiscal year		`	
(c) 3rd month of reporting fund's fiscal year			
(d) First quarter			
(e) 4th month of reporting fund's fiscal year			
(f) 5th month of reporting fund's fiscal year			
(g) 6th month of reporting fund's fiscal year			
(h) Second quarter			
(i) 7th month of reporting fund's fiscal year			
(j) 8th month of reporting fund's fiscal year			
(k) 9th month of reporting fund's fiscal year			
(1) Third quarter			
(m) 10th month of reporting fund's fiscal year			
(n) 11th month of reporting fund's fiscal year			
(o) 12th month of reporting fund's fiscal year			
(p) Fourth quarter			
(q) Reporting fund's most recently completed fiscal year			

Tr.	m PF	To Comment to the state of the	<i>C. T.</i>	Dans 9 of 55
	m rr tion 1c	Information about the hedge (to be completed by all Form PF filers		Page 8 of 55
Sec	tion 1c: In	formation about the hedge funds you	advise	
Subj	ject to Instru	action 5, you must complete a separate Secti	on 1c for each hedge fund th	hat you advise.
Iten	n A. <i>Repor</i>	ting fund identifying information		
18.	(a) Name	of the reporting fund	<u>CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC</u>	enessizini
	(b) Priva	te fund identification number of the reporting	g fund	*********
Iten	n B. Certai	n information regarding the <i>reporting fur</i>	ıd	
19.	Does the r	eporting fund have a single primary investment	ent strategy or multiple stra	itegies?
	Singl	e primary strategy	strategy	
	view, the r percentage (Select the the descri select "ot any of the strategies report usi (The strate under mu	e of the reporting fund's net asset value repreparting fund's allocation among strategies to deployed capital, you may also provide the investment strategies that best describe the ptions below do not precisely match your chier" only if a strategy that the reporting funstrategies identified below. You may refer to as of the data reporting date or throughout ing the same basis in future filings.) egies listed below are mutually exclusive (i.e. tiple strategies). If providing percentages of ately 100%.)	is appropriately represente that information. e reporting fund's strategies aracterization of those strated uses is significantly differ to the reporting fund's use of the reporting period, but you the reporting period, but you the country of the same as of capital, the total should as	d by the s, even if tegies; ent from f these i must ssets dd up to
	Stra	ntegy	% of $NAV$ (required)	% of capital (optional)
	ř.		(required)	21#1100 1100
		ity, Market Neutral		
		ity, Long/Short		
	Equ	ity, Short Bias		
	☐ Equ	ity, Long Bias		
	☐ Mac	cro, Active Trading		
	☐ Mac	ero, Commodity		
	☐ Mac	cro, Currency		
	☐ Mac	ero, Global Maero		

Form PF Section 1c		Information about the <i>hedge funds</i> you advi (to be completed by all Form PF filers that advise <i>hed</i>	se Page 9 of 55		
betton te (to be completed by an 1 offir 11 more distribution (congestional)					
	1-	tive Value, Fixed Income Asset Backed			
	Relative Value, Fixed Income Convertible Arbitrage				
	Rela	tive Value, Fixed Income Corporate			
	☐ Rela	tive Value, Fixed Income Sovereign			
	☐ Rela	tive Value, Volatility Arbitrage			
	_ Ever	nt Driven, Distressed/Restructuring			
	☐ Ever	nt Driven, Risk Arbitrage/Merger Arbitrage			
	☐ Ever	nt Driven, Equity Special Situations			
	☐ Cred	lit, Long/Short			
	☐ Crea	lit, Asset Based Lending			
	☐ Mar	aged Futures/CTA, Fundamental			
	☐ Mar	aged Futures/CTA, Quantitative			
	☐ Inve	stment in other funds			
	Oth	ar:			
21.	During the reporting period, approximately what percentage of the reporting fund's net asset value was managed using high-frequency trading strategies?  (In your response, please do not include strategies using algorithms solely for trade execution. This question concerns strategies that are substantially computer-driven, where decisions to place bids or offers, and to buy or sell, are primarily based on algorithmic responses to intraday price action in equities, futures and options, and where the total number of shares or contracts traded throughout the day is generally significantly larger than the net change in position from one day to the next.)				
	□ 0%	☐ less than 10% ☐ 10-25%	<b>26-50%</b>		
	51-75°	6			
22.	counterpar (For purpe exposures guarantees regarded a (In your re and (ii) an (However,	e five counterparties to which the reporting fund has the greaty credit exposure, measured as a percentage of the reporting sess of this question, you should treat affiliated entities a may be contractually or legally set-off or netted across to or may otherwise be obligated to satisfy the obligations as counterparties for purposes of this question.) sponse, you should take into account: (i) mark-to-market or loans or loan commitments.)  you should not take into account: (i) margin posted by the sponse of debt or equity securities issued by the counterparty.)	ng fund's net asset value.  as a single group to the extent  hose entities and/or one affiliate  of another. CCPs should not be  gains and losses on derivatives;		

Form PF Section 1c	Information about the <i>hedge funds</i> you advise (to be completed by all Form PF filers that advise <i>hedge funds</i> )		Page 10 of 55	
	Legal name of the counterparty (or, if multiple affiliated entities, counterparties)	Indicate below if the counterparty is affiliated with a major financial institution	Exposure (% of reporting fund's net asset value)	
(a)		[drop-down list of counterparty names] Other:		
<b>(b)</b>		[Not applicable] [drop-down list of counterparty names] Other:		
(c)		[Not applicable] [drop-down list of counterparty names] Other:		
(d)		[Not applicable] [drop-down list of counterparty names] Other:		
(e)		[Not applicable] [drop-down list of counterparty names] Other: [Not applicable]		

## Identify the five counterparties that have the greatest mark-to-market net counterparty credit exposure to the *reporting fund*, measured in U.S. dollars.

(For purposes of this question, you should treat affiliated entities as a single group to the extent exposures may be contractually or legally set-off or netted across those entities and/or one affiliate guarantees or may otherwise be obligated to satisfy the obligations of another. CCPs should not be regarded as counterparties for purposes of this question.) (In your response, you should take into account: (i) mark-to-market gains and losses on derivatives; and (ii) any loans or loan commitments.)

(However, you should not take into account: (i) margin posted to the counterparty; or (ii) holdings of debt or equity securities issued by the counterparty.)

	Legal name of the counterparty (or, if multiple affiliated entities, counterparties)	Indicate below if the counterparty is affiliated with a major financial institution	Exposure (% of reporting fund's net asset value)
(a)		[drop-down list of counterparty names] Other: [Not applicable]	
(b)		[drop-down list of counterparty names] Other: [Not applicable]	and the second second
(c)		[drop-down list of counterparty names] Other: [Not applicable]	
(d)		[drop-down list of counterparty names] Other: [Not applicable]	

100 1000 0	n PF ion 1		Information abo	out the <i>hedge funds</i> you advise Form PF filers that advise <i>hedge funds</i> )	Page 11 of 55
Sect	IUII I	<u> </u>	(to be completed by an i	total Fr mets mat adviso neage junes)	
	-(e)			[drop-down list of counterparty names] Other: [Not applicable]	
24.	dur (Pr	ing the <i>ovide</i> g	reporting period. ood faith estimates of the mod	ling your use of trading and clearing mech	leared by the
reporting fund, and not the market as a whole. For purposes of this question, a "trade" incl transaction, whether entered into on a bilateral basis or through an exchange, trading facilit system and whether long or short. With respect to clearing, transactions for which margin is customer omnibus account at a CCP should be considered cleared by a CCP. Tri-party repo where repo collateral is held at a custodian (not including a CCP) that acts as a third party both the repo buyer and the repo seller.)					ding facility or othe, h margin is held in a -party <b>repo</b> applies hird party agent to
	(The	e total stion fe	in each part of this question shor which the reporting fund en	nould add up to 100%. Enter "NA" in eac gaged in no relevant trades.)	h part of this
					%
	(a)	Estim were	ated % (in terms of value) of straded by the reporting fund:	securities (other than derivatives) that	
		(	On a regulated exchange		:
		7	OTC		
	(b)		ated % (in terms of trade volume porting fund:	mes) of derivatives that were traded by	
On a regulated exchange or swap execution facility					
		C	OTC	Donostan Silvoja na jose silvojojo na Silvojo sa 150 lito ja poposta 1 šlovi na 1918 like.	
	(c)		ated % (in terms of trade volumporting fund and:	mes) of derivatives that were traded by	
		(	Cleared by a CCP	***************************************	
		1	Bilaterally transacted (i.e., not	cleared by a CCP)	
	(d)		ated % (in terms of value) of r ting fund and:	repo trades that were entered into by the	England School and the Control of th
			Cleared by a CCP	rungs (faspospolaus veintrus saugufatturgunturginosoppolus).	
		1	Bilaterally transacted (i.e., not	cleared by a CCP)	
25.	that		ot described in any of the cate	s net asset value relates to transactions gories listed in items (a) through (d) of	

Form PF	Aggregated information about hedge funds that you advise	Page 12 of 55
Section 2a	(to be completed by large private fund advisers only)	

## Section 2a: Aggregated information about hedge funds that you advise

### Item A. Exposure of hedge fund assets

#### 26. Aggregate hedge fund exposures.

(Give a dollar value for long and short positions as of the last day in each month of the reporting period, by sub-asset class, including all exposure whether held physically, synthetically or through derivatives. Enter "NA" in each space for which there are no relevant positions.)

(Include any closed out and OTC forward positions that have not yet expired/matured. Do not net positions within sub-asset classes. Positions held in side-pockets should be included as positions of the hedge funds. Provide the absolute value of short positions. Each position should only be included in a single sub-asset class.)

(Where "duration/WAT/10-year eq." is required, provide at least one of the following with respect to the position and indicate which measure is being used: bond duration, weighted average tenor or 10-year bond equivalent. Duration and weighted average tenor should be entered in terms of years to two decimal places.)

	1st Mo	onth	2n	d Month	3rd	Month
	LV	SV	LV	SV	LV	SV
Listed equity						
Issued by financial institutions						
Other listed equity						
Unlisted equity						
Issued by financial institutions	r		T	т		
Other unlisted equity	-	-				
	L		<u> </u>			
Listed equity derivatives						
Related to financial institutions					international constraints	
Other listed equity derivatives						
Derivative exposures to unlisted equities						
Related to financial institutions						
Other derivative exposures to unlisted						
equities	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	L		L
Corporate bonds issued by financial institutions (other than convertible bonds)	**********		221422343		0.111/20.001.0120.012.1.1	
Investment grade						
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						
Non-investment grade						
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						

Form PF Aggregated information about hedge funds that you advise
Section 2a (to be completed by large private fund advisers only)

Page 13 of 55

Corporate bonds not issued by financial institutions (other than convertible bonds)						
Investment grade	-		<b>-</b>			
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						
Non-investment grade			ļ			
Duration WAT 10-year eq		<u> </u>	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	
Convertible bonds issued by financial institutions						
Investment grade			<u> </u>			
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						
Non-investment grade						
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						
Convertible bonds not issued by financial institutions	į ir in kalaitonai suomai sainai kalaini sainai			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		<b>.</b>
Investment grade						
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						
Non-investment grade						
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						
Sovereign bonds and municipal bonds	13	ř	<del>†</del>	المحتجد المحتجد	<u> </u>	
U.S. treasury securities			ļ			
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq			ļ	ļ		
Agency securities		ļ	<u> </u>			
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						
GSE bonds						
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq	-					
Sovereign bonds issued by G10 countries other than the U.S.						
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						
Other sovereign bonds (including supranational bonds)						
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq				V-7		
U.S. state and local bonds						
☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						
	1					
Loans						
Leveraged loans						

orm PF ction 2a					se	Page 14 of 55		
	3	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			L	**	لسسست	
_	Duration WAT 10-year eq			<u> </u>		T		
	loans (not including repos)	-		<u> </u>		<del> </del>		
L	Duration WAT 10-year eq			L	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
			1	1	Γ	1	I	
A - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1						<b>-</b>		
∐ Di	iration WAT 10-year eq	L	<u> </u>	L	<u> </u>	<u></u>	<u> </u>	
	tured products			i	r	T	<del>r</del>	
	Duration WAT 10-year eq							
	,					ļ		
	Duration WAT 10-year eq							
	CLO							
	Duration WAT 10-year eq							
Other	ABS							
	Duration WAT 10-year eq							
Other	structured products							
Credit der	ivatives							
Single	name CDS							
Index	CDS							
Exotic	CDS							
			•	•		•		
Foreign ex	change derivatives (investment)							
	schange derivatives (hedging)		:					
	currency holdings							
	and the second s	L	L	<b></b>	L		l	
Interest ra	te derivatives							
171107 000 101		L	1:	L	L	Linear control	L	
Commodit	ies (derivatives)							
	oil		F			1		
	al gas			<u> </u>		<u> </u>		
	ai gas			<u> </u>		1		
			·			<del>                                     </del>		
	commodities					<u> </u>		
Giner	commountes	L	<u> </u>	L	L	L		
Commodit	ies (physical)							
			<u> </u>	Ι		T		
	ōll							
Natur	al gas	L		<u> </u>		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	

Form PF Section 2a		<b>hedge funds tl</b> ivate fund adv.		ise	Page 15 o	55		
,	<b>&gt;</b> ≟₹##	!		<u> </u>	T	[		
	iold	'			<del> </del>			
	ower	Control of the Contro						
.6	ther commodities	t er estitus est estitus estitus bet este estituitit in a			1			
Other	derivatives	entrante di institui di ini dan renga ani karafaran ni adalah dan arra						
Physi	cal real estate	socionistis in interiori						
Invesi	ments in internal pri	vate funds			1:			
Invest	ments in external pri	vate funds		Ŀ	i.			
	ments in registered i		:					
Cash	and cash equivalents	'			····			
	Certificates of deposit	,		T	1	T T		
		VAT 10-year eq						
100	ther deposits			***************************************				
	toney market funds							
C	Other cash and cash e excluding governmen	equivalents						
Invest	ments in funds for cases (other than mone	ash management						
	ments in other sub-a							
7. For each o	For each month of the <i>reporting period</i> , provide the <i>value</i> of turnover during the month in each of the asset classes listed below for the <i>hedge funds</i> that you advise.							
(The		uld be the sum of the ab			ons in the			
			1st Month	2nd	Month	3rd N	Ionth	
Listed	l equity							
	orate bonds (other the							
Conve	ertible bonds							
Sover	eign bonds and muni	cipal bonds						
Į.	I.S. treasury securitie	38						
	gency securities							
Č	SE bonds							
	overeign bonds issue ther than the U.S							
C	other sovereign bonds	s (including						

Form PF Section 2a			Aggregated information about hedge funds that you advise (to be completed by large private fund advisers only)	Page 16 of 55
	Futi		state and local bonds	
- partition	76 25111			
28.	(a)	Provi perce	de a geographical breakdown of the investments held by the <i>hedge funds</i> that intage of the total <i>net asset value</i> of these <i>hedge funds</i> ).	at you advise (by
			Instruction 15 for information on calculating the numerator for purposes of Question.)	
			Region	% of NAV
		(i)	Africa	-:
		(ii)	Asia and Pacific (other than the Middle East)	
		(iii)	Europe (EEA)	
		(iv)	Europe (other than EEA)	
		(v)	Middle East	
		(vi)	North America	
		(vii)	South America	*
		(viii)	Supranational	
	10		de the value of investments in the following countries held by the <i>hedge</i> s that you advise (by percentage of the total <i>net asset value</i> of these <i>hedge</i> s).	
			Instruction 15 for information on calculating the numerator for purposes of Question.)	
			Country	% of NAV
		(i)	Brazil	
		(ii)	China (including Hong Kong)	ו
		(iii)	India	
		(iv)	Japan	÷:
		(v)	Russia	k:
		(vi)	United States	«.

	m PF ion 2b	Information about <i>qualifying I</i> (to be completed by <i>large pr</i>	i <b>edge fun</b> ivate fund	ds that y l advisers	ou advise only)	[1	Page 17 c	of 55
Sect	tion 2b: Inf	ormation about qualifying hedge	<i>fund</i> s tl	nat you a	advise.			
resp hedg	ect to master	te a separate Section 2b for each qua- feeder arrangements and parallel fu- may report collectively or separate ons.	nd struct	ures that	collectively	comp	rise quai	ifying
Iten	n A. <i>Reportii</i>	ng fund identifying information	and the second s			\.		
29.	(a) Name o	f the reporting fund					Г	1
،ین		fund identification number of the rep						
	(b) Private	juna identification number of the rep	orung jur	1a	**************		A47	
Iten	n B. <i>Reportii</i>	ig fund exposures and trading						
30.	Reporting fi (Give a doll reporting pe synthetically relevant pos		as of the l exposure in each s	ast day in whether i pace for t	n each mont held physica which there	h of the ally, are no	i.	
	net position. positions of	closed out and OTC forward positions within sub-asset classes. Positions he the hedge funds. Provide the absolute be included in a single sub-asset class	eld in sid e value of	e-pockets	should be	include	d as	
	respect to th average ten	ration/WAT/10-year eq." is required, he position and indicate which measur or or 10-year bond equivalent. Durat herms of years to two decimal places.)	e is being	used: bo	nd duration	i, weigh	ited	
		· <del>-</del>	1st N	Ionth	2nd Mo	nth	3rd N	Aonth
			LV	SV	LV	SV	LV	SV
	Listed equit	<b>ÿ</b> :						
	~ ;	by financial institutions						
	Other h	sted equity						
	Unlisted eq	uity	<del> </del>		نتند موسعة المستعدد			·
	د ما سا	San la	ı	1				1

Issued by financial institutions ......
Other unlisted equity.....

Form PF Section 2 b	Information about qualifying  (to be completed by large p			Page 18	of 55
Accusi 20					
Listed equ	ity derivatives				
	ed to financial institutions				
Other	listed equity derivatives				
	exposures to unlisted equities	time the second			
Relate	ed to financial institutions				
Other	derivative exposures to unlisted				
equiti	es				
	e bonds issued by financial is (other than convertible bonds)				
	stment grade				
	Duration WAT 10-year eq				
Non-	investment grade				
	Duration WAT 10-year eq				
Non-i	Stment grade				
Convertible institution	le bonds issued by financial				
	stment grade		1	1	1
	Duration WAT 10-year eq				-
	investment grade				1
	Duration WAT 10-year eq				
	le bonds not issued by financial	<u> </u>			
Inve	stment grade				
	Duration WAT 10-year eq				
	investment grade				
	Duration WAT 10-year eq	<u>L</u>			
Sovereign	bonds and municipal bonds				
	reasury securities				
Г	Duration   WAT   10-year eq.				T

Form PF	Information about qualifying hedge funds that you advise			ie	Page 19 of 55		
Section 2b	(to be completed by large pr		**************************************				
400ne	y securities						
Agent	Duration WAT 10-year eq.						
<u>L.</u>				antiert aus en en en en	tota o santo.		
	bonds						
	Duration WAT 10-year eq						
	eign bonds issued by G10 countries						
	than the U.S.						
	Duration WAT 10-year eq						
	sovereign bonds (including national bonds)		-				
	Duration WAT 10-year eq						
	state and local bonds						
Ų.s. :							<u> </u>
L.	Duration WAT 10-year eq	L	<u> </u>	L	L	L	L
*							
Loans	4-2					1	1
	raged loans					<u> </u>	<u> </u>
	Duration WAT 10-year eq					<del> </del>	-
	r loans (not including repos)					ļ	
L.	Duration WAT 10-year eq	L	1	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>
				1	·	1	1
*.						ļ	ļ
∐ Du	tration WAT 10-year eq					<u> </u>	<u></u>
ADC/aterral	ured products						
	mannananananananananananananananananana					T	Γ
	Duration WAT 10-year eq					-	ļ
							<u> </u>
	Designation of Wart of 10 and 10						
	Duration WAT 10-year eq						ļ
	CLO						
	Duration WAT 10-year eq						<u> </u>
	ABS						
	Duration WAT 10-year eq			ļ. 			
Other	structured products						
Credit der		<del></del>	<del></del>	<del></del>	<del> </del>	T	г
	name CDS						ļ
	CDS	ļ	<u> </u>				<u> </u>
Exotic	7 CDS					<u> </u>	<u></u>
Foreign e.	xchange derivatives (investment)						
Foreign e.	xchange derivatives (hedging)						
Non-U.S.	currency holdings						

form PF Information about qualifying hedge funds that you advise ection 2b (to be completed by large private fund advisers only)					se	Page 20 of 55	
Interest	rate derivatives						
	dities (derivatives)	<u></u>	T	T.	T	Τ	Τ
	ıde oil		-	<u> </u>		<del> </del>	
Nat	tural gas						-
Goi	ld:	-					
Pov	wer	-				ļ	-
Oth	ner commodities	L	<u></u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	1	
Commo	dities (physical)						
Cru	ıde oil						
Nat	tural gas						
	ld						
Pov	wer						
Oth	ner commodities						
Other de	erivatives			<u> </u>			
Physical	l real estate						
Investm	ents in internal private funds			T	T		T
	ents in external private funds						
	ents in registered investment						
compan	ies		<u></u>			1	ļ
Cash an	d cash equivalents						
Cer	rtificates of deposit						
	☐ Duration ☐ WAT ☐ 10-year eq						
Oth	ner deposits						
	ney market funds						
Oth	ner cash and cash equivalents cluding government securities)						
Investm	ents in funds for cash management s (other than money market funds)						
Investm	ents in other sub-asset classes			<u> </u>			
	the reporting fund's base currency? own of currencies]						

Form PF	Information about <i>qualifying hedge funds</i> that you advise	Page 21 of 55
1.01.111.4.1		1 50 21 01 33
Section 2 b	(to be completed by <i>large private fund advisers</i> only)	

2. Provide the following information regarding the liquidity of the reporting fund's portfolio. (Specify the percentage by value of the reporting fund's positions that may be liquidated within each of the periods specified below. Each investment should be assigned to only one period and such assignment should be based on the shortest period during which you believe that such position could reasonably be liquidated at or near its carrying value. Use good faith estimates for liquidity based on market conditions over the reporting period and assuming no fire-sale discounting. In the event that individual positions are important contingent parts of the same trade, group all those positions under the liquidity period of the least liquid part (so, for example, in a convertible bond arbitrage trade, the liquidity of the short should be the same as the convertible bond). Exclude cash and cash equivalents.)
(The total should add up to approximately 100%.)

			% of por capable of liquidate	of being
	1 day or less			
	2 days - 7 days			
	8 days – 30 days			
	31 days = 90 days	***************		
	91 days – 180 days	*******		
	181 days – 365 days	jarjerevenski i kee		
	Longer than 365 days	***********		
		1st Month	2nd Month	3rd Month
33.	Value of reporting fund's unencumbered cash			ľ
34.	Total number of open positions (approximate), determined on the basis of each position and not the issuer or counterparty			

Form PF Section 2b			Information about qualifying hedge fur (to be completed by large private fun		Page 22 of 55
35. For each		each o	pen position of the reporting fund that represent		orting fund's net
	(a)		t month of the reporting period	% of net asset value	Sub-asset class
		(i)	Position		[drop-down of asset classes]
		(ii)	Position		[drop-down of asset classes]
	(b)	Sec	ond month of the reporting period		
		(i)	Position		[drop-down of asset classes]
		(ii)	Position		[drop-down of asset classes]
	(c)	Thi	rd month of the reporting period		
		(i)	Position		[drop-down of asset classes]
		(ii)	Position		[drop-down of asset classes]
36.	fun cou (Fo	d, prov interpai or purpe l collate	of the top five counterparties listed in your responsible the following information regarding the ty has posted to the reporting fund.  Soses of Questions 36, 37 and 38, include as collegeral posted under an arrangement pursuant to we	collateral and other of uteral assets purchased hich the secured party	credit support that the in connection with repo has loaned securities to
			r. Repos and reverse-repos with the same coun upe of collateral.)	terparty may be netted to	o the extent secured by
	(a)	Coun	terparty [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]:		
		(i)	value of collateral posted in the form of cash an	d cash equivalents	
		(ii)	value of collateral posted in the form of securitic cash equivalent instruments)		
		(iii)	value of other collateral and credit support posts amount of letters of credit and similar third part		
37.	fun	d, prov	of the top five counterparties listed in your respond ide the following information regarding the collar osted to the counterparty.		
	(a)	Coun	terparty [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]:		
		(i)	value of collateral posted in the form of cash an	d cash equivalents	
		(ii)	value of collateral posted in the form of securitic cash equivalent instruments)		
		(iii)	value of other collateral and credit support posts amount of letters of credit and similar third part		
38.	(a)		total amount of collateral and other credit suppoing fund, what percentage:	ort that counterparties ha	ive posted to the
		(i)	may be rehypothecated?		
		(ii)	has the reporting fund rehypothecated?		
	(b)		e total amount of collateral and other credit supp has posted to counterparties, what percentage ma		

Form PF Section 2b		)	Information about <i>qualifying hedge funds</i> that you advise (to be completed by <i>large private fund advisers</i> only)	Page 23 of 55	
39.	Durin CCF		reporting period, did the reporting fund clear any transactions directly the	rough a	
			☐ Yes ☐ No		
Iten	n C. <i>I</i>	Report	ing fund risk metrics		
40	(a)	Duri	ng the reporting period, did you regularly calculate the VaR of the report	ting fund?	
			ease respond without regard to whether you reported the result of this culation internally or to investors.)		
			Yes No		
	(b)	If yo	ou responded "yes" to Question 40(a), provide the following information.		
	7 %	(If y of c	ou regularly calculate the VaR of the reporting fund using multiple comb confidence interval, horizon and historical observation period, com trate response to this Question 40(b) for each such combination.)	inations	
		(i)	Confidence interval used (e.g., 100%-alpha%) (as a percentage)		
		(ii)	Time horizon used (in number of days)		
		(iii)	What weighting method was used to calculate VaR?		
			None Exponential Other:	***************************************	
		(iv)	If you responded "exponential" to Question 40(b)(iii), provide the weighting factor used (as a decimal to two places)		
		(v)	What method was used to calculate VaR?		
			Historical simulation Monte Carlo simulation		
			Parametric Other:		
		(vi)	Historical lookback period used (in number of years; enter "NA" if none used)	×.	
		(vii)	VaR at the end of the 1st month of the reporting period (as a % of NAV)	•	
		(viii	VaR at the end of the 2nd month of the reporting period (as a % of NAV)	•	
		(ix)	VaR at the end of the 3rd month of the reporting period (as a % of NAV)	¥*	
41.			any risk metrics other than (or in addition to) VaR that you consider to b to the reporting fund's risk management?	e:	
	(Sele	ect all	that you consider relevant. Please respond without regard to whether yethe metric internally or to investors. If none, "None.")	ou	
		[dro	p-down of risk metrics] er:		

Form PF	Information about qualifying hedge funds that you advise	Page 24 of 55
Section 2b	(to be completed by large private fund advisers only)	

42. For each of the market factors identified below, determine the effect of the specified changes on the *reporting fund's* portfolio and provide the results.

(You may omit a response to any market factor that you do not regularly consider in formal testing in connection with the reporting fund's risk management. If you omit any market factor, check either the box in the first column indicating that you believe that this market factor is not relevant to the reporting fund's portfolio or the box in the second column indicating that this market factor is relevant but not formally tested. For this purpose, "formal testing" means that the adviser has models or other systems capable of simulating the effect of a market factor on the fund's portfolio, not that the specific assumptions outlined in the question were used in testing.)

(For each market factor, separate the effect on your portfolio into long and short components where (i) the long component represents the aggregate result of all positions whose valuation changes in the same direction as the market factor under a given stress scenario and (ii) the short component represents the aggregate result of all positions whose valuation changes in the opposite direction from the market factor under a given stress scenario.)

(Assume that changes in a market factor occur instantaneously and that all other factors are held constant. If the specified change in any market factor would make that factor less than zero, use zero instead.)

(Please note the following regarding the market factors identified below:

- (i) A change in "equity prices" means that the prices of all equities move up or down by the specified amount, without regard to whether the equities are listed on any exchange or included in any index;
- (ii) "Risk free interest rates" means rates of interest accruing on sovereign bonds issued by governments having the highest credit quality, such as U.S. treasury securities;
- (iii) A change in "credit spreads" means that all spreads against risk free interest rates change by the specified amount;
- (iv) A change in "currency rates" means that the values of all currencies move up or down by the specified amount relative to the reporting fund's base currency;
- (v) A change in "commodity prices" means that the prices of all physical commodities move up or down by the specified amount;
- (vi) A change in "option implied volatilities" means that the implied volatilities of all the options that the reporting fund holds increase or decrease by the specified number of percentage points; and
- (vii) A change in "default rates" means that the rate at which debtors default on all instruments of the specified type increases or decreases by the specified number of percentage points.)

Form PF Information about qualifying hedge funds that you advise Section 2b (to be completed by large private fund advisers only)

Page 25 of 55

Not relevant	Relevant/not formally tested	Market factor – changes in market factor	Effect on long components of portfolio (as % of NAV)	Effect on short components of portfolio (as % of NAV)
		Equity prices:		
		Equity prices increase 5%		
		Equity prices decrease 5%		
		Equity prices increase 20%		and the
		Equity prices decrease 20%		
		Risk free interest rates (changes represent a parallel shift in	the yield curve):	
		Risk free interest rates increase 25bp		
		Risk free interest rates decrease 25bp		
		Risk free interest rates increase 75bp		
		Risk free interest rates decrease 75bp		
		Credit spreads:		
		Credit spreads increase 50bp		
		Credit spreads decrease 50bp		
		Credit spreads increase 250bp		
		Credit spreads decrease 250bp		
		Currency rates:		
		Currency rates increase 5%		
		Currency rates decrease 5%		
		Currency rates increase 20%		
		Currency rates decrease 20%		
		Commodity prices:		
		Commodity prices increase 10%		
		Commodity prices decrease 10%		
		Commodity prices increase 40%		
		Commodity prices decrease 40%		

Form F Section			Information about qualifying hedge funds that you (to be completed by large private fund advisers or		Page 26	of 55
			Low that the	WHILE SECOND SEC		
lacksquare	+	<u>Ц</u>	Option implied volatilities:	-T		
			Implied volatilities increase 4 percentage points			
			Implied volatilities decrease 4 percentage points			
			Implied volatilities increase 10 percentage points			
	4		Implied volatilities decrease 10 percentage points		نتندنيسا منطلت	<u> Historianian</u>
	_		Default rates (ABS):			
			Default rates increase 1 percentage point			
			Default rates decrease 1 percentage point			
			Default rates increase 5 percentage points			
			Default rates decrease 5 percentage points			
			Default rates (corporate bonds and CDS):			
			Default rates increase 1 percentage point			
			Default rates decrease 1 percentage point			
			Default rates increase 5 percentage points			
			Default rates decrease 5 percentage points			
S. Fo th be (F sp	or ea ie re <sub>i</sub> orro For e pecif	ich m portir wings each t ied ty	onth of the reporting period, provide the following informating fund's borrowings, the types of creditors and the collaters:  The sype of borrowing, information is requested regarding the perpet of creditors. In each case, the total percentages allocational add up to 100%.)	al posted to rcentage bo	secure its  rrowed from	ı.
			out amounts that the reporting fund loans to creditors or th	e value of c	ollateral ple	dged
:16	rcre	ditors	<i>y</i> :	1st Month	2nd Month	3rd Mon
Ċ	a)	Dolla	ar amount of unsecured borrowing			
		(i)	Percentage borrowed from U.S. financial institutions			
		2 60	Percentage borrowed from non-U.S. financial institutions			
			Percentage borrowed from U.S. creditors that are not financial institutions			
		2	Percentage borrowed from non-U.S. creditors that are not financial institutions			

Form PF	Information about qualifying hedge funds that you advise	Page 27 of 55	
Section 2b	(to be completed by large private fund advisers only)		

(b) Secured borrowing.

(Classify secured borrowing according to the legal agreement governing the borrowing (e.g., Global Master Repurchase Agreement for reverse repo and Prime Brokerage Agreement for prime brokerage). Please note that for reverse repo borrowings, the amount should be the net amount of cash borrowed (after taking into account any initial margin/independent amount, 'haircut' and repayments). Positions under a Global Master Repurchase Agreement should not be netted.)

(i)	Dol	lar amount via prime brokerage			
	(A)	value of collateral posted in the form of cash and cash equivalents			
	(B)	value of collateral posted in the form of securities (other than cash and cash equivalent instruments)			
	(C)	value of other collateral and credit support posted (including face amount of letters of credit and similar third party credit support)			
	(D)	percentage borrowed from U.S. financial institutions			
	(E)	percentage borrowed from non-U.S. financial institutions			
	(F)	percentage borrowed from U.S. creditors that are not financial institutions			
	(G)	percentage borrowed from non-U.S. creditors that are not financial institutions			,
(ii)	thro in c	lar amount via reverse repo (for purposes of items (A) nugh (D) below, include as collateral any assets sold onnection with the reverse repo as well as any ation margin)			
	(A)	value of collateral posted in the form of cash and cash equivalents			
	(B)	value of collateral posted in the form of securities (other than cash and cash equivalent instruments)			
	(C)	value of other collateral and credit support posted (including face amount of letters of credit and similar third party credit support)			
	(D)	percentage borrowed from U.S. financial institutions	•••••		
	(E)	percentage borrowed from non-U.S. financial institutions			
	(F)	percentage borrowed from U.S. creditors that are not financial institutions		eres manus en es a	
	(G)	percentage borrowed from non-U.S. creditors that			

	m PF ion 2	b		t <i>qualifying hedge funds</i> that you d by <i>large private fund advise</i> rs o		Page 28	of 55
		(iii)	ollar amount of other se	ecured borrowings			
				osted in the form of cash and			
		į		osted in the form of securities d cash equivalent instruments)			
		ŝ	(including face amo	teral and credit support posted unt of letters of credit and redit support)			
			) percentage borrowe institutions	d from U.S. financial			
				d from non-U.S. financial			
		÷		d from U.S. creditors that are not			
		Š		d from non-U.S. creditors that titutions		Distribusi in stickers (i.e.)	
44.				od, provide the aggregate value	1st Month	2nd Month	3rd Month
45.	of all derivatives positions of the reporting fund (enter "NA" if no outstanding derivatives positions at the end of the relevant period)  45. For each month of the reporting period, provide the following information regarding the reporting fund's derivative positions that were not cleared by a CCP and the collateral posted to					0	
	(If t		ositions. ng fund <i>is a net recei</i>	ver of collateral, provide the coll	ateral value	as a negati	ive
	(a)	positio	of the reporting fund	value of all derivatives that were not cleared by a CCP	1st Month	2nd Month	3rd Month
(enter "NA" if no relevant derivatives positions outsta the end of the relevant period)							
	(b)	respec	of these positions in the	y or to the reporting fund in form of cash and cash			
	(c)	respec	of these positions in the	y or to the <i>reporting fund</i> in form of securities (other than ments)			
	(d)	to the (inclu	eporting fund in responding face amount of let	and credit support posted by or ect of these positions tters of credit and similar third			

	n PF ion 2b	(to be completed by large private fund advisers only)	Page 29 of 33
46.	Financing	liquidity:	
	financing undrawn,	e the aggregate dollar amount of borrowing by and cash available to the reporting fund (including all drawn and committed and uncommitted lines of credit as well as any cing)	
	(b) Divide specified	the amount reported in response to Question 46(a) among the periods below depending on the longest period for which the creditor is contrate to provide such financing.	
	(If a credi	or (or syndicate or administrative/collateral agent) is permitted to va	ry unilaterally
	demand ac	nic terms of the financing or to revalue posted collateral in its own dis lditional collateral, then the financing should be deemed uncommitted stion. Uncommitted financing should be included under "I day or les	for purposes
	(The total	should add up to 100%.)	
			% of total financing
	10	ay or less	
	2 0	lays – 7 days	
	8 6	lays - 30 days	
	31	days - 90 days	
	91	days - 180 days	
	18	1 days - 365 days	
	Lo	nger than 365 days	
47.	borrowin reporting (This que belongs t	each creditor, if any, to which the reporting fund owed an amount in range equal to or greater than 5% of the reporting fund's net asset value a date. For each such creditor, provide the amount owed to that credit stion does not require the precise legal name of the creditor; if the creo an affiliated group that is included in the list below, select that group creditor's name in the space for "other.")	as of the data or. editor
			Dollar amoun
		Name of creditor	owed to each creditor
	Trimon do	Name of creditor wn list of creditor/counterparty names]	each creattor
		wn list of creditor/counterparty names]	į.
	[repeat d	rop-down list of creditor/counterparty names]	:
		rop-down list of creditor/counterparty names]	
			I

	n PF ion 2b	Information about qualifying hedge funds that you advise (to be completed by large private fund advisers only)	Page 30 of 55
Ite	m E. Iı	nvestor information	
48.	(a)	As of the data reporting date, what percentage of the reporting fund's net asset value, if any, is subject to a "side-pocket" arrangement?	
		(This question relates to whether assets are currently in a side-pocket and assets to be moved to a side-pocket.)	not the potential fa
	(b)	Have additional assets been placed in a side-pocket since the end of the preperiod?	7· 7·
		(Check "NA" if you reported no assets under Question 48(a) in the current and/or the prior period.)	period
		☐ Yes ☐ No ☐ NA	
49.		vide the following information regarding the reporting fund's restrictions on drawals and redemptions.	investor
	on v	Questions 49 and 50, please note that the standards for imposing suspension withdrawals/redemptions may vary among funds. Make a good faith determinations that would likely be triggered during conditions that you view as signals.)	nation of the
	(a)	Does the reporting fund provide investors with withdrawal/redemption right ordinary course?  Yes  No	its in the
	(If yo	ou responded "yes" to Question 49(a), then you must respond to Questions 4	9(b)-(e).)
	As o any:	f the data reporting date, what percentage of the reporting fund's net asset vo	due, if
	(b)	May be subjected to a suspension of investor withdrawals/redemptions by an adviser or fund governing body (this question relates to an adviser's or governing body's right to suspend and not just whether a suspension is currently effective)	
	(c)	May be subjected to material restrictions on investor withdrawals/ redemptions (e.g., "gates") by an adviser or fund governing body (this question relates to an adviser's or governing body's right to impose a restriction and not just whether a restriction has been imposed)	
	(d)	Is subject to a suspension of investor withdrawals/redemptions (this question relates to whether a suspension is currently effective and not just an adviser's or governing body's right to suspend)	
	(e)	Is subject to a material restriction on investor withdrawals/redemptions (e.g., a "gate") (this question relates to whether a restriction has been imposed and not just an adviser's or governing body's right to impose a restriction).	

_			
1	Form PF	Information about qualifying hedge funds that you advise	Page 31 of 55
1	LOIMIT	into mation about qualifying neage junus that you advise	1 age 51 01 55
ı	Section 2b	(to be completed by large private fund advisers only)	
1	Section 20	(to be completed by unge private fanta advisers only)	

50. Investor liquidity (as a % of net asset value):

(Divide the reporting fund's net asset value among the periods specified below depending on the shortest period within which investors are entitled, under the fund documents, to withdraw invested funds or receive redemption payments, as applicable. Assume that you would impose gates where applicable but that you would not completely suspend withdrawals/redemptions and that there are no redemption fees. Please base on the notice period before the valuation date rather than the date proceeds would be paid to investors.)

(The total should add up to approximately 100%.)

	% of NAV locked for
1 day or less	
2 days - 7 days	
8 days - 30 days	
31 days - 90 days	
91 days – 180 days	
181 days – 365 days	
Longer than 365 days	

Form PF	Information about <i>liquidity funds</i> that you advise	Page 32 of 55
Section 3	(to be completed by large private fund advisers only)	

Forn Secti	n PF on 3	Information about <i>liquidity funds</i> that you adv (to be completed by <i>large private fund advisers</i> or		Page 32	of 55
-					
Sect	ion 3: Info	ormation about <i>liquidity funds</i> that you advise.			
to <i>m</i> abou	<i>aster-feede</i> t the comp	lete a separate Section 3 for each <i>liquidity fund</i> that you advir arrangements and parallel fund structures, you may report onent funds as provided in the General Instructions.  Ting fund identifying and operational information			
51.	2 111	of the reporting fund			
	(b) Privat	e fund identification number of the reporting fund	***********		
52.	(a) Does t	he reporting fund seek to maintain a stable price per share?			
	(LA TE	Yes No		F	
	(b) If yes,	state the price the reporting fund seeks to maintain	andra falla faranti anara s	<u> </u>	
Item	B. Report	ing fund assets			
53.	Provide th	e following information for each month of the reporting per-	iod.		* .
			1 <sup>st</sup>	2nd	3rd
			Month	Month	Month
		set value of reporting fund as reported to current and we investors			
		set value per share of reporting fund as reported to current sective investors (to the nearest hundredth of a cent)			
	hundredt	set value per share of reporting fund (to the nearest h of a cent; exclude the value of any capital support at or similar arrangement)			
	(d) WAM	of reporting fund (in days)			
	(e) WAL	of reporting fund (in days)			
	(f) 7-day	gross yield of reporting fund (to the nearest hundredth			

of one percent

liquid assets

(j) cash

maturity greater than 397 days

(g) Dollar amount of the reporting fund's assets that are daily liquid

(h) Dollar amount of the reporting fund's assets that are weekly

(i) Dollar amount of the reporting fund's assets that have a

Form PF Section 3					Page 33 of 55			
54. Provide the total gross subscriptions reinvestments) and total gross reden the <i>reporting period</i> .						1 <sup>st</sup> Month	2 <sup>nd</sup> Month	3rd Month
Ite	m C. Fi	nancing information						
55.	(a)	Is the amount of total borrowing 5% of the reporting fund's net	asset value?	response to	Question	12 equal (	to or great	er than
		☐ Yes	☐ No					
	(b)	If you responded "yes" to Quest reported in response to Question of borrowing, the type of credit the principal amount of the born fees.	n 12 among to and the larowing without	he periods sp test date on v out defaulting	pecified bo which the g or incur	elow dep reporting ring pena	ending on fund may lties or add	the type repay litional
		(If a creditor (or syndicate or as the economic terms of the finan- demand additional collateral, the day or less for purposes of this should be treated separately an	cing or to re hen the borro question. Fo	value posted wing should or amortizing	collateral be deeme gloans, ed	in its oved to have ach amor	vn discretie e a maturit tization pa	on and y of I yment
		(The total amount of borrowing of borrowing reported in respon	ise to Questi	on 12.)				Greater
	(i) Uns	ecured borrowing	1 day or less	2 days to 7 days	8 days t		7 days	than 397 days
	(A)	U.S. depository institutions						
	(B)	U.S. creditors that are not $U$ .S. depository institutions						
	(C)	Non-U.S. creditors						
	(ii) Sec	ured borrowing						
	(A)	U.S. depository institutions						
	(B)	U.S. creditors that are not U.S. depository institutions						
	(C)	Non-U.S. creditors						
56.	(a)	Does the <i>reporting fund</i> have in Yes	place one or	more comm	itted liqui	dity facil	ities?	
	(b)	If you responded "yes" to Quest dollar amount of commitments	tion 56(a), pr under the lic	ovide the agg juidity facilit	gregate ies			

	m PF ion 3	Information about <i>liquidity fun</i> (to be completed by <i>large private</i>		Page 34 of 55	
Iten	n D. In	evestor information			
57.		fy the number of outstanding shares or units of t or similar securities.	he reporting fund's		
58. Is the reporting fund established as a cash management vehicle for other funds or your affiliates manage that are not cash management vehicles?			or accounts that you or		
		☐ Yes ☐ No			
59.	Provi	de the following information regarding investor	concentration.		
		purposes of this question, if you know that two c ffiliated with each other, you should treat them a			
	(a)	Specify the percentage of the <i>reporting fund's</i> e beneficially owned by the beneficial owner hav interest in the <i>reporting fund</i> .			
	(b)	For each investor that beneficially owns 5% or the following information:	more of the reporting fun	d's equity, provide	
		(i) Investor Category	(ii) Investor's percent of reporting fund on the d		
		[Drop-down menu of investor categories in Question 16]			
		[Drop-down menu of investor categories in Question 16]			
		Et cetera.			
60.	perce	de a good faith estimate, as of the <i>data reporting</i> ntage of the <i>reporting fund's</i> outstanding equity securities lending collateral.			
61.	Provide the following information regarding the restrictions on withdrawals and redemptions by investors in the <i>reporting fund</i> .				
	on wi	Questions 61 and 62, please note that the standa thdrawals/redemptions may vary among funds. I sions that would likely be triggered during condi .)	Make a good faith determ	ination of the	
		the data reporting date, what percentage of the r:	reporting fund's net asset	value,	
if any:  (a) May be subjected to a suspension of investor withdrawals/redemptions by an adviser or fund governing body (this question relates to an adviser's or governing body's right to suspend and not just whether a suspension is currently effective).					

Form PF Section 3	Information about <i>liquidity funds</i> that you advise (to be completed by <i>large private fund advisers</i> only)	Page 35 of 55
re qu	May be subjected to material restrictions on investor withdrawals/edemptions (e.g., "gates") by an adviser or fund governing body (this nuestion relates to an adviser's or governing body's right to impose a estriction and not just whether a restriction been imposed),	
$q_i$	s subject to a suspension of investor withdrawals/redemptions (this uestion relates to whether a suspension is currently effective and not ust an adviser's or governing body's right to suspend).	
(e in	s subject to a material restriction on investor withdrawals/redemptions e.g., a "gate") (this question relates to whether a restriction has been nposed and not just an adviser's or governing body's right to impose restriction).	

62. Investor liquidity (as a % of net asset value):

(Divide the reporting fund's net asset value among the periods specified below depending on the shortest period within which investors are entitled, under the fund documents, to withdraw invested funds or receive redemption payments, as applicable. Assume that you would impose gates where applicable but that you would not completely suspend withdrawals/redemptions and that there are no redemption fees. Please base on the notice period before the valuation date rather than the date proceeds would be paid to investors. The total should add up to 100%.)

_	$\%$ of $N\!AV$ locked for
1 day or less	
2 days – 7 days	
8 days – 30 days	
31 days – 90 days	
91 days – 180 days	
181 days – 365 days	
Longer than 365 days	

Form PF	Information about <i>liquidity funds</i> that you advise	Page 36 of 55
Section 3	(to be completed by large private fund advisers only)	

# Item E. Portfolio Information

63.

for	each security held by the <i>reporting fund</i> , provide the following information each month of the <i>reporting period</i> . Provide information separately for the 1 acquisition of a security and any subsequent acquisitions of the security.
(a)	Name of the issuer or the name of counterparty in a repo
(b)	Title of the issue
(c)	CUSIP
(d)	LEI, if any
(e)	In addition to CUSIP and <i>LEI</i> , provide at least one of the following other identifiers, if any:
	(i) ISIN
	(ii) CIK
	(iii) Other unique identifier (indicate identifier and type of identifier)
76	Committee accommission.
(f)	Security acquisition:  (i) Provide the trade date on which the <i>reporting fund</i> acquired the
	(i) Provide the trade date on which the <i>reporting fund</i> acquired the security
	(ii) Provide the yield of security as of the trade date(s)
(g)	The category of investment that most closely identifies the instrument
	(Select from among the following categories of investment: U.S. Treasury Debt; U.S. Government Agency Debt (if categorized as coupon-paying notes); U.S. Government Agency Debt (if categorized as no-coupon-discount notes); Non-U.S. Sovereign, Sub-Sovereign and Supra-National debt; Certificate of Deposit; Non- Negotiable Time Deposit; Variable Rate Demand Note; Other Municipal Security; Asset Backed Commercial Paper; Other Asset Backed Securities; U.S. Treasury Repo Agreement, if collateralized only by U.S. Treasuries (including Strips) and cash; U.S. Government Agency Repo Agreement, collateralized only by U.S. Government Agency securities, U.S. Treasuries, and cash; Other Repo Agreement, if any collateral falls outside Treasury, Government Agency and cash; Insurance Company Funding Agreement; Investment Company; Financial Company Commercial Paper; Non-Financial Company Commercial Paper; or Tender Option Bond. If Other Instrument, include a brief description.)
(h)	For repos, specify whether the repo is "open" (i.e., the repo has no specified end date and, by its terms, will be extended or "rolled" each business day (or at another specified period) unless the investor chooses to terminate it), and provide the following information about the securities subject to the repo (i.e., the collateral):
	(i) Is the repo "open?" [] yes or [] no
	(ii) Is the repo centrally cleared? [] yes or [] no
	(iii) If the repo is centrally cleared, identify the CCP
	(iv) Is the repo settled on a tri-party platform? [] yes or [] no

Form PF Information about liquidity funds that you advise Page 37 of 55 (to be completed by large private fund advisers only) Section 3 Name of the collateral issuer (v) CUSIP..... (vii) LEI, if any (viii) Maturity date Coupon or yield..... The principal amount, to the nearest cent..... (x) (xi) Value of the collateral, to the nearest cent..... The category of investment that most closely represents the collateral (Select from among the following categories for the collateral: Asset-Backed Securities; Agency Collateralized Mortgage Obligations; Agency Debentures and Agency Strips; Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities; Private Label Collateralized Mortgage Obligations; Corporate Debt Securities; Equities; Money Market; U.S. Treasuries (including strips); Cash; Other Instrument. If Other Instrument, include a brief description, including, if applicable, whether it is a collateralized debt obligation, municipal debt, whole loan, or international debt). If the rating assigned by a credit rating agency played a substantial role in (i) the reporting fund's (or its adviser's) evaluation of the quality, maturity or liquidity of the security, provide the name of each credit rating agency and the rating each assigned to the security. (i) The maturity date used to calculate WAM..... (k) The maturity date used to calculate WAL (1) The ultimate legal maturity date (i.e., the date on which, in accordance with the terms of the security without regard to any interest rate readjustment or demand feature, the principal amount must unconditionally be paid)...... If the security has a demand feature on which the reporting fund (or its adviser) is relying when evaluating the quality, maturity, or liquidity of the security, provide the following information: (If the security does not have such a demand feature, enter "NA.") Identity of the demand feature issuer(s) (i) (ii) If the rating assigned by a credit rating agency played a substantial role in the reporting fund's (or its adviser's) evaluation of the quality, maturity or liquidity of the demand feature, its issuer, or the security to which it relates, provide the name of each credit rating agency and the rating assigned by each credit rating agency..... The period remaining until the principal amount of the security may (iii) be recovered through the demand feature..... The amount (i.e., percentage) of fractional support provided by each demand feature issuer..... Whether the demand feature is a conditional demand feature .....

Form PF	Information about <i>liquidity funds</i> that you advise	Page 38 of 55
Section 3	(to be completed by large private fund advisers only)	

(n) If the security has a guarantee (other than an unconditional letter of credit reported in response to Question 63(1) above) on which the reporting fund (or its adviser) is relying when evaluating the quality, maturity, or liquidity of the security, provide the following information: (If the security does not have such a guarantee, enter "NA.") (i) Identity of the *guarantor(s)* ..... If the rating assigned by a credit rating agency played a substantial role in the reporting fund's (or its adviser's) evaluation of the quality, maturity or liquidity of the guarantee, the guarantor, or the security to which the guarantee relates, provide the name of each credit rating agency and the rating assigned by each credit rating agency..... The amount (i.e., percentage) of fractional support provided by each guarantor..... (o) If the security has any enhancements, other than those identified in response to Questions 63(1) and (m) above, on which the reporting fund (or its adviser) is relying when evaluating the quality, maturity, or liquidity of the security, provide the following information: (If the security does not have such an enhancement, enter "NA.") Identity of the enhancement provider(s) ..... The type of enhancement(s) (ii) If the rating assigned by a credit rating agency played a substantial role in the reporting fund's (or its adviser's) evaluation of the quality, maturity or liquidity of the enhancement, its provider, or the security to which it relates, provide the name of each credit rating agency used and the rating assigned by the credit rating agency..... (iv) The amount (i.e., percentage) of fractional support provided by each enhancement provider (p) The yield of the security as of the reporting date: The total value of the reporting fund's position in the security, and

separately, if the reporting fund uses the amortized cost method of valuation, the amortized cost value, in both cases to the nearest cent:

Is the security a weekly liquid asset?....

Is the security an *illiquid security*?...... Explanatory notes. Disclose any other information that may be material to other disclosures related to the portfolio security. (If none, leave blank.)..

(i) (ii)

(t)

(u)

Including the value of any sponsor support.....

Form PF	Information about <i>liquidity funds</i> that you advise	Page 39 of 55	
Section 3	(to be completed by large private fund advisers only)		l

#### Item F. Disposition of Portfolio Securities

64. Disclose the amount (to the nearest cent) of portfolio securities the reporting fund sold or disposed of during each month of the reporting period by category of investment. Do not include portfolio securities that the fund held until maturity.

Month	Category of Investment	Amount
First Month	[Drop-down menu of the category of investment]	
Second Month	[Drop-down menu of the category of investment]	
Third Month	[Drop-down menu of the category of investment]	

Category of Investment: U.S. Treasury Debt; U.S. Government Agency Debt (if categorized as coupon-paying notes); U.S. Government Agency Debt (if categorized as no-coupon-discount notes); Non-U.S. Sovereign, Sub-Sovereign and Supra-National debt; Certificate of Deposit; Non- Negotiable Time Deposit; Variable Rate Demand Note; Other Municipal Security; Asset Backed Commercial Paper; Other Asset Backed Securities; U.S. Treasury Repo, if collateralized only by U.S. Treasuries (including Strips) and cash; U.S. Government Agency Repo, collateralized only by U.S. Government Agency securities, U.S. Treasuries, and cash; Other Repo, if any collateral falls outside Treasury, Government Agency and cash; Insurance Company Funding Agreement; Investment Company; Financial Company Commercial Paper; Non-Financial Company Commercial Paper; or Tender Option Bond. If Other Instrument, include a brief description.

#### Item G. Parallel Money Market Funds

65. If the reporting fund pursues substantially the same investment objective and strategy and invests side by side in substantially the same positions as a money market fund advised by you or any of your related persons, provide the money market fund's EDGAR series identifier. (If neither you nor any of your related persons advise such a money market fund, enter "NA.")

Form PF	Information about <i>private equity funds</i> that you advise	Page 40 of 55
Section 4	(to be completed by <i>large private fund advisers</i> only)	

# Section 4: Information about private equity funds that you advise.

You must complete a separate Section 4 for each *private equity fund* that you advise. However, with respect to *master-feeder arrangements* and *parallel fund structures*, you may report collectively or separately about the component funds as provided in the General Instructions.

56.	(a)	Name of the reporting fund	
	(b)	Private fund identification number of the reporting fund	

- 67. How many controlled portfolio companies are owned by the reporting fund?
- 68. Indicate the investment strategy below that best describes the reporting fund's investment strategy by percent of deployed capital, during the reporting period. If the reporting fund engages in more than one strategy, provide a good faith estimate of the percentage of the reporting fund's deployed capital represented by each strategy.

(Select the investment strategy or strategies that best describe the reporting fund's strategies, even if the categories below do not precisely match your characterization of the reporting fund's strategy. If you report all or part of the reporting fund's strategy as "Other", explain in Question 4. The strategies listed are mutually exclusive (i.e., do not report the same portion of deployed capital in multiple strategies). The total should add to 100%.)

Strategy Capital

Private Credit – Direct Lending/Mid Market Lending

Private Credit – Distressed Debt

Private Credit – Junior/Subordinate Debt

Private Credit – Mezzanine Financing

Private Credit – Senior Debt

Private Credit – Senior Subordinated Debt

Private Credit – Special Situations

Private Credit – Venture Debt

Private Credit – Venture Debt

Private Credit – Other

Form Section					form at be con										e	Pa	ige 4	1 of 5	5	
	0	Priv	ate Eq	uity -	Early S	Stage														
	- D.	Priv	ate Eq	uity –	Expan	sion/I	ate St	age												
		Priv	ate Eq	uity -	Buyou	t														
		Priv	ate Eq	uity –	Distres	sed														
		Priv	ate Eq	uity –	Growt	h														$\neg$
	-0	Priv	ate Eq	uity –	Private	Inves	tment	in Pub	lic E	quity										
	0	Priv	ate Eq	uity –	Second	aries													<del></del>	
	ā	Priv	ate Eq	uity -	Turnar	ound														
	ō	Rea	l Estate	<b>)</b>	***************************************		<del> </del>	<del> </del>		.,,										
		Anı	uity ar	ıd Lif	e Insura	nce F	Policie	S												_
		Liti	gation ]	Finan	ce	<del>,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,</del>	<del>Tantin finit yit</del>								<del></del>			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	0	Dig	ital Ass	ets		<u> </u>	ma American			<del>rederates de la c</del>					<u> </u>				<u> </u>	
		Ger	eral P	artnei	· Stakes	Inves	ting													
		Oth	er																	
· (	69. Identify, by ISO country code, each country to which the reporting fund's investments in portfolio companies represent exposure of 10% or more of the reporting fund's net asset value.  (See Instruction 15 for information on calculating the numerator for purposes of this Question. You should categorize investments based on concentrations of risk and economic exposures.  Country ISO code % of NAV																			
70.	D	uring	the <i>re</i> į	ortin	cturing g period ting fur	d, did	the <i>re</i>	porting	fun	d restr		•		-	lize a	port	folio	comp	any	
				Ye	ŝ				.,	No										
(b)	$\mathbf{L}$	egal r	ame o	port	res" to ( folio co structur	mpan	<b>y</b> :				le tl	he fol	lowi	ng:						

Form I Section	1.1						ds that you a advisers only		Page 42 of 55
71. (1	Durin; securi	g the <i>rep</i> ties ( <i>e.g.</i>	oorting peri , debt, equi	od, did the ty, etc.) of	reporting a portfoli	fund hav o compan	e an investme y while anoth	nt in one clas er fund advis	Related Funds) ss, series or type of ed by you or any
			d persons c uity, etc.) of					sses, series o	r type of securities
			Yes			No			
(b)	If you	respond	led "yes" to	Question	71(a), ple	ase provid	le the followin	ig:	
	Descr	iption of	portfolio e class, serie common ste	s or type o	of securitie	s held			
Item C.	Reportin	ig fund	and contro	olled porti	olio comp	oany fina	ncing;		
72. (a)	compl	ement to		of portfoli	o compan				n alternative or subsection (b) of
			Yes		]	□ No			
(b)							ilable to the <i>re</i> red over the re		, provide the total od.
								Total amount available ( dollars)	Average borrowed ove the reporting (in period (in
Ī	п С	redit sec	ured by the		Financing nts of the <i>i</i>		fund	donars)	uonars)
			cured by unj				,		
			cured by a conts of the re			ded comn	nitments and		
	υО	ther (ex	plain in Qu	estion 4)					
73. (a)		vise obli					you or any of		l persons he reporting fund
			equired to r ur related po Yes		es" simply 	because No	a portfolio coi	mpany is a p	rimary obligor
(b)			led "yes" to			e, report	the total dollar		

74. (a) Do you or any of your related persons provide financing or otherwise extend credit to any portfolio

Form PF Section 4		Information about <i>private equity funds</i> that you advise (to be completed by <i>large private fund advisers</i> only)	Page 43 of 55
	guarai	nny in which the reporting fund invests? (In responding to this question, do ntee arrangement reported in Question 73).  Yes  No	not report any
		responded "yes" to Question 74(a) above, report the total dollar value such financing or other extension of credit	
75.		e weighted average debt-to-equity ratio of the controlled portfolio in which the reporting fund invests (expressed as a decimal to the ce)?	
		g should be based on gross assets of each controlled portfolio company as a e of the aggregate gross assets of the reporting fund's controlled portfolio s.)	
76.		e highest debt-to-equity ratio of any controlled portfolio company in reporting fund invests (expressed as a decimal to the tenths place)?	
77.		e lowest debt-to-equity ratio of any controlled portfolio company in reporting fund invests (expressed as a decimal to the tenths place)?	
78.	What is the	e aggregate gross asset value of the reporting fund's controlled companies?	
79;		he aggregate principal amount of borrowings categorized as current on the most recent balance sheets of the reporting fund's controlled companies?	
80.		e aggregate principal amount of borrowings categorized as long-term on the most recent balance sheets of the reporting fund's controlled companies?	
81.	and the state of t	centage of the aggregate borrowings of the reporting fund's controlled companies is payment-in-kind (PIK) or zero-coupon debt?	
82.		centage of the aggregate borrowings of the reporting fund's controlled portfors at a floating rather than fixed rate?	olio
83.	companies other instri	e reporting period, did the reporting fund or any of its controlled portfolio sexperience an event of default under any of its indentures, loan agreements ruments evidencing obligations for borrowed money? If so, check "yes" and subsections (a) of this question. Otherwise, check "no".	or
		clude a potential event of default (i.e., an event that would constitute an eve th the giving of notice, the passage of time or otherwise) unless it has becon efault.)	
		☐ Yes ☐ No	
		fy the nature of the default event (check all that apply):  Payment default of the reporting fund	
		Payment default of a controlled portfolio company	

A default relating to a failure to uphold terms under the applicable borrowing agreement, other than a failure to make regularly scheduled payments.

Form Section		I. (t	nformation be compl	n about <i>p</i> leted by <i>la</i>	<b>rivate equity fu</b> irge private fun	<i>ınds</i> that you d advisers or	advise P ly)	age 44 of 55
84.(a)	or of	commitments (some Yes)  Ou responded "dge loan or com	ubject to co yes" to Qu mitment to	estion 84( the relevant	conditions) for  N a), identify eac ant controlled p	a bridge loan  o  h person that  portfolio con	n? has provided all pany. For each	ore bridge loans  I or part of any such person,
Le		vide the applica	LEI, if	Indi counterp a major [repeat dro	cate below if the arty is affiliated of financial institut op-down list of ounterparty names	with Outstan	ding amount of ing, if drawn	Amount of commitment, if undrawn
					pp-down list of punterparty names			
					op-down list of ounterparty names			
Item D: 1 85. (a)	Is a	io company inv my of the reporm pany?  Yes			d portfolio com	• •	ncial industry p	ortfolio
(b)	CON	you responded " npanies that con ormation.	yes" to Qu stitutes a f	estion 85( înancial ii	a), then for each	th of the repo to company,	orting fund's con provide the follo	trolled portfolio owing
	egal ume	Address of principal office (include city, state and country)	NAICS code	<i>LEI</i> , if any	Debt-to- equity ratio of portfolio company	Gross asset value of portfolio company	% of reporting fund's gross assets invested in this portfolio company	% of portfolio company beneficially owned by the reporting fund

Form PF	Information about private equity funds that you advise	Page 45 of 55
Section 4	(to be completed by large private fund advisers only)	

86.	Provide a breakdown of the reporting fund's investments in portfolio companies by industry, based on
	the NAICS codes of the companies.

(The total should add up to 100%.)

87.

NAICS code	% of <i>reporting fund's</i> total portfolio company investments	
		]
		_
	ersons (other than the reporting fund) in impanies of the reporting fund, provide tents.	

Form PF	Current report for large hedge fund advisers	Page 46 of 55
Section 5	(to be completed by large hedge fund advisers with current reports)	

Cantina T. Carana Larana and Cantina Larana Larana Caratina da da da cara
Section 5: Current report for large hedge fund advisers.
Section of Current topole for mige mage time and include

Upon the occurrence of any one or more of the events specified in Items B to J of this section 5, you must file a current report responding to questions required by the applicable Item(s) (a "current report") in the required number of business days as set forth below for each Item. Respond to the best of your knowledge on the date of your current report. You may provide an additional explanation of the facts and circumstances relating to the event, including the causes and or proposed resolution in explanatory notes under Item K of this section 5.

In this section 5, references to most recent net asset value mean the net asset value reported as of the data reporting date.

Check here if you are filing an amendment to a previously filed current report. Provide the filing date of the current report you are amending [Drop-down list of Month, Day, Year].

#### Item A: Information about you and the reporting fund

5-1 Provide your name and the other identifying information requested below.

(This should be your full legal name.)

Legal name	SEC 801-Number	NFA ID Number, if any	Large trader ID, if any	Large trader ID suffix, if any
	he reporting fund nd identification number	of the reporting fund	ħ.	
5-2(c) NFA iden	tification number of the reporting fund, if any			

5-3 Signatures of authorized representative (see Instruction 11 to Form PF)

I, the undersigned, sign this Section 5 on behalf of, and with the authority of, the *firm*. In addition, I sign this Section 5 on behalf of, and with the authority of, each of the *related persons* identified in Question 1(b) (other than any *related person* for which another individual has signed this Section 5 below).

Name of individual:	
Signature:	
Title	
Email address	
Telephone contact number (include area code and, if outside the United States,	
country code):	
Date	

Signature on behalf of related persons:

I, the undersigned, sign this Section 5 on behalf of, and with the authority of, the related person(s) identified below.

Name of each related person on behalf of which this individual is signing:

Name of individual		
Name of individual		
TIMELIA OF HIGH ATCHMENT	b.	

Form PF	Current report for large hedge fund advise		Page 47 of 55
Section 5	(to be completed by large hedge fund advisers with curr	ent report	s)
Signature: Title Email address Telephone contac country code): Date	t number (include area code and, if outside the United State	es,	
Item B. Extra	nordinary Investment Losses		
over a rolling 10 b	and experiences a cumulative loss equal to or greater than 20 usiness day period, provide the following information (if the port until the next 10 business day loss period beginning or	e loss con	tinues, do not file
5-5 End c	uning date of the 10 business day loss period: late of the 10 business day loss period: r amount of loss over the 10 business day loss period:		
A current report re event contemplated	esponding to this Item must be filed within one business day in this Item B.	y after occ	currence of a reporting
Item C. Marg	rin, Collateral or Equivalent Increase		
reporting fund of n day period, provide by the reporting fu	ntive increase in the total dollar value of margin, collateral, more than 20% of the <i>reporting fund's most recent net asset</i> e the following information (if the total value of margin, cond continues to increase, do not file another current reported beginning after the end date stated at 5-8 below):	t value ove llateral or	er a rolling 10 business an equivalent posted
5-7 Begin	nning date of the 10 business day period during which		
5-8 End c	ise was measured: late of the 10 business day period during which the was measured:		
5-9 Provi margin, e	de the cumulative dollar value amount of the increase in ollateral or an equivalent posted by the <i>reporting fund</i> e 10 business day period during which the increase was		
	or counterparties requiring increased margin, collateral or involved list them in order of the dollar amount of cumulai		
Ť	egal name of the counterparty		ounterparty LEI, if
	a)	ai ai	•
<del></del>	b)		
the state of the s			1.6
o-11 Uneck one or	more of the following to describe your current understandi	ng of circi	umstances relating to

5-11 Check one or more of the following to describe your current understanding of circumstances relating to the margin increase(s) (check all that apply):

Form PF	Current report for large hedge fund advisers	Page 48 of 55
Section 5	(to be completed by large hedge fund advisers with current report	TSJ
☐ The increa	ise is a result of exchange requirements or known regulatory action a	iffecting the
☐ A counter	party or counterparties independently increased the reporting fund's requirements.	margin, collateral or
☐ The report	ting fund established a new relationship or new business with one or	
	se is attributable to new investment positions, investment approach urnover of the reporting fund.	or strategy and/or
	ise is related to a deteriorating position or positions in the <i>reporting</i>	fund's portfolio or other
	ger under applicable counterparty agreements.	
☐ Other		
	esponding to this Item C must be filed within one business day after ntemplated in this Item C.	occurrence of a
Item D. Notic or Equivalent	ce of Margin Default or Determination of Inability to Meet a Call j ts	for Margin, Collateral
call for margin, co cover or address by period an adviser v unless the fund wo information; or (2)	ing information if you either (1) receive notification that the <i>reporting</i> fund y adding additional funds (in situations where there is a contractuall would not be required to file an Item D current report until the expirated not expect to be able to meet call during such cure period), prove if you determine that the <i>reporting</i> fund is unable to meet a call for givelent, including in situations where there is a dispute regarding the the margin call.	will not be able to ly agreed upon cure ation of the cure period ide the following increased margin,
of a call for increa	red to file a current report in situations where you dispute the amou used margin, collateral or an equivalent, provided the reporting fund of the disputed amount.)	
	determination for more than one counterparty on the same day, provide 5-15 for each counterparty affected).	de the information
5-12 Date of the	notification or determination:	
	unt of margin, collateral or equivalent involved:	
5-14 Counterpa		
	We to the second of the second	our outs. I EL &Come
Legar	name of the counterparty Counter	erparty LEI, if any
to the default or yo	more of the following to describe your current understanding of the our determination that the <i>reporting fund</i> is unable to meet a call for aivalent:  counterparty increased margin, collateral or equivalent requirements	increased margin,
co	intributed to the default or inability to meet a call for increased marguivalent.	
co	osses in the value of the reporting fund's portfolio or other credit trig cunterparty agreements contributed to the default or inability to meet argin, collateral or an equivalent.	ger under applicable a call for increased

Form PF	그 나는 그는 그는 이번에 살아가 있는데 됐다면 하면 그는 바쁜데 아이지를 되면 어떻게 되었다면 하는데 모든 그는데 없다면 다른데 되었다면 하는데 되었다면 되었다면 하는데 되었다면 되었다면 하는데 되었다면 되었다면 되었다면 하는데 되었다면 되었다면 되었다면 되었다면 되었다면 되었다면 되었다면 되었다면	Page 49 of 55
Section 5	(to be completed by large hedge fund advisers with current reports)	
	A default or settlement failure of a counterparty contributed to the default or a call for increased margin, collateral or an equivalent.  Other	inability to meet
	t responding to this Item D must be filed within one business day after you mescribed by Item D.	ake a
Item E. Co	ounterparty Default	
make any other agreed cure per	y to the reporting fund (1) does not meet a call for margin, collateral or equivariant payment, in the time and form contractually required (taking into account any iod), and (2) the amount involved is greater than 5% of the most recent net as provide the following information.	contractually
	is determination for more than one counterparty on the same day, provide the 6 to 5-18 for each counterparty affected).	information
5-16 Date of o 5-17 Dollar at 5-18 Counterp	mount of default: party:	
	Legal name of the counterparty Counterparty	LEI, if any
	<u> </u>	
A current report contemplated in	t responding to this Item E must be filed within one business day after occurr this Item E.	ence of a default
Item F. Me	terial Change in Relationship with Prime Broker	
provide the foll	ip between the <i>reporting fund</i> and any of its prime brokers undergoes a mater owing information.  the material change:	ial change,
5-20 Prime Br	aker:	
5-20 I Time Bi	Legal name of the prime broker Prime broker	LEI, if any
5-21 Check one broker relations	or more of the following to describe your current understanding of the chang hip:	e to the prime
-	The changes concern material trading limits or investment restrictions on the including requests to reduce positions, or unwind positions completely (material), collateral or an equivalent requirements other than those already repeated D).	rial changes in
	The prime broker relationship was terminated.	
	If you checked the above box that the prime broker relationship was terminat the below if applicable:	ed, please check

Form PF Section 5	Current report for large hedge fund advisers (to be completed by large hedge fund advisers with current reports)	Page 50 of 55
	The prime broker terminated the relationship for default or breach of the reporting fund terminated the relationship for default or breach of	
A <i>current report</i> re change contemplat	sponding to this Item F must be filed within one business day after occured in this Item F.	rrence of a material
Item G. Chan	ges in Unencumbered Cash	
to calculate unencu recent net asset va- below ( <i>If the decre</i>	reporting fund's unencumbered cash (calculated daily using the same mentioned cash value in Question 33) declines by more than 20% of the replace over a rolling 10 trading day period, provide the following informations continues, do not file another current report until there is a new 10 correase that meets the applicable threshold beginning on or after the end	porting fund's most on in Item 5 22-24 onsecutive business
	ne rolling 10 business day period: nt of unencumbered cash on the 10 <sup>th</sup> business day:	
	more of the following to describe your current understanding of the circumencumbered cash:	umstances relating
	e change is attributable to redemption activity for the reporting fund. e change is attributable to new investment positions, strategy and/or port e change is related to losses in the value of the fund's portfolio. the change is related to a call for margin, collateral, or an equivalent. ther	folio turnover.
	sponding to this Item G must be filed within one business day after last riod for an event described by this Item G.	day of the rolling
Item H. Oper	ations Event	
significant disrupti a service provider means operations r reporting fund; and regulations.	toperations event' means that the reporting fund or private fund adviser on or degradation of the reporting fund's key operations, whether as a reporting fund, the reporting fund, or the adviser. For this purpose, accessary for (i) the investment, trading, valuation, reporting, and risk made (ii) the operation of the reporting fund in accordance with the federal sections event, provide the following:	esult of an event at "key operations" magement of the
occurred: 5-26 Date <i>operatio</i>	operations event, or date on which you estimate the event first  ons event was discovered (discovery date may be same or different event reported in 5-25):	

5-27 Check one or more of the following to describe your current understanding of circumstances relating to the *operations event* (check all that apply and provide supplementary information in Item K if desired):

Form PF		eport for large hedg		Page 51 of 55
Section 5	(to be completed by	rarge nedge rund ad	visers with current report	<u>s)  </u>
*	rations event at a service ons event (in whole or in	•		S
(a) Lega (b) LEL	nl Name of Service Provi	ider:		
(c) Iden	tify services provided by tration, sub-adviser, acco			[drop-down menu]
related				we, w
	ations event that occurre the control of the private		disaster or other <i>force n</i>	najeure event not
	ser initiated a disaster recoperation of the adviser			the operations event
	Yes		No	
operations event o	more of the following to n the normal operations on or degradation of trac- on or degradation of the on or degradation of you on or degradation of you esponding to this Item H ontemplated in this Item from timely filing a curr	of reporting fund (colling of the reporting valuation of the report management of the rability to comply with the report must be filed within the H. If technical or over treport, you may	theck all that apply): fund's portfolio assets orting fund's portfolio as e reporting fund's invest with applicable laws, rule n one business day after ther difficulties resulting file as soon as practicab	ssets ment risk es, and regulations you discover an from the operations le provided that you
	cal or other difficulty tha	•	ling in Item K of the <i>cur</i>	rent report.
Item 1. With	drawals and Redemption	ns .		
most recent net as	nulative requests for rede set value (after netting a committed), provide the	gainst subscriptions	and other contributions f	
5-30 Date on which net asset value:	ch the net redemption red	juests exceeded 50%	of the most recent	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
reporting date and	redemptions paid from to the date of this current f fund's most recent net	report:		
5-33 Have you no	tified investors that the $r$	eporting fund will li	quidate? No	
A commant ranget r	esponding to Item I mus	t he filed within one		rence of a reporting

A current report responding to Item I must be filed within one business day after occurrence of a reporting event contemplated in this Item I.

,			
:	Form PF	Current report for large hedge fund advisers	Page 52 of 55
١	* ****	Current report for this generage failed advisors	1 450 32 01 33
i.	Section 5	(to be completed by large hedge fund advisers with current reports)	
d	Section 5	(to be completed by large neage fund advisors with current reports)	

## Item J. Unable to Satisfy Redemptions or Suspension of Redemptions

nene. Chaote to Saisty Reachipatons of Suspension of Reachipatons	
If (1) the <i>reporting fund</i> is unable to pay redemption requests, or (2) suspended redemptions; and th suspension is in place for more than 5 consecutive business days, provide the following information	
5-34 Date on which the <i>reporting fund</i> was unable to pay or suspended redemptions:	*
5-35 Percentage of fund's most recent net asset value for which redemptions have	
been requested and not yet paid on the date of this current report:	
5-36 Have you notified investors that the reporting fund will liquidate?	
☐ Yes ☐ No	
A current report responding to this Item J must be filed within one business day after the halt has be declared for 5 consecutive business days as described by this Item J.	en

# Item K. Explanatory Notes

You may provide any information you believe would be helpful in understanding the information reported in response to any Item in this section 5 of this form. Identify the related question for each comment (use a drop-down menu so that notes are received in a structured format).

Form PF Section 6		for advisers to priva ll advisers to private eq reports)		Page 53 of 55
Section 6: Cur	rent report for adviser	s to private equity fu	ınds.	
a current report res number of busines of your current rep	ce of any one or more of toponding to questions requested as as set forth below fort. You may provide any the causes and/or propositions.	nired by the applicable or each Item. Respond additional explanation	Item(s) (a "current real to the best of your keeps and circums)	port") in the required nowledge on the date imstances relating to
In this section 6, re reporting date.	eferences to most recent n	et asset value mean the	e net asset value repor	ted as of the data
	you are filing an amendme you are amending [Drop-d			ide the filing date of
Item A: Infor	mation about you and the	e reporting fund		
6-1 Provide th	e identifying information	requested below.		
Full legal name	SEC 801-Number	NFA ID Number, if any	Large trader ID, if any	Large trader ID suffix, if any
6-2(c) NFA ident 6-2(d) <i>LEI</i> of the	ne reporting fund nd identification number of ification number of the re reporting fund, if any of authorized representat	porting fund, if any	to Form PF)	
Section 6 on behal	sign this Section 6 on bel f of, and with the authorit erson for which another in	y of, each of the relate	d persons identified in	
Name of individu Signature: Title Email address Telephone contac country code): Date	al: et number (include area co	de and, if outside the l	United States,	
Signature on behal I, the undersigned, below.	If of related persons: sign this Section 6 on bel	nalf of, and with the au	thority of, the related	person(s) identified
Name of individu Signature: Title Email address Telephone contac	al: t number (include area coo	le and, if outside the Ui	nited States,	

Form PF Section 6	Current report for advisers to private equity funds (to be completed by all advisers to private equity funds with current reports)	Page 54 of 55
country code):		
Date		
Item B. Ad	viser-Led Secondary Transactions.	
If the reporting j	fund completes an adviser-led secondary transaction, provide the following	g:
6-4 C	ompletion date of transaction:	
6-5 D	escription of transaction:	
5	947 . 27. 28200 46 794 2720. 2820 19 824 5	on 2003

A current report responding to this Item B must be filed within one business day of completion of the transaction described by this Item B.

## Item C. General Partner or Limited Partner Clawback.

If the reporting fund effectuates (i) a general partner clawback or (ii) a limited partner clawback or clawbacks in excess of an aggregate amount equal to 10 percent of a fund's aggregate capital commitments, provide the following:

6-6 Effective date:
6-7 Type of clawback (General Partner/Limited Partner):
6-8 Reason for clawback:

A current report responding to this Item C must be filed within one business day of effectuation of the clawback described by this Item C.

## Item D. General Partner Removal, Termination of the Investment Period or Termination of Fund.

Upon receipt by the *reporting fund* or its adviser or affiliate of notification that fund investors have removed the adviser or its affiliate as the general partner or similar control person of the *reporting fund*, elected to terminate the *reporting fund* is investment period, or elected to terminate the *reporting fund*, in each case, as contemplated by the *reporting fund* governing documents (each, a "removal event") provide the following:

6-9 Effective date of removal event:	·	 	 	 
6-10 Description of removal event:				

A current report responding to this Item D must be filed within one business day of the effective date of the removal event as contemplated by this Item D.

## Item E. Explanatory Notes

You may provide any information you believe would be helpful in understanding the information reported in response to any Item in this Section 6 of this form. Identify the related question for each comment *(use a drop-down menu so that notes are received in a structured format).* 

Form PF	Request for temporary hardship exemption	Page 55 of 55
Section 7	(to be completed by private fund advisers requesting exemption)	

S 42 . 75	D 46	.a 1	1.1.4		
Section 7:	Request for	temporary l	hardship ex	emption.	
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *					

i) Fo	r which type of Form PF filing are you requesting a temporary hardship exemption?
i.	If you are not a large hedge fund adviser or large liquidity fund adviser: Initial filing  Annual update  Final filing
ii.	
	ovide the following information regarding your request for a temporary hardship exemption tach a separate page if additional space is needed).
i.	Describe the nature and extent of the temporary technical difficulties when you attempt to submit the filing to the Form PF filing system on the IARD:
ii.	Describe the extent to which you previously have submitted documents in electronic format with the same hardware and software that you are unable to use to submit this filing:
ii. iii.	format with the same hardware and software that you are unable to use to submit this filing:

Page 1

#### GLOSSARY OF TERMS

ABCP Asset backed commercial paper, including (but not limited to)

structured investment vehicles, single-seller conduits and multi-seller

conduit programs.

Do not include any positions held via CDS (these should be recorded

in the CDS category).

ABS Securities derived from the pooling and repackaging of cash flow

producing financial assets.

Adviser-led secondary

transaction

Any transaction initiated by the adviser or any of its related persons that offers private fund investors the choice to: (i) sell all or a portion of their interests in the private fund; or (ii) convert or exchange all or a portion of their interests in the private fund for interests in another vehicle advised by the adviser or any of its related persons.

Advisers Act U.S. Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended.

Affiliate With respect to any person, any other person that directly or indirectly

controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such person. The term affiliated means that two or more persons are

affiliates.

Agency securities Any security issued by a person controlled or supervised by and

acting as an instrumentality of the government of the United States pursuant to authority granted by the Congress of the United States and guaranteed as to principal or interest by the United States.

Include bond derivatives.

Annual update An update of this Form PF with respect to any fiscal year.

Borrowings Secured borrowings and unsecured borrowings, collectively.

bp Basis points.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash (including U.S. and non-U.S. currencies), cash equivalents and government securities. For purposes of this definition:

 cash equivalents are: (i) bank deposits, certificates of deposit, bankers acceptances and similar bank instruments held for investment purposes; (ii) the net cash surrender value of an insurance policy; and (iii) investments in money market funds;

 government securities are: (i) U.S. treasury securities; (ii) agency securities; and (iii) any certificate of deposit for any of the foregoing.

E. DE. CL	D 2
Form PF: Glossary of Terms	Page 2
CCP	Central clearing counterparties (or central clearing houses) (for example, CME Clearing, The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation, Fedwire and LCH Clearnet Limited).
CDO/CLO	Collateralized debt obligations and collateralized loan obligations (including, in each case, cash flow and synthetic) other than MBS.
	$\underline{\underline{Do\ not}}$ include any positions held via $CDS$ (these should be recorded in the $CDS$
	category).
CDS	Credit default swaps, including any LCDS.
CEA	U.S. Commodity Exchange Act, as amended.
CFTC	U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission.
Combined money market and liquidity fund assets under management	With respect to any adviser, the sum of: (i) such adviser's liquidity fund assets under management, and (ii) such adviser's regulatory assets under management that are attributable to money market funds that it advises.
Committed capital	Any commitment pursuant to which a <i>person</i> is obligated to acquire an interest in, or make capital contributions to, the <i>private fund</i> .
Commodities	Has the meaning provided in the CEA. Include ETFs that hold commodities.
	For questions regarding <i>commodity</i> derivatives, provide the <i>value</i> of all exposure to <i>commodities</i> that you do not hold physically, whether held synthetically or through derivatives (whether cash or physically settled).
Commodity pool	A "commodity pool," as defined in section 1a(10) of the CEA.
Conditional demand feature	Has the meaning provided in rule 2a-7.
Control	Has the meaning provided in Form ADV. The term controlled has a corresponding meaning.
Controlled portfolio company	With respect to any private equity fund, a portfolio company that is controlled by the private equity fund, either alone or together with the private equity fund's affiliates or other persons that are, as of the data reporting date, part of a club or consortium including the

private equity fund.

Convertible *corporate bonds* (not yet converted into shares or cash). Include bond derivatives, but <u>do not include</u> any positions held via

Bonds, debentures and notes, including commercial paper, issued by

CDS (these should be recorded in the CDS category).

corporations and other non-governmental entities.

Convertible bonds

Corporate bonds

Page 3

<u>Do not include preferred equities.</u> Include bond derivatives, but <u>do not include</u> any positions held via *CDS* (these should be recorded in

the CDS category).

CPO A "commodity pool operator," as defined in section 1a(11) of the

CEA.

Credit derivatives Single name CDS, index CDS and exotic CDS.

Credit rating agency Any nationally recognized statistical rating organizations, as that

term is defined in section 3(a)(62) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934

Crude oil For questions regarding crude oil derivatives, provide the value of all

exposure to crude oil that you do not hold physically, whether held synthetically or through derivatives (whether cash or physically

settled).

CTA A "commodity trading advisor," as defined in section 1a(12) of the

CEA.

Current report A current report provided pursuant to the items listed in Sections 5

and 6 of Form PF.

Daily liquid assets Has the meaning provided in rule 2a-7.

Data reporting date In the case of an initial filing, the data reporting date is the last

calendar day of your most recently completed fiscal year (or, if you are a large hedge fund adviser or large liquidity fund adviser, your

most recently completed fiscal quarter).

In the case of an annual update, the data reporting date is the last calendar day of your most recently completed fiscal year.

In the case of a *quarterly update*, the *data reporting date* is the last calendar day of your most recently completed fiscal quarter.

Demand feature Has the meaning provided in rule 2a-7.

Dependent parallel With respect to any private fund, any related parallel managed managed account other than a parallel managed account that individual

account other than a parallel managed account that individually (or together with other parallel managed accounts that pursue substantially the same investment objective and strategy and invest side by side in substantially the same positions) has a gross asset value greater than the gross asset value of such private fund (or, if such private fund is a parallel fund, the gross asset value of the

parallel fund structure of which it is a part).

Derivative exposures
All synthetic or derivative exposures to equities, including preferred to unlisted equities
equities, that are not listed on a regulated exchange. Include single

stock futures, equity index futures, dividend swaps, total return swaps (contracts for difference), warrants and rights.

Page 4

EEA The European Economic Area. As of the effective date of this Form

PF, the *EEA* is comprised of: (i) the European Union member states, which are Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain,

Sweden and the United Kingdom; and (ii) Iceland, Liechtenstein and

Norway.

Digital asset An asset that is issued and/or transferred using distributed ledger or

blockchain technology ("distributed ledger technology"), including, but not limited to, so-called "virtual currencies," "coins," and

"tokens."

ETF Exchange-traded fund.

Exempt reporting

Has the meaning provided in Form ADV.

adviser

Exotic CDS

CDSs referencing bespoke baskets or tranches of CDOs, CLOs and

other structured investment vehicles, including credit default

tranches.

Feeder fund See master-feeder arrangement.

Financial industry portfolio company

Any of the following: (i) a nonbank financial company, as defined in the Financial Stability Act of 2010; or (ii) any bank, savings association, bank holding company, financial holding company, savings and loan holding company, credit union or other similar company regulated by a federal, state or foreign banking regulator, including the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the National Credit Union Administration or the Farm Credit Administration.

Firm The private fund adviser completing or amending this Form PF.

Foreign exchange

derivative

Any derivative whose underlying asset is a currency other than U.S. dollars or is an exchange rate. Cross-currency interest rate swaps should be included in *foreign exchange derivatives* and excluded from *interest rate derivatives*.

Only one currency side of every transaction should be counted.

Form ADV, as promulgated and amended by the SEC.

Form ADV Section 7.B.1 Section 7.B.1 of Schedule D to Form ADV.

General partner clawback Any obligation of the general partner, its related persons, or their respective owners or interest holders to restore or otherwise return

performance-based compensation to the fund pursuant to the fund's

governing agreements.

Form PF: Glossary of Terms	Page 5
General partner stakes investing	An investment strategy that acquires non-controlling interests in alternative investment managers and other entities that provide advisory services to, or receive compensation from, private funds.
G10	The Group of Ten. As of the effective date of this Form PF, the <i>G10</i> is comprised of: Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States.
Gold	For questions regarding gold derivatives, provide the <i>value</i> of all exposure to gold that you do not hold physically, whether held synthetically or through derivatives (whether cash or physically settled).
Government entity	Has the meaning provided in Form ADV.
Gross asset value	Value of gross assets, calculated in accordance with Part 1A, Instruction 6.e(3) of Form ADV.
Gross notional value	The gross nominal or notional value of all transactions that have been entered into but not yet settled as of the <i>data reporting date</i> . For contracts with variable nominal or notional principal amounts, the basis for reporting is the nominal or notional principal amounts as of the <i>data reporting date</i> .
GSE bonds	Notes, bonds and debentures issued by private entities sponsored by the U.S. federal government but not guaranteed as to principal and interest by the U.S. federal government.
	Include bond derivatives, but <u>do not</u> include any positions held via <i>CDS</i> (these should be recorded in the <i>CDS</i> category).
Guarantee	For purposes of Question 63, has the meaning provided in paragraph (a)(16)(i) of <i>rule 2a-7</i> .
Guarantor	For purposes of Question 63, the provider of any guarantee.
Hedge fund	Any private fund (other than a securitized asset fund):
	(a) with respect to which one or more investment advisers (or related persons of investment advisers) may be paid a performance fee or allocation calculated by taking into account unrealized gains (other than a fee or allocation the calculation of

which may take into account unrealized gains solely for the purpose of reducing such fee or allocation to reflect net unrealized losses);
(b) that may borrow an amount in excess of one-half of its net asset value (including any committed capital) or may have gross notional exposure in excess of twice its net asset value

(including any committed capital); or

		f Terms

Page 6

(e) that may sell securities or other assets short or enter into similar transactions (other than for the purpose of hedging currency exposure or managing duration).

Solely for purposes of this Form PF, any commodity pool about which you are reporting or required to report on Form PF is categorized as a hedge fund.

For purposes of this definition, do not net long and short positions. Include any borrowings or notional exposure of another person that are guaranteed by the *private fund* or that the *private fund* may otherwise be obligated to satisfy.

Hedge fund assets under management

With respect to any adviser, hedge fund assets under management are the portion of such adviser's regulatory assets under management that are attributable to hedge funds that it advises.

Illiquid security

Has the meaning provided in rule 2a-7.

Index CDS

CDSs referencing a standardized basket of credit entities, including CDS indices and indices referencing leveraged loans.

Investment grade

A security is *investment grade* if it is sufficiently liquid that it can be sold at or near its carrying value within a reasonably short period of time and is subject to no greater than moderate credit risk.

Interest rate derivative

Any derivative whose underlying asset is the obligation to pay or the right to receive a given amount of money accruing interest at a given rate. Cross-currency interest rate swaps should be included in foreign exchange derivatives and excluded from *interest rate derivatives*.

This information must be presented in terms of 10-year bondequivalents.

Investments in external private funds

Investments in *private funds* that neither you nor your *related persons* advise (other than cash management funds).

Investments in internal private funds

Investments in *private funds* that you or any of your *related persons* advise (other than cash management funds).

Investments in other subasset classes Any investment not included in another sub-asset class.

Investments in registered investment companies

Investments in registered investment companies (other than cash management funds, such as money market funds, and *ETFs*).

ETFs should be categorized based on the assets that the fund holds and should not be included in this category.

Key operations

For purposes of responding to Sections 5, means the operations necessary for (i) the investment, trading, valuation, reporting, and risk management of the *reporting fund*; and (ii) the operation of the *reporting fund* in accordance with the federal securities laws and regulations.

kasilitatilili juudituu, sillija alaasta sata 100 oo julkiyat ita jira, jilka jalay ilay 11 sillalaa	
Large hedge fund adviser	Any <i>private fund adviser</i> that is required to file Section 2a of Form PF. See Instruction 3 to determine whether you are required to file this section.

Any private fund adviser that is required to file Section 3 of Form PF. Large liquidity fund adviser

Any private fund adviser that is required to file Section 4 of Form PF. Large private equity See Instruction 3 to determine whether you are required to file this adviser

Any large hedge fund adviser, large liquidity fund adviser or large Large private fund adviser private equity adviser.

LEIWith respect to any company, the "legal entity identifier" assigned by

or on behalf of an internationally recognized standards setting body and required for reporting purposes by the U.S. Department of the Treasury's Office of Financial Research or a financial regulator. In the case of a financial institution, if a "legal entity identifier" has not been assigned, then provide the RSSD ID assigned by the National Information Center of the Board of Governors of the Federal

Page 7

Reserve System, if any.

LCDSLoan credit default swaps.

Form PF: Glossary of Terms

Listed equity

Leveraged loans Loans that are made to entities whose senior unsecured long term indebtedness is non-investment grade. This may include loans made in connection with the financing structure of a leveraged buyout.

> Do not include any positions held via LCDS (these should be recorded in the CDS category).

Liquidity fund Any private fund that seeks to generate income by investing in a

portfolio of short term obligations in order to maintain a stable net asset value per unit or minimize principal volatility for investors.

Liquidity fund assets under With respect to any adviser, liquidity fund assets under management are the portion of such adviser's regulatory assets under management management that are attributable to liquidity funds it advises (including liquidity

funds that are also hedge funds).

An obligation of a fund's investors to return all or any portion of a Limited partner clawback distribution made by the fund to satisfy a liability, obligation, or expense of the fund pursuant to the fund's governing agreements.

> Direct beneficial ownership of equities, including preferred equities, listed on a regulated exchange.

> > <u>Do not</u> include synthetic or derivative exposures to equities. *ETFs* should be categorized based on the assets that the fund holds and should only be included in listed equities if the fund holds listed equities (e.g., a commodities ETF should be categorized based on the

commodities it holds).

	ossary of				Page	

Listed equity derivatives	All synthetic or derivative exposures to equities, including preferred equities, listed on a regulated exchange.	
	Include single stock futures, equity index futures, dividend swaps, total return swaps (contracts for difference), warrants and rights.	
LV	Value of long positions, measured as specified in Instruction 15.	
Master fund	See master-feeder arrangement.	
Master-feeder arrangement	An arrangement in which one or more funds ("feeder funds") invest all or substantially all of their assets in a single private fund ("master fund"). A fund would also be a feeder fund investing in a master fund for purposes of this definition if it issued multiple classes (or series) of shares or interests and each class (or series) invests substantially all of its assets in a single master fund.	
Maturity	The maturity of the relevant asset, determined without reference to the maturity shortening provisions contained in paragraph (i) of $rule\ 2a$ - $7$ regarding interest rate readjustments.	
MBS	Mortgage backed securities, including residential, commercial and agency.	
	$\underline{\text{Do not}}$ include any positions held via $CDS$ (these should be recorded in the $CDS$ category).	
Money market fund	Has the meaning provided in rule 2a-7.	
Most recent net asset value	The net asset value reported as of the data reporting date at the end of the reporting fund's most recent reporting period.	
NAICS code	With respect to any company, the six-digit North American Industry Classification System code that best describes the company's primary business activity and principal source of revenue. If the company reports a business activity code to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, you may rely on that code for this purpose.	
Natural gas	For questions regarding natural gas derivatives, provide the <i>value</i> of all exposure to natural gas that you do not hold physically, whether held synthetically or through derivatives (whether cash or physically settled).	
Net assets under management	Net assets under management are your regulatory assets under management minus any outstanding indebtedness or other accrued but unpaid liabilities.	
Net asset value or	With respect to any reporting fund, the gross assets reported in	
NAV	response to Question 8 minus any outstanding indebtedness or other	

accrued but unpaid liabilities.

The National Futures Association.

NAV

NFA

Action of the artificial in a contribution of a transport of the action	
Non-investment grade	A security is non-investment grade if it is not an investment grade

Any of the following: (i) a financial institution chartered outside the Non-U.S. financial institution United States; (ii) a financial institution that is separately incorporated or otherwise organized outside the United States but has a parent that is a financial institution chartered in the United States; or (iii) a

branch or agency that resides in the United States but has a parent that is a financial institution chartered outside the United States.

Page 9

Operations event Means for purposes of sections 5 that the reporting fund or adviser

experiences a significant disruption or degradation of the reporting fund's key operations, whether as a result of an event at a service provider to the reporting fund, the reporting fund, or the adviser.

OTC With respect to any instrument, the trading of that instrument over the

Form PF: Glossary of Terms

Other ABS ABS products that are not covered by another sub-asset class.

Do not include any positions held via CDS (these should be recorded

in the CDS category).

Other commodities Commodities other than crude oil, natural gas, gold and power. All

types of oil and energy products (aside from crude oil and natural gas), including (but not limited to) ethanol, heating oil propane and

gasoline, should be included in this category.

For questions regarding other commodity derivatives, provide the value of all exposure to other commodities that you do not hold physically, whether held synthetically or through derivatives

(whether cash or physically settled).

Other derivatives Any derivative not included in another sub-asset class.

Other loans All loans other than leveraged loans. Other loans includes (but is not

limited to) bilateral or syndicated loans to corporate entities. <u>Do not</u> include any positions held via *LCDS* (these should be recorded in the CDS category) or certificates of deposit.

Other private fund Any private fund that is not a hedge fund, liquidity fund, private equity

fund, real estate fund, securitized asset fund or venture capital fund.

Other structured products Any structured products not included in another sub-asset class.

Do not include any positions held via CDS (these should be recorded

in the CDS category).

Parallel fund See parallel fund structure.

Parallel fund structure A structure in which one or more private funds (each, a "parallel fund")

pursues substantially the same investment objective and strategy and

Page 10

invests side by side in substantially the same positions as another private fund.

Parallel managed account

With respect to any private fund, a parallel managed account is any managed account or other pool of assets that you advise and that pursues substantially the same investment objective and strategy and invests side by side in substantially the same positions as the identified private fund.

Performance-based Compensation Allocations, payments, or distributions of capital based on the reporting fund's (or any of its portfolio investment's) capital gains and/or capital appreciation.

Person Has the meaning provided in Form ADV.

Portfolio investments Any entity or issuer in which the reporting fund has directly or

indirectly invested.

For questions regarding power derivatives, provide the *value* of all exposure to power that you do not hold physically, whether held synthetically or through derivatives (whether cash or physically

settled).

Principal office and place

of business

Power

Has the meaning provided in Form ADV.

Private equity fund Any private fund that is not a hedge fund, liquidity fund, real estate fund, securitized asset fund or venture capital fund and does not

provide investors with redemption rights in the ordinary course.

Private equity fund assets under management

With respect to any adviser, private equity fund assets under management are the portion of such adviser's regulatory assets under management that are attributable to private equity funds it advises.

Private fund Any issuer that would be an investment company as defined in section 3 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 but for section

3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of that Act.

If any private fund has issued two or more series (or classes) of equity interests whose values are determined with respect to separate portfolios of securities and other assets, then each such series (or class) should be regarded as a separate private fund. This only applies with respect to series (or classes) that you manage as if they were separate funds and not a fund's side pockets or similar

arrangements.

Private fund adviser Any investment adviser that (i) is registered or required to register

with the SEC (including any investment adviser that is also registered or required to register with the CFTC as a CPO or CTA) and (ii)

advises one or more private funds.

Rule 2a-7

Form PF: Glossary of Term	s Page 11
Private fund assets under management	With respect to any adviser, private fund assets under management are the portion of such adviser's regulatory assets under management that are attributable to private funds it advises.
Qualifying hedge fund	Any hedge fund that has a net asset value (individually or in combination with any feeder funds, parallel funds and/or dependent parallel managed accounts) of at least \$500 million as of the last day of any month in the fiscal quarter immediately preceding your most recently completed fiscal quarter.
Quarterly update	An update of this Form PF with respect to any fiscal quarter.
Real estate fund	Any private fund that is not a hedge fund, that does not provide investors with redemption rights in the ordinary course and that invests primarily in real estate and real estate related assets.
Regulatory assets under management	Regulatory assets under management, calculated in accordance with Part 1A, Instruction 5.b of <i>FormADV</i> .
Related person	Has the meaning provided in Form ADV.
Repo	Any purchase of securities coupled with an agreement to sell the same (or similar) securities at a later date at an agreed upon price.
	$\underline{\text{Do not}}$ include any positions held via $CDS$ (these should be recorded in the $CDS$ category).
Reporting event	Any event that triggers the requirement to complete and file a <i>current report</i> pursuant to the items in Sections 5 and 6 of Form PF.
Reporting period	With respect to an <i>annual update</i> , the twelve month period ending on the <i>data reporting date</i> .
	With respect to a <i>quarterly update</i> , the three month period ending on the <i>data reporting date</i> .
Reporting fund	A private fund as to which you must report information on Form PF.
	Typically, each private fund is a reporting fund. However, if you are reporting aggregate information for any master-feeder arrangement or parallel fund structure, only the master fund or the largest parallel fund in the structure (as applicable) should be identified as a reporting fund. See Instructions 3 and 5.
Reverse repo	Any sale of securities coupled with an agreement to repurchase the same (or similar) securities at a later date at an agreed upon price.
Risk limiting conditions	The conditions specified in paragraphs (d) of rule 2a-7.

Rule 2a-7 promulgated by the SEC under the Investment Company

Act of 1940.

Page 12

SEC U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Obligations for borrowed money in respect of which the borrower has Secured borrowing

posted collateral or other credit support. For purposes of this

definition, reverse repos are secured borrowings.

Securities lending

collateral

Cash pledged to the reporting fund's beneficial owners as collateral in

respect of securities lending arrangements.

Securitized asset fund

Any private fund whose primary purpose is to issue asset backed securities and whose investors are primarily debt-holders.

Separately operated

For purposes of this Form, a related person is separately operated if you are not required to complete Section 7.A. of Schedule D to Form

ADV with respect to that related person.

7-day gross yield

Based on the 7 days ended on the data reporting date, calculate the liquidity fund's yield by determining the net change, exclusive of capital changes and income other than investment income, in the value of a hypothetical pre-existing account having a balance of one share at the beginning of the period and dividing the difference by the value of the account at the beginning of the base period to obtain the base period return, and then multiplying the base period return by (365/7) with the resulting yield figure carried to the nearest hundredth of one percent. The 7-day gross yield should not reflect a deduction of shareholders fees and fund operating expenses.

Significant disruption or

degradation

For purposes of Section 5, in instances where the reporting fund's key operations are reasonably measurable, this means a 20% disruption or degradation of normal volume or capacity.

Single name CDS

CDSs referencing a single entity.

Sovereign bonds

Any notes, bonds and debentures issued by a national government (including central governments, other governments and central banks but excluding U.S. state and local governments), whether

denominated in a local or foreign currency.

Include bond derivatives, but do not include any positions held via CDS (these should be recorded in the CDS category).

Structured products

Pre-packaged investment products, typically based on derivatives and

including structured notes.

Sub-asset class Each sub-asset class identified in Questions 26 and 30.

SV

Value of short positions, measured as specified in Instruction 15.

Unlisted equity

Direct beneficial ownership of equities, including preferred equities,

that are not listed on a regulated exchange.

Do not include synthetic or derivative exposures to equities.

Page 13

U.S. financial institution

Any of the following: (i) a financial institution chartered in the United States (whether federally-chartered or state-chartered); (ii) a financial institution that is separately incorporated or otherwise organized in the United States but has a parent that is a financial institution chartered outside the United States; or (iii) a branch or agency that resides outside the United States but has a parent that is a financial institution chartered in the United States.

U.S. depository institution

Any U.S. domiciled depository institution, including any of the following: (i) a depository institution chartered in the United States, including any federally-chartered or state-chartered bank, savings bank, cooperative bank, savings and loan association, or an international banking facility established by a depositary institution chartered in the United States; (ii) banking offices established in the United States by a financial institution that is not organized or chartered in the United States, including a branch or agency located in the United States and engaged in banking not incorporated separately from its financial institution parent, United States subsidiaries established to engage in international business, and international banking facilities; (iii) any bank chartered in any of the following United States affiliated areas: U.S. territories of American Samoa, Guam, and the U.S. Virgin Islands; the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands; the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico; the Republic of the Marshall Islands; the Federated States of Micronesia; and the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands (Palau); or (iv) a credit union (including a natural person or corporate credit union).

U.S. treasury securities

Direct obligations of the U.S. Government. Include *U.S. treasury* security derivatives.

Unencumbered cash

The fund's cash and cash equivalents <u>plus</u> the value of overnight repos used for liquidity management where the assets purchased are *U.S. treasury securities* or agency securities <u>minus</u> the sum of the following (without duplication): (i) cash and cash equivalents transferred to a collateral taker pursuant to a title transfer arrangement; and (ii) cash and cash equivalents subject to a security interest, lien or other encumbrance (this could include cash and cash equivalents in an account subject to a control agreement).

Unfunded commitments

Committed capital that has not yet been contributed to the private equity fund by investors.

United States person

Has the meaning provided in rule 203(m)-1 under the Advisers Act, which includes any natural person that is resident in the United

Unsecured borrowing

Obligations for borrowed money in respect of which the borrower has not posted collateral or other credit support.

Value See Instruction 15.

Form PF: Glossary of Terms	Page 14

VaR For a given portfolio, the loss over a target horizon that will not be

exceeded at some specified confidence level.

Venture capital fund Any private fund meeting the definition of venture capital fund in rule

203(1)-1 of the Advisers Act.

WAL Weighted average portfolio life of a liquidity fund calculated taking

into account the maturity shortening provisions contained in paragraph (i) of *rule 2a-7*, but determined without reference to the exceptions in paragraph (i) of *rule 2a-7* regarding interest rate readjustments with the dollar-weighted average based on the percentage of each security's market value in the portfolio.

WAM Weighted average portfolio maturity of a liquidity fund calculated

taking into account the maturity shortening provisions contained in paragraph (i) of *rule 2a-7* with the dollar-weighted average based on the percentage of each security's market value in the portfolio.

Weekly liquid assets Has the meaning provided in rule 2a-7. Include daily liquid assets.

As a result, the value of weekly liquid assets should equal or exceed

the value of daily liquid assets.

[FR Doc. 2022–01976 Filed 2–16–22; 8:45 am]

BILLING CODE 8011-01-C